The University of Southern Mississippi The Aquila Digital Community

**Dissertations** 

Spring 5-11-2023

# THE SPEECH-LANGUAGE PATHOLOGIST & EMOTIONAL LABOR, STRESS, AND COMPASSION FATIGUE

Patricia Martin

Follow this and additional works at: https://aquila.usm.edu/dissertations

Part of the Educational Assessment, Evaluation, and Research Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Martin, Patricia, "THE SPEECH-LANGUAGE PATHOLOGIST & EMOTIONAL LABOR, STRESS, AND COMPASSION FATIGUE" (2023). *Dissertations*. 2094. https://aquila.usm.edu/dissertations/2094

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by The Aquila Digital Community. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of The Aquila Digital Community. For more information, please contact aquilastaff@usm.edu.

# THE SPEECH-LANGUAGE PATHOLOGIST & EMOTIONAL LABOR, STRESS, AND COMPASSION FATIGUE

by

Patricia Renee Martin

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate School, the College of Education and Human Sciences at The University of Southern Mississippi in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Approved by:

Dr. Kyna Shelley, Committee Chair Dr. Thomas Lipscomb Dr. Thomas O'Brien Dr. Peter Paprzycki

### COPYRIGHT BY

Patricia Renee Martin

2023

Published by the Graduate School



#### ABSTRACT

Employees in service professions often utilize emotional labor strategies. The purpose of this quantitative study was to evaluate speech-language pathologists' (SLPs) experiences regarding emotional labor and the extent to which emotional labor is possibly related to job stress, compassion satisfaction, and compassion fatigue. This study also considered the SLPs' occupational settings in relationship to emotional labor.

A pilot study was conducted and minor revisions were made to the instrument prior to the final study. The researcher collected and analyzed data using an online survey comprised of three validated instruments, ELS, SLPSI, and ProQOL-5. The participants were 270 certified speech-language pathologists across 45 states within the United States. This investigation revealed that speech-language pathologists used genuine emotions more often than surface acting or deep acting when interacting with their clients/students. However, there was no notable difference between the three emotional labor strategies used across occupational settings. The results from a Pearson correlation revealed a statistically, strong positive correlation between the use of genuine emotion and compassion satisfaction and a significant, moderate negative correlation between genuine emotion and compassion fatigue. Though compassion fatigue was relatively low in this sample of SLPs, they did report a moderately noticeable impact of stress primarily due to time and workload management which was predominantly manifested through emotional fatigue. These results are relevant to the field of speech-language pathology as they support the need for further research in these areas of concern, leading to the development of policies and procedures that may help to reduce stress and further increase the use of positive aspects of emotional labor.

ii

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I thank my Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ, for never leaving my side. His Word often reminded me to "Be anxious for nothing, but in every thing by prayer and supplication with thanksgiving let your requests be made known unto God. And the peace of God, which surpasses all understanding, shall keep your hearts and minds through Christ Jesus." Phil 4:6-7. Also, I acknowledge and thank my special church family for their prayers and words of encouragement at times when I needed it most.

My heartfelt gratitude is extended to Dr. Kyna Shelley, the chairperson of my dissertation committee. I deeply appreciate the many hours she spent teaching me, encouraging me, gently pushing me, and reviewing my work. Her sincere concern and advice from the first meeting to the final reading provided the guidance I needed to make it through this entire process. I acknowledge and thank my committee members, Dr. Thomas Lipscomb, Dr. Thomas O'Brien, and Dr. Peter Paprzycki for their time, interest, and expert advice which helped me to grow as a researcher. The faculty and staff in the R.E.S.A. program provided me with a solid educational foundation through their instruction throughout my graduate education at the University of Southern Mississippi. I thank my editor, and son, Jacob Martin, who spent hours reading my work and teaching me to be a better writer.

I offer my earnest appreciation to Dr. Maureen Martin who saw potential in me and first encouraged me to seek a PhD. Also, I deeply appreciate Dr. Missy Schraeder and the staff at the USM DuBard School for Language Disorders for their unwavering love and support. My deepest appreciation and thanks are extended to my special friends, Denise Dickson, and Dr. Kerri Fontenot Liuzza, who answered every call and text and always gave me hope.

#### DEDICATION

To my husband and best friend, Johnny Martin, for your love, devotion, support, and never-ending belief in me. Your steady encouragement gave me the strength to see this entire process through. You made sure that I had dedicated time to do whatever needed to be done at the time. You complete me and I love you more than words can express.

To my children, Nikki and Jacob, and my daughter-in-law, Haley, for believing in me and making me feel that anything is possible. I love you from the bottom of my heart.

To my grandchildren, Jay, Shay, Mary, Quinn, and John for loving me unconditionally. I will always believe in you and your ability to change the world. I love you so much.

In loving memory of my aunt and uncle, J.W. and Ethel Rochelle, who loved me first and raised me to believe that I could do anything. I am forever grateful for their sacrifice.

ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTSiii
DEDICATIONv
LIST OF TABLES xi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS xii
CHAPTER I – INTRODUCTION 1
Job Performance
Emotional Labor
Service Professions
Speech-Language Pathology4
Job Satisfaction
Compassion Fatigue
Burnout and Secondary Traumatic Stress
Conclusion
Statement of the Problem
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions
Justification for the Study 12
Theoretical Framework

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Consequences
Occupational Stress
Compassion Satisfaction 60
Compassion Fatigue 62
Burnout
Secondary Traumatic Stress 64
Compassion Fatigue vs Burnout65
Past and Current Theories/Research on Related Professional Fields
Definition and Theories Behind Display Rules68
Display Rules and Service Professions71
Emotional Labor and Service-Related Professions71
Speech-Language Pathologists73
Educational Setting75
Health Care Setting76
Display Rules for SLPs77
SLP Compassion Satisfaction
SLP Compassion Fatigue
Quality of Services Rendered
Summary
CHAPTER III – METHOD

Research Questions	88
Participants	
Instruments	
Emotional Labor Scale	
Speech-Language Pathologist Stress Index	
Professional Quality of Life 5th Version (ProQOL 5)	
Research Design	100
Procedures	101
Data Analysis	
CHAPTER IV – RESULTS	106
Pilot Study	
Revisions Made to Questionnaire Based on the Pilot Study	108
Statistical Analyses of the Instruments Used in Survey	109
Final Study	
Data Screening	
Demographics	
Instrument Descriptives	
Emotional Labor Scale (ELS)	115
Speech-Language Pathologist Stress Inventory (SLPSI)	
The Professional Quality of Life Scale (ProQOL) Version 5	

Results for Research Question 1	119
Results for Research Question 2	121
Results for Research Question 3	121
Results for Research Question 4	123
CHAPTER V – DISCUSSION	130
Pilot Study	130
Participants/Demographics	131
Research Question 1	131
Research Question 2	132
Research Question 3	133
Research Question 4	135
Summary of Findings	136
Implications of the Study	136
Limitations and Suggestions for Future Research	139
APPENDIX A - IRB Approval Letter	141
APPENDIX B – Permission to Use Emotional Labor Scale	142
APPENDIX C – Permission to Use Speech-Language Pathologist Stress Index	143
APPENDIX D – Permission to Use Professional Quality of Life Scale-5 Ed	144
APPENDIX E – Instrument	145
REFERENCES	155

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Reliability Statistics for Emotional Labor Scale	109
Table 2 Reliability Statistics for Speech-Language Pathologist Stress Inventory (Stress Stress Inventory)	SLPSI)
	110
Table 3 Reliability Statistics for Professional Quality of Life Scale (ProQOL)	112
Table 4 Occupational Settings	115
Table 5 SLPSI Stress Subtests Correlations	118
<b>Table 6</b> Statistics for Emotional Labor Variables	120
Table 7 Descriptive Statistics	122
Table 8 Correlations	123
Table 9 Occupational Settings	124
Table 10 Box's Test of Equality of Covariance Matrices	126
Table 11 Descriptive Statistics for Emotional Labor and Occupational Settings	127
Table 12 Descriptive Statistics for Dependent Variable and Occupational Settings	s 128
Table 13 Multivariate Tests <sup>a</sup>	129
Table 14 ProQOL-5 Interpretation Scale	134

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ASHA	American Speech-Language Hearing
	Association
BO	Burnout
COR	Conservation of Resources
DA	Deep Acting
DEELS	Discrete Emotions Emotional Labor Scale
ELS	Emotional Labor Scale
GA	Genuine Acting
GE	Genuine Emotions
ProQOL-5	Professional Quality of Life Scale-5th Ed.
PTSD	Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
SA	Surface Acting
SLP	Speech-Language Pathologist
SLPSI	Speech-Language Pathologist Stress Index
STS	Secondary Traumatic Stress

#### CHAPTER I – INTRODUCTION

"Now hiring people with simulated emotions!"

"Wanted: Workers who laugh and obey company rules!"

The healthcare profession was the largest employment industry in 2019, employing 361,000 employees, yet it is unlikely that any of the posted job listings included "must be willing to perform emotional labor" as one of the requirements for employment (Current Employment Statistics [CES], 2020). Emotional labor, employees' internal and external emotive management at work, is critical for the employees and the organizations (Grandey et al., 2013, Hochschild, 1983, 2003), but can be difficult to measure. The growing demand of observable work skills in professions has resulted in the near absence of emotional labor skills from job descriptions, performance reviews, and reward systems (Guy et al., 2008). Professionals involved in the hiring process are usually well-trained regarding which questions can and cannot be asked during interviews. Falcone (2009) wrote 96 Great Interview Questions and none of the questions are worded explicitly to ask potential employees about their willingness to perform work that fits under the rubric of emotional labor to benefit the organization. However, the requirement of emotional labor is neither hidden nor ignored by organizations, and employees are often aware of their obligation to perform such work in specific job positions. This work is governed by the employers' specific requirements or norms referred to as "display rules" (Wharton, 2009). Indeed, some organizations write or imply guidelines for emotional labor in their display rules, either formally or informally, and many employees—as evidenced by their actions—have been found to be able to perceive these norms (Grandey, 2000; Hochschild, 1983, 2003; Morris & Feldman, 1996). Yet

1

these rules and guidelines are rarely cited within or as part of an employee's performance review.

#### Job Performance

Positive job performance—measured by observable work skills and selfsatisfaction scales—are typically used to align the employee and the organization to meet goals, and in some cases, increase profits. Kalleberg (1977) described an employee's work as valuable skills that can lead to job satisfaction. Also, organizations that include employees in the processes of setting their goals and making decisions can help to drive the organizations' purpose (Berghoff & Kelley, 2019). However, the perfect situation between employee and employer regarding the organization's display rules is hard to obtain. Employers, society, and culture design the display rules (norms), which, in turn, govern which emotions are acceptable and which are not acceptable in the workplace (Sutton & Rafaeli, 1988; Wharton, 1993, 2009). Therein lies a precondition for employees to perform emotional labor.

#### Emotional Labor

Emotional labor is the act of managing, or attempting to manage, internal emotions and producing external expressions of those emotions to match cultural norms, organizational rules, expectations of others, and job demands (Grandey, 2000; Hochschild, 1979, 2003). Emotional labor is typically described by two core processes: surface acting (SA), which considers a person's inhibitions and acting out, hiding, or faking of emotions; and deep acting (DA), which may be closely related to a person's real emotions or the emotions that they have been taught to be appropriate as related to specific situations and job demands (Hochschild, 1979, 2003). Surface acting is expressed through verbal and nonverbal cues, such as smiling, gesturing, and using a calm or polite tone of voice when speaking to others (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993; Hochschild, 1979, 2003), yet the person does not feel the emotion inwardly that is portrayed outwardly. Maxwell and Riley (2017) associate surface acting with negative outcomes such as job burnout, declining job satisfaction, mental challenges, and physical health problems. They also have associated the expression of deep acting emotions with more positive outcomes such as increased job performance, a willingness to support and serve others, and a positive self-view especially for those who are in control of their emotional management (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993; Guy et al., 2008; Maxwell & Riley, 2017; Pugliesi, 1999).

#### Service Professions

Service-related professions are those professions that involve working directly with people who have specific needs. The people who hold these positions help to address others' physical, emotional, psychological, intellectual, and educational needs. Oftentimes, the professional is addressing a combination of these needs. Those who typically hold such positions include, but are not limited to: physicians, nurses, nurse practitioners, counselors, psychologists, social workers, teachers, administrators, pastoral care providers, law enforcement, firefighters, public health providers, store managers, clerks, sales persons, bank tellers, and therapists (occupational, physical, and speech language pathologists). Researchers who study emotional labor have focused on many of these professions, a list that includes bank tellers (Asumah, et al., 2019; Aziz, et al., 2019), customer service workers (Ishii & Markman, 2016; Sutton & Rafaeli, 1988) and allied health professionals (Grace & VanHeuvelen, 2019; Maura, et al., 2019) across

many countries. Some have studied them in both face-to-face and remote (phone) interaction (Ishii & Markman, 2016; Sutton & Rafaeli, 1988). The most common professions that have been studied are those within the medical and public relations sectors. Yet, despite the many studies conducted, the emotional labor research has overlooked those professionals in speech-language pathology.

#### Speech-Language Pathology

Even before speech-language pathology was formally declared a profession in 1925 by a small special interest group, there were medical professionals, educators, and elocutionists who felt it was important to help people with speech problems (Duchan, 2002). Though the profession of speech-language pathology encompasses more than merely helping people speak clearly, its goal to help people communicate effectively still endures.

Speech-language pathologists (SLPs) diagnose and treat speech disorders such as apraxia and articulation errors, oral and written language disorders, swallowing disorders, pragmatic language and processing disorders, voice disorders, and fluency disorders (American Speech-Language-Hearing Association [ASHA] website, 2019). In addition, SLPs collect data, administer speech-language tests, develop educational or treatment plans, and provide trainings to staff and families (ASHA website, 2019).

SLPs have reported emotional stress due to typically working with those who have disabilities as part of the nature of the profession (Maxwell & Riley, 2017; Oh, 2019). For the SLPs to effectively meet social expectations and the demands of their positions, they must manage their own internal emotions and appropriately display external expressions to match specific situations such as talking with an angry administrator or explaining a lifelong disorder of a child to a worried parent (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993; Maxwell & Riley, 2017). SLPs may learn to perform *emotional labor* to accomplish these challenging but expected tasks (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993; Hochschild, 1979, 2003; Maxwell & Riley, 2017).

#### Job Satisfaction

Admittedly, emotional labor can be taxing and yet it can be uniquely satisfying to the employee. This is related, possibly, to the belief that compassion for humanity guides service workers to help others and is an essential element in workers' direct service to others (Radey & Figley, 2007). Therefore, the deep-seeded compassion of the worker drives him/her to do their job well which leads to satisfaction. Social scientists, psychologists, and economists have widely researched job satisfaction and have correlated it with internal and external factors such as motivation, productivity, higher qualities of physical and mental health, positive work values, lower rates of absenteeism, higher rates of presenteeism, and loyalty (Blood et al., 2002; Kalleberg, 1977; Karanika-Murray et al., 2015; Ogungbamila, 2018; Ting Wu et al., 2019). These factors are closely related to the ones Radley and Figley (2007) noted for compassion satisfaction: affect, work resources, and self-care. Historically, explanations of job satisfaction have included personality variables, attitudes and perceptions workers hold regarding work, and behavioral patterns people have established in their jobs. However, none of these explanations alone can fully describe the constructs of compassion satisfaction nor job satisfaction (Kalleberg, 1977; Radey & Figley, 2007). Instead, it is only through unique combinations of these and other variables that researchers might obtain data to predict the factors that contribute to these concepts (Edgar & Rosa-Lugo, 2007; Kalkhoff & Collins, 2012; Kalleberg, 1977).

Establishing rapport with customers, clients, families, and co-workers opens an avenue for employees to communicate effectively and meet the needs of their clientele. However, this does not usually happen quickly. It may take time and effort which includes listening, watching, showing interest, and respect to build strong professional relationships (Brehm, 2008). Brehm reminds her readers that communication occurs in words *and* actions, including facial expression and body language. Eye contact, smiles, and professional attire all aid in establishing strong rapport (Brehm, 2008). Brehm asserts that clients can tell when these actions from the professional are not sincere; therefore, avoiding surface acting and employing deep acting may aid in establishing rapport.

#### Compassion Fatigue

Yet, this emotional labor exhibited by the employee over-and-over can be hard to sustain; hearts *give out* to fatigue (Radey & Figley, 2007). In 1995, Figley introduced the notion of *compassion fatigue* and identified it with exposure to clients' suffering, noting that it can become debilitating for service workers. Four key concepts seem to be part of the cause of compassion fatigue: poor self-care, previous unresolved trauma, inability to control work stressors, and lack of satisfaction for the work (Figley, 1995a). According to Figley (1995), employees who present with the signs of compassion fatigue are more susceptible to burnout.

*Burnout and Secondary Traumatic Stress.* de Beer et al. (2016) and Ogungbamila (2018) defined job burnout as the inability to keep up with the demands of a job because of the feeling of total mental, physical, and emotional exhaustion. Burnout encompasses

the employees' emotions, cynicism, and professional efficacy (Maura et al., 2019), and the number of hours an employee has worked may impact burnout (Afonso et al., 2017; Dembe & Yao, 2016; Morken et al., 2019). Working between 40 and 59 hours per week may cause work-life imbalance and worsen mental and physical health (Kleiner & Pavalko, 2010). In addition, the demands placed upon employees such as workload and positional hierarchy regarding decision-making have been associated with job burnout (Brough & Biggs, 2015). Job burnout may slowly progress over time because of the interactions of many variables or it may happen quickly. A single traumatic encounter with a client, such a client's severe illness or death, may cause an employee to experience adverse mental and physical effects (Ashforth & Lee, 1997; Ogungbamila, 2018; Ravi et al., 2016).

However, the stressful encounter does not have to be direct, it may be indirect. Figley (1995a) looked at compassion fatigue as a secondary traumatic stress disorder. Secondary traumatic stress (STS) occurs when professionals lose their sense of self to the clients whom they serve (Figley, 1995a). The therapists are entangled in the clients' stressful situation. This typically happens in such cases of therapists who work with rape victims, emergency personnel who work with trauma victims, and lawyers who work with criminals or victims of crime. But the list does not stop there as it has been seen in many who work and live with those directly dealing with trauma or distress such as researchers, teachers, children, and parents (Figley, 1995a).

Remaining mentally and physically healthy while working has proven challenging for many employees. Exposure to adverse internal and external work conditions can negatively contribute to their health or their illnesses (Besse et al., 2015; Page Deutsch, 2017; Piotrowski, 2012). Page Deursch (2017) and Piotrowski (2012) note that weak leadership, poor teamwork, questionable ethics, downsizing, workaholism, and inadequate resources reflect an unhealthy work environment. In contrast, teamwork, collaboration, respect, support from leadership, and positive attitude toward work are a few characteristics of a healthy work environment (Page Deutsch, 2017; Piotrowski, 2012).

#### Conclusion

Compassion satisfaction, job satisfaction, and compassion fatigue—including burnout and secondary traumatic stress—are closely related, and the variables that govern them often interact. After all, what may make one employee satisfied with the job could lead another employee to experience the effects of fatigue and burnout (Fabian & Breunig, 2019; Kalkhoff & Collins, 2012). Researchers have conducted numerous studies using participants from the helping professions, including physicians, nurses, teachers, clergy, and therapists to examine the variables that contribute to job satisfaction and job burnout (Creager et al., 2019; Grace & VanHeuvelen, 2019; Spratt et al., 2006). Yet, the research data pertaining to how these negative experiences from the service providers influence the quality of the services provided are much more limited.

Possibly, the data about the influence of adverse job experiences on the quality of services rendered are limited because the quality of service/care can be a hard construct to measure and the validity of this data has been debated (Smith & Smith, 2018). Service quality is multifaceted and often requires governing bodies from specific disciplines to define indicators of quality within their respective professions. Governing entities develop guidelines, criteria, policies, and procedures for their employees to ensure that

8

the recipients of the service (e.g., customers, clients, patients) have been provided a service of high quality (ASHA, 2005; Biancone et al., 2014; King, 2012; Smith & Smith, 2018). These external indicators of quality assurance closely follow organizational structure, and quality improvement is internally motivated by the employees' own standards and search for quality (Frattali, 1991). As the employees strive to provide high-quality service demanded by their professional organizations they, as a result, may struggle internally with their own emotions especially if these emotions conflict with the organizations' required emotions leading to a state of emotional dissonance (Abraham, 1998; Hochschild, 1983, 2003; Morris & Feldman, 1996).

Employment is a practical component of peoples' lives because it provides income, stability, and a sense of coherence (Antonovsky, 1987; Maura et al., 2019); however, for some employees their employment may be thought of as more of a 'calling' rather than a job (Fabian & Breunig, 2019; Page Deutsch, 2017). These callings may lead employees to experience emotional dissonance indicating that a gap exists between the ideals and the realities of the job demands placed upon them (Page Deutsch, 2017). Employees experiencing the effects of emotional dissonance may feel a sense of inauthenticity or hypocrisy which may in turn lead to poor self-esteem, depression, cynicism, alienation, and physical illnesses (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993; Hopp et al., 2010).

Some professions may be particularly vulnerable to emotional dissonance such as the healing professions which include physicians, nurse practitioners, therapists, nurses etc. (Grace & VanHeuvelen, 2019; Lahelma et al., 2008; Milstein et al., 2002). Similarly, the service professions such as teachers, counselors, social workers, and speech-language pathologists may experience emotional dissonance (Besse et al., 2015; Maura et al., 2019; Oh, 2019; Spratt et al., 2006).

#### Statement of the Problem

The research on health professionals suggests that many variables influence stress, compassion satisfaction, and compassion fatigue—burnout and secondary traumatic stress—(Dasan et al., 2015; Hinderer et al., 2014; Klein et al., 2018; Stamm 1995; Ting Wu et al., 2019). These variables include, but are not limited to, job performance and skill level, job satisfaction, and ability to perform multiple types of emotional labor. The vast amount of research on job burnout included reports of the effects of physical and mental well-being of the employees (Afonso et al., 2017; Ashforth & Lee, 1997; Brotheridge & Grandey, 2002; Chang, 2009; Clifford, 2014; de Beer et al., 2016; Freudenberger, 1974; Goh et al., 2015; Harding et al., 2019; Marante & Farquharson, 2021; and Maura et al., 2019).

There was a limited amount of research studies found that connected speechlanguage pathologists' mental health and well-being to their reports of job burnout. And there is even less research on SLP compassion fatigue. These studies typically related to specific job demands that the SLPs reported having experienced (e.g., number of hours required to work, size of their caseload, and expectations of their employers). Only one closely related research article has associated teachers' well-being and depressive symptoms with students' well-being and psychological distress; the authors of this research note that they had not found other research specifically relating the two and reported the need for more data in this area (Harding et al., 2019). A detailed search of the literature reveals Harding et al. are correct: Though an abundant amount of research was found that supported SLPs' experiences with job satisfaction and burnout (Amir et al., 2021; Blood et al., 2002; Caesar and Nelson, 2008; Harris et al., 2009; McNeilly, 2018; and Oh, 2019) there appears to be no research that connects the work of SLPs and professional emotional labor, despite evidence that emotional labor has been widely studied in other "service professions" and linked to the well-being of the employees working in these occupations. In addition, there was no research data that connects SLPs' well-being—which may be influenced by their experienced emotional labor—to the quality of service they provide.

#### Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this quantitative study was to evaluate speech-language pathologists' (SLPs) experiences regarding professional emotional labor and the extent to which emotional labor is possibly related to job stress, compassion satisfaction, and compassion fatigue (i.e., burnout and secondary traumatic stress). This study also considered the SLPs' occupational settings in relationship to emotional labor and the outcome variables of the study.

#### **Research Questions**

RQ1: Which strategy of emotional labor (Surface Acting, Deep Acting, GenuineEmotion) is most often utilized by speech-language pathologists?RQ2: What do SLPs identify as the primary sources and manifestations of occupationalstress within the profession of speech-language pathology?

RQ3: Does reported frequency of use of a specific Emotional Labor Strategy (Surface Acting, Deep Acting, or Genuine Emotions) correlate with reported experienced Compassion Satisfaction or Compassion Fatigue?

RQ4: Does the SLPs occupational setting make a difference in type of emotional labor strategy (Surface Acting, Deep Acting, Genuine Emotion) used?

#### Justification for the Study

Hochschild (1979) set a base marker in the emotional labor research when she coined the term "emotion work" and described it as the way people manage how they feel or try not to feel during specific interactions while at work. The outcomes propose to add to the widely researched connection of emotional labor and helping professions by introducing an additional professional environment, speech-language pathology. More specifically, this research aims to add to the limited data on emotional labor and SLPs by providing evidence as to whether SLPs experience emotional labor and if so, how the results of the emotional labor may affect their stress level, compassion satisfaction, and compassion fatigue. This research study could encourage further research regarding quality of services in the profession of speech-language pathology.

In addition, the outcomes of this study may increase SLPs' self-awareness regarding their therapeutic practices and their potential use of emotional labor strategies. This may include behaviors such as pretending to listen attentively to a student's speech errors while thinking about how long it will take to complete the required paperwork or showing emotions of calmness and gentleness to a client's family member who is reacting harshly to their billing statement because that is what the SLP's administrators expect in such situations. If SLPs are empowered by a better understanding of their

12

potential to "work" harder emotionally, they may be able to find new avenues to alleviate the potential negative effects of emotional labor such as burnout, absenteeism, and added stress. The result the SLPs' emotional changes could be valuable to their employers through higher rates of employee job satisfaction and an overall increase of professionalism that aligns with the organizations' values.

Also, if SLPs alter their emotions and create a better working environment for themselves, their students may benefit because they have full attention and true compassion from their therapists. The students may learn to express themselves more effectively verbally and non-verbally because they see their therapists expressing themselves genuinely. As the students gain better speech-language skills because the quality of therapy increases, they may be able to communicate with their families in more natural ways which could improve interactive family dynamics.

Ultimately, receiving quality services from SLPs who are not overly emotionally labored could impact the students by helping them become stronger members of society and by helping them to attain employment that otherwise may not have been attainable. The long-term benefits could potentially be far-reaching into the future for the research community, SLPs, employers, students, families, and communities.

#### Theoretical Framework

As the understanding of emotional labor has grown over the past 40 years, so has the development of multiple theoretical frameworks that surround emotional labor. However, the primary framework for this study is Arlie Hochschild's emotional labor theory (1983). Hochschild's theory is rooted in sociology and makes the distinction between "surface acting" and "deep acting." Hochschild builds the emotional labor theory upon earlier findings from Erving Goffman (symbolic interaction/dramaturgical analysis) and Sigmund Freud (emotion-management perspective). The many aspects of the emotional labor theory closely align with the research purpose and key research questions and variables identified in this study.

Due to the nature of this study, the foundational theoretical framework is expected to be strengthened to include additional theories as the various layers of the study are more deeply explored. Frederick Herzberg's Motivator-Hygiene Theory (also known as the Two-Factor Theory of Motivation) could aid this study in examining the relationships of SLPs to their coworkers and managers, the intrinsic and extrinsic elements that may cause SLPs to be satisfied with their work or dissatisfied with their work, and their subjective reports of control and resistance in the workplace. Similarly, Hobfoll's (1989) Conservation of Resources (COR) theory could aid this study in considering 'stress' as a measurable objective. Additionally, COR may aid in the consideration of the SLPs' possible benefits compared to their loss of resources because of the displays of specific emotional labor behaviors. Lastly, Grandey's (2000) emotional regulation theory as it relates to display rules may prove beneficial as a framework as related to the occupational settings of the SLPs.

#### CHAPTER II – LITERATURE REVIEW

#### Emotional Labor as Defined by Research

#### Key Terms/Operational Definitions

*Emotions*. In 1884, Professor William James asked, "What is an emotion?" Nearly a century later, Kleinginna and Kleinginna (1981) compiled over 100 definitions and statements from the literature of emotion. The *APA Dictionary of Psychology* has defined emotion. Cowie named it in 2005. Cowen and Keltner (2020) and Parrott (2007) categorized phenomena within it, and various sociologists, philosophers, psychologists, psychiatrists, biologist, and anthropologists have theorized about emotion (Cherry, 2020; Dixon, 2012; Fehr & Stern, 1970; Gillian Bendelow & Simon J Williams, 2005; Izard, 2009; Oatley et al., 2006; Pober, 2018). Yet, a widely accepted multidisciplinary definition does not exist (Izard, 2007; Scherer, 2005).

The efforts for multiple disciplines to agree on a definition have failed, in part, because of linguistic, cultural, and idiosyncratic differences regarding ongoing research findings and theories (Scherer, 2005). In addition, growing research in emotion, as it is related to work, has advanced methodology and narrowed research outcomes. These advances, in return, have resulted in the need for clarification among and distinctions between the many facets of emotion constructs (Ashkanasy et al., 2000; Izard, 2009).

This research focuses on emotion as it relates to mediating social interactions (Oatley et al., 2006) and more specifically work interactions (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1995; A. A. Grandey, 2000; Hochschild, 2003).

*Labor*. Merriam-Webster Dictionary (2020) defines *labor*, as it relates to employment, as the expenditure of physical or mental effort especially when difficult or

compulsory; the services are performed by workers for wages as distinguished from those rendered by entrepreneurs for profit. Amadeo (2020) added to that definition by including the social effort used to produce goods and services. Amadeo used the phrase *social effort* to mean service work—those who work to provide a service—such as custodial staff, electricians, or carpenters.

This research focuses on labor from the perspective of the employee who uses physical, mental, and social effort to provide a service for a wage.

*Emotional Labor*. Research on the construct of emotional labor has highly evolved over the past four decades. Researchers and theorists agree that an increased understanding of emotional labor is important; however, the fine distinctions between definitions and philosophies have caused inconsistency and confusion (Bono & Vey, 2005; Cropanzano et al., 2003; Grandey, 2000). Rubin et al. (2005) characterized the literature on emotional labor as being in a state of "theoretical disorientation" and the researchers themselves as in a "conceptual quandary." Though this literature review includes many legendary works and theories that differ from Rubin's theory, this study conceptualized emotional labor as the employees' behaviors displayed and managed in the workplace for the purpose of meeting employers' expectations (job demands) and obtaining personal gain, including wage. This working definition is reflected in the research questions since it emphasizes specific outcomes of performing emotional labor. *History of Emotional Labor and Prominent Definitions* 

Research on emotional labor in the workplace has evolved over the past several decades. It did not begin being directly correlated to employment, but instead was rooted in sociology. Erving Goffman, an American sociologist, discussed in detail how people

present themselves to one another in such a way as to convey an impression (Goffman, 1959; Newman & O'Brien, 2008). Goffman (1959) painted a vivid picture of what happens when people appear before others and how their often-dramatic actions define the social situation presented. Individuals typically care about how others perceive them; therefore, people are likely to act in such a way that makes others view them favorably (Goffman, 1959). For example, one may walk more upright when passing by other people, smile to indicate desire to socialize or join a specific group, and flavor one's conversation using kind words and flattery. These dramaturgic exchanges described by Goffman were not specific to work relations but were described in the context of most all social interactions, where outer appearance and perception were the focus. Hochschild (1979) gave credit to Goffman's ideology regarding the outer actions of people but felt that he neglected to address the inward emotions, feeling rules, and social structure as it related to those behaviors. Hochschild noted that fellow sociologists had reported how people feel and how people act; however, they failed to integrate the two concepts (Hochschild, 1975). Therefore, Hochschild (1975) thoroughly examined the data to develop her sociological theory, The Sociology of Feeling and Emotion. Hochschild (1979) wrote an essay arguing that emotions can be managed. This essay set in place the first building blocks for her theory. Hochschild's concept of managing one's emotions to remain "appropriate" according to societal rules began when she was a child and watched diplomats from around the world interact as she served them in her family's home (Hochschild, 1983, 2003). Hochschild recorded her memories of how her parents discussed the minute details of the diplomats' interactions with one another (i.e., smiles, glances, handshakes) after the meetings and wondered if she had helped serve *people* or

*actors* (Hochschild, 1983, 2003). Then later, as a graduate student, Hochschild (1979) began tracing the links between social structure, feeling rules, emotional management, and emotive experience.

Hochschild's continued interest in emotions quickly led her to apply her findings to the workplace setting. Hochschild studied Delta Airline flight attendants and determined that the emotional tasks that the attendants were asked to perform (i.e., present a positive body language such as smiles and laughs, be open to customers' requests, remain calm when faced with a possible disaster, not to drink when in uniform, and even keep personal finances in order) took "effort" to uphold (Hochschild, 1983, 2003). This foundational research regarding emotions in workplace settings ignited a spark of research interest that resulted in over 10,000 academic articles being written on emotional labor by 2013 (Grandey et al., 2013). That spark grew into a blazing academic fire. A simple Google search conducted in 2020 yielded results of over 170,000,000 articles and web pages that contained the term *emotional labor*. This exponential growth in the literature on emotional labor over the last four decades has broadened the scope of the views and incorporated meanings far beyond those reported in the foundational research. Surveying the increasing interest in the literature, Arlie Hochschild, original author of the term *emotional labor*, characterized emotional labor as an "evolving concept" that stemmed from the substantial increase in service work (Grandey et al., 2013, Foreword).

Researchers have given the term emotional labor similar definitions, yet each researcher has expanded the concept to include additional characteristics as new data have been collected and analyzed and as new ideas/theories emerged in the literature. Hochschild initially defined *emotional labor* as "the management of feeling to create a publicly observable facial and bodily display; emotional labor is sold for a wage and therefore has exchange value" (Hochschild, 1983, p. 7).

A few years later, Rafaeli and Sutton (1987) explained that by studying emotion only as "an intrapsychic outcome," the researcher failed to reveal the complexity of the role of emotional labor within service occupations. Various service positions have expectations of distinctive displays of emotions required to complete the job in an expected manner. For example, employees in customer service positions such as clerks, salespersons, flight attendants, etc., are expected to smile and "act" friendly as part of their work role, while other customer service positions such as bill collectors, funeral directors, coroners, prison wardens, etc., are expected to hold a more serious composure and "act" frank and even sad. Rafaeli and Sutton noted that researchers have studied employees' behaviors and determined which led to burnout and which led to job satisfaction. Yet, when closely evaluated, the behaviors exhibited were not always indicators of the employees' actual emotions at all, but rather were requirements of their work role (Rafaeli & Sutton, 1987).

Ashforth and Humphrey (1993) built upon Hochschild's work but took a more behavioral approach and included the display of expected emotions by workers during service encounters. These displays of emotional labor are ones that are socially desired or are deemed appropriate for specific work settings according to Ashforth and Humphrey. They formally defined *emotional labor* as "the act of displaying the appropriate emotion (i.e., conforming with a display rule)" (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993, p. 90). Noting that it was the compliance with display rules (i.e., societal, occupational, and organizational norms) that the recipients of the service can see, these researchers chose to focus on the observable behaviors of the workers rather than the emotions motivating their behaviors. Ashforth and Humphrey argued that workers may conform to display rules without having to manage their feelings as Hochschild (1983) had stated. In fact, Ashforth and Humphrey suggested that the employees' ability to conform to the employers' display rules may not inevitably require conscious effort but instead become part of their work routine and a positive source of effectiveness if the customers perceived the emotional expression as sincere and not fake. This approach is a benefit to researchers because observations of behavior is mostly objective. The disadvantage of Ashforth and Humphrey's approach is the lack of a theoretical link between emotional labor and possible outcomes such as stress, satisfaction, fatigue, and burnout which are more subjective measures (Bono & Vey, 2005).

In 1996, Morris and Feldman contributed to the emotional labor research by directing their focus to the organizational demands placed upon employees. Employees were expected to present themselves in ways that made the customers or consumers feel special so they would return to the business repeatedly. Morris and Feldman noted that the research, up until that time, had neglected to direct precise attention to how organizations attempted to control how their employees' displayed emotions toward the customer. These researchers defined *emotional labor* as "the effort, planning, and control needed to express organizationally desired emotion during interpersonal transactions" (Morris & Feldman, 1996, p. 987). This definition was consistent with Hochschild's (1983) work in that both found that the expression of emotion, which had once been determined by the employee, had become a marketplace commodity that could be bought

and sold by the employer making these controlled emotions part of the actual job requirement (Morris & Feldman, 1996). The difference in focus between Morris and Feldman's work and Hochschild's work was Morris and Feldman's identification of observable behaviors that are organizationally desired rather than the employees' subjective management of feeling. The work of Hochschild (1983), Ashforth and Humphrey (1993), and Morris and Feldman (1996) all acknowledged, however, that emotions can be modified and that the social setting determines when those modifications happen.

Morris and Feldman's (1996) observations led to the development of a complex conceptualization of emotional labor. Their approach emphasized that emotional labor is not a dichotomous variable as it includes intensity of emotional labor–not only whether an employee is performing it (Bono & Vey, 2005). They built a framework around four distinct dimensions: frequency of appropriate emotional display, attentiveness to required display rules, variety of emotions required to be displayed, and emotional dissonance produced (Morris & Feldman, 1996). In addition to the four dimensions, Morris and Feldman examined the antecedents and consequences of emotional labor to help future researchers "untangle" inconclusive research results and better understand the construct of emotional labor.

There are discrepancies in the literature regarding the consequences of employees performing emotional labor. Many researchers have valid documentation of the negative effects on employees who perform emotional labor such as emotional exhaustion/burnout (Kahn, 1993; Maslach, 2003), increased stress levels (Hochschild, 2003; Pugliesi, 1999), and emotional dissonance (Abraham, 1998; Hochschild, 2003; Rafaeli & Sutton, 1987).

In fact, the vast amount of emotional labor research focuses on these and other negative consequences; nonetheless, the consequences of emotional labor are not always negative. Positive consequences of performing emotional labor have been recorded in the literature especially employees with greater job autonomy (Adelmann, 1995; Morris & Feldman, 1996). Additional findings included those of researchers (Hochschild, 2003; Morris & Feldman, 1996) who observed a positive relationship between emotional labor and job satisfaction and findings from Ashforth and Humphrey (1993) who proposed that by performing emotional labor according to the organizations' expected display rules, employees can cognitively distance themselves from emotion and maintain objectivity and preserve impartiality. The ability to emotionally distance oneself from his or her work is essential for workers in fields such as healthcare, law enforcement, and psychiatry to maintain a sense of personal well-being (Adelmann, 1995; Carrasco et al., 2014; Cropanzano et al., 2003; Grandey & Sayre, 2019; Kumar et al., 2010).

In 1999, Pugliesi acknowledged the existence of a substantial body of empirical research surrounding emotional labor and its link to physical and mental health; however, she desired to explore these links at a deeper level than had previously been investigated in the literature. Pugliesi agreed with other researchers in the field regarding the belief that employees' emotional labor was subject to the control and supervision of their employers. This belief led her to define emotional labor as "the performance of various forms of emotion management in the context of paid employment" (Pugliesi, 1999, p. 126). Similar to Hochschild's (1983) definition of emotional labor, Pugliesi's notion of emotional labor only included that which is publicly observable. Pugliesi took the research a step farther and studied the independent effects of two types of emotion

management at work: self-focused and other-focused. Self-focused emotional management referred to those management strategies used to manage one's own feelings while interacting with clients, the public, and co-workers (e.g., mask or suppress a true feeling of agitation or anger and present with a friendly demeanor); other-focused emotional management referred to the management strategies used to manage others' feelings while at work (e.g., others' distress, enhance others' self-esteem, and mediate conflicts) whether the other persons are clients or co-workers (Pugliesi, 1999). Selffocused emotional management is similar to the self-management technique "surface acting" that Hochschild described in her book The Managed Heart (1983, 2003). Both self-focused emotional management and surface acting require the employee to disguise their real feelings in front of people and act like others would expect given a specific job description. Similarly, other-focused emotional management and surface acting both encompass the intent to use one's own actions to evoke a desired feeling from another. Pugliesi found that, though both self-focused and other-focused emotional labor resulted in negative effects for the employee, those performing self-focused emotional labor experienced more pervasive negative effects that were stronger in magnitude than did those who performed other-focused emotional labor. Pugliesi's expansion of the emotional labor research, which includes examining emotional labor aimed at coworkers-not only clients and customers-has helped future researchers by highlighting the multidimensionality of the construct that had previously been limited to the workers' interactions with customers and their determinations to manage their own emotions.

The rate of research on emotional labor greatly increased between 1995 and 2000. In 1995, approximately 540 articles had been written on the topic and by 2000 that number had grown to over 1750 articles (Grandey et al., 2013). However, even with the growth in the emotional labor research, there was not a predominant framework nor an agreed upon definition of the construct when Grandey and her colleagues began publishing work in the area. Grandey (2000) sought to change this reality by comparing the previously documented perspectives of emotional labor to provide a definition that encompassed these perspectives and a guiding theory that would enhance understanding of the construct. Grandey (2000) reminded her readers that, prior to the early 1990s, emotions as they pertained to organizational behavior had been disregarded because they did not belong in the workplace where sound judgment was the goal. However, this thought is no longer prevalent and models of how employees' various emotional interactions may impact their job performance have been developed (Arvey et al., 1998). These models include how organizations seek specific behaviors and emotions from their employees to maximize job fit (Barry et al., 2019; de Castro AB et al., 2004; Hülsheger & Schewe, 2011).

Grandey (2000) looked at the similarities between Hochschild's (1983), Ashforth and Humphrey's (1993), and Morris and Feldman's (1996) research and found the same underlying theme: Individuals can regulate the way they express their emotions while at work. Grandey (1999) defined *emotional labor* in her dissertation as "the employee's effort to regulate emotional expression in response to organizational demands." Shortly thereafter, Grandey refined the definition of *emotional labor* as "the process of regulating both feelings and expressions for the organizational goals" (Grandey, 2000, p. 97). Both definitions, whether the employee's effort or a process, considered the employees' ability to regulate their internal feelings (deep acting) and observable expressions (surface acting) and provided a useful way of operationalizing the emotional labor construct. Grandey's contributions to the research in emotional labor have acknowledged previous philosophies and brought new observations into the realm of what it means to exert emotional effort to conform to a job position. Grandey's hypotheses and findings surrounding deep acting and surface acting as they relate to employees' awareness of display rules, job satisfaction, emotional exhaustion, and affective delivery left an impact on the emotional labor research as evidenced by over 2400 citing references (Grandey, 2003). Grandey has taken interest in studying the many ways that emotional labor directly impacts the employees and this data has made it possible for future researchers to examine new but connected features of the paradigm.

Around the same time as Grandey began to publish articles related to emotional labor, Brotheridge (2001) began to study the effects of stress in the workplace and how coworker support, workload, and emotional exhaustion serve as direct deterrents of work. Brotheridge and Grandey joined together and provided research that gave insight into the emotional components of work that comprise burnout (Brotheridge & Grandey, 2002). Brotheridge and Grandey (2002) defined two types of emotional labor: job-focused and employee-focused. *Job-focused emotional labor* represented the level of emotional demands in an occupation including frequency of interactions and expectations of the job; *employee-focused emotional labor* represented the employees' process of managing emotions/expressions to meet the demands of the job (Brotheridge & Grandey, 2002). For example, employees with service work job titles (e.g., service, sales, caring professions) tend to have higher levels of burnout because of the amount of emotional labor expected and expended than do other employees (e.g., administrator, manager, physical laborer,

etc.). The employee-focused emotional labor is personal to the employee as he/she must perform surface acting to meet the requests/demands of the employer.

Prior to Brotheridge and Grandey's (2002) study, there had been no known studies that had examined different occupations using the various definitions of emotional labor that recorded the construct as a predictor of burnout. This contribution to the emotional labor research and burnout research was meaningful because it gave researchers insights to a broader range of occupations compared to "service workers" only. The results of Brotheridge and Grandey's study suggested that there are emotional differences in the nature of "people work" and the frequency of contact with customers/clients should not be viewed as the primary predictor of emotional exhaustion or burnout. Lastly, by comparing job-focused and employee-focused emotional labor, Brotheridge and Grandey successfully supported Hochschild's (1983) findings regarding surface acting and deep acting. They found evidence that faking or pretending was positively related to exhaustion and detachment, whereas deeper emotional work and feeling the emotions displayed were positively related to a sense of accomplishment (Brotheridge & Grandey, 2002).

It became clear that employees across service professions had been performing deep acting and surface acting, but the answers to when, why, and to what purpose employees performed emotional labor was not absolute in the literature. Brotheridge and Lee (2003) attempted to answer these basic questions when they expressed that employees performed emotional labor "when they regulate their emotional display in an attempt to meet organizationally-based expectations specific to their roles" (Brotheridge & Lee, 2003, p.365). Brotheridge and Lee examined the empirical research and theories

of emotional labor that had been collected between 1979 and 1996 (Ashforth &

Humphrey, 1993; Hochschild, 1979; Morris & Feldman, 1996) and used that data as the basis for the development of the *Emotional Labour Scale* (ELS). It took several years to fully develop the ELS, as evidenced by the authors' initial presentation of its development at the First Conference on Emotions in Organizational Life in August, 1998 (Brotheridge & Lee, 2003). This Emotional Labour Scale, in its final format, consisted of 15 items that reflected a single construct and remained neutral in wording (Brotheridge & Lee, 2003). There had been a few researchers who had developed instruments to measure emotional labor prior to 2003 (Kruml & Geddes, 2000; Wharton, 1993). However, none of the instruments were designed to measure emotional labor as a multifaceted construct until Brotheridge and Lee sought to measure surface acting and deep acting as two separate dimensions. They accomplished this by developing and validating the Emotional Labour Scale.

In 2008, Guy, Newman, and Mastracci wrote the book *Emotional Labor: Putting the Service in Public Service*. Again, reaching back to the foundational work of Hochschild (1983) emotional labor was identified as a performance, an expectation, and a part of public service (Guy et al., 2008). Emotional labor was once again described, but not explicitly defined. Guy et al. (2008) felt that the English language came up short when trying to define emotional labor because of its many characteristics and dimensions; however, they endeavored to give the practitioners who exercised these skills daily (i.e., 911 call center operator, counselor, prison guard, etc.) a voice through their research. They uniquely conceived emotional labor as "relational in nature" (Guy et al., 2008, p. 3). They further stipulated that emotional labor is "…essential for job completion and is a prerequisite for quality public service" (Guy et al., 2008, p. 3). These behaviors require workers to manage their emotions to effectively continue their working relationships.

Amy Wharton referred to emotional labor as "the process by which workers are expected to manage their feelings in accordance with organizationally define rules and guidelines" (Wharton, 2009, p.147). Wharton (2009) recognized that research in emotional labor had exploded since its conception in 1983 when Hochschild wrote *The Managed Heart*, but felt the research had not provided enough theoretical guidance in the area. Possibly, the literature needed more theoretical guidance because the research on emotional labor had begun to extend to a wider variety of occupations and its innumerable related concepts, such as job burnout, gender, job requirements, personality, etc. had emerged (Wharton, 2009). The research field surrounding emotional labor was and continues to have fruitful avenues for deeper investigation; nevertheless, theoretical guidance is crucial (Wharton, 2009).

Hülsheger and Schewe (2011) recounted several theoretical frameworks (Côté, 2005; Grandey, 2003; Rubin et al., 2005) in a quantitative meta-analysis which stood to help future researchers expand the literature on the consequences of emotional labor. Yet emotional labor remained undefined and described only by three of its central facets: deep acting, surface acting, and emotional dissonance. This proved to be further evidence that a clear definition of emotional labor had not been provided in the literature, even after thirty years of research.

The research within the construct of emotional labor branched into specifically related areas (i.e., emotion regulation, self-monitoring, self-control, emotion

management, emotional exhaustion, etc.) after its conception by Hochschild (1983). Fewer attempts to specifically define *emotional labor* were made and the experts' previously stated definitions were simply recycled, re-worded, and shortened following the emotional labor research explosion between 2005 and 2010. The definition(s) of emotional labor became simple statements within the related published research and fewer researchers sought to specifically define the construct. For example, Grandey, Rupp and Brice, who have conducted extensive research, developed theories, taught classes, and wrote books, articles, and chapters around emotional labor, simply referred to emotional labor as "the management of emotional displays as part of one's work role" as they sought to expose the price of emotional labor upon workers. Grandey and Sayre (2019, p. 1) explained that emotional labor "encompassed a process that includes (a) explicit emotional requirements (i.e., display rules) and (b) the effortful strategies needed to meet those requirements (i.e., emotion regulation)" again describing the elements of emotional labor more so than defining it.

All the specific definitions and operationalizations presented by the expert researchers in emotional labor can be summed to reflect the impact on the employees, employers, co-workers, customers/clients, and the combinations thereof. Emotional labor is an integral part of public service. It is not often seen with the human eye but it is felt within the persons performing it and the people who observe it, though it may be perceived differently by the two.

As the concept of emotional labor continues to advance, the appreciation of emotional labor as a multidimensional construct migrates across disciplinary boundaries. Researchers from numerous fields of study (e.g., education, health services, psychology, and sociology) have endeavored to explain how emotion connects workers to employers, co-workers, and customers (Bellas, 1999; Chang, 2009; Chen et al., 2019). A deeper and more complex understanding of the components of emotional labor has grown as the various disciplines have conducted research and developed theories (Grandey & Gabriel, 2015).

## Seminal Works Guide Research Focus

Scientific constructs typically progress following three developmental stages: 1) concept introduction and elaboration, 2) concept evaluation and augmentation, and 3) concept consolidation and accommodation (Reichers & Schneider, 1990). Arlie Hochschild (1983) introduced emotional labor approximately forty years ago. Afterward, researchers and scholars elaborated on emotional labor by presenting data that legitimized the construct and educated others (James, 1989; Rafaeli & Sutton, 1987). Ashforth and Humphrey (1993) took a behavioral approach examining emotional labor and Morris and Feldman (1996) expanded the emotional labor concept by identifying specific dimensions leading emotional labor into the second stage, concept evaluation and augmentation. The rapid growth of the service sector—which grew by more than threefold in many Western countries—from 1850 to the mid 1980s contributed to the extensive augmentation of the construct (Urquhart, 1984; Wachter, 2001). The pattern of evaluating and expanding the construct of emotional labor to include a multitude of moderators and mediators such as display rules, affect, gender, age, emotional dissonance, etc. placed the construct deep into the second developmental stage. A general agreement appeared to emerge in the literature that emotional labor encompassed managing emotions at work to conform to organizational rules but, there has been less

30

agreement on how to best measure or operationalize the construct (Bono & Vey, 2005). The few published meta-analytic studies placed the construct in Reichers and Schneider's (1990) third developmental stage, concept consolidation and accommodation, according to the definition. However, researchers who have studied emotional labor for well over a decade described the construct as being at a crossroad with a need for new innovative methodological approaches (A. A. Grandey & Gabriel, 2015).

Numerous researchers have examined the construct of emotional labor, but the thousands of articles get blurry if the focus of the research is not sharply outlined. Grandey et al. (2013) organized the seminal works into three perspectives: (1) emotional labor as occupational requirements (2) emotional labor as emotional displays, and (3) emotional labor as intrapsychic processes. The field of sociology captures the occupational perspective, the field of organizational behavior captures the emotional displays perspective, and the field of psychology captures the intrapsychic processes (A. Grandey et al., 2013). Close consideration of each perspective provides guidance for the structure of emotional labor research.

*Emotional Labor as an Occupational Requirement.* Emotional labor as an occupational requirement was first discussed by the sociologist who coined the term, Arlie Hochschild (1983). The central belief surrounding emotional labor as an occupational requirement is that the employees who work in jobs requiring frequent interactions with the public must follow the expected display rules in exchange for a wage (A. Grandey et al., 2013). Hochschild (1983, 2003) reported twelve standard occupational groups of which six contained many of the jobs that required emotional labor in *The Managed Heart*. A 2019 report by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

indicated 22 standard occupational groups, of which at least twelve contained many of the jobs that required emotional labor as Hochschild predicted in 1983 (US Government, 2020). Many of these occupational groups are expected to continue to grow by as much as 22.6 percent by 2029 (i.e., healthcare support occupations, community and social service occupations, and personal care and service occupations) indicating a need for continued understanding of how emotional labor impacts the workforce (US Government, 2020).

Emotional Labor as Emotional Displays. The second perspective, emotional labor as emotional displays at work, stems from organizational behavior theories which recognize how people act and interact within organizations. Rafaeli and Sutton (1987) stressed that emotion plays a complex role in organizational life and pointed out that observable expressions such as smiling and acting "friendly" do not necessarily indicate well-being, but rather may be part of the job role. These "performances" presented by the employee refer to observable behaviors and not internal feelings; therefore, the performances are linked to display rules more so than feeling rules (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993; A. Grandey et al., 2013; Rafaeli & Sutton, 1987). The central belief surrounding emotional labor as organizationally-required displays is that the performance can be accomplished without having to manage feelings (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993). The employers manage or control the employees' emotional displays through organizational, occupational, and social norms (A. Grandey et al., 2013; Rafaeli & Sutton, 1987). The seminal work in emotional labor made note that the actions of emotional labor, whether cheerful, gloomy, hostile, or a combination thereof, are part of the work role (Rafaeli & Sutton, 1987). Rafaeli and Sutton (1987) recognized two

sources of expectations of job roles: the organizational context and emotional transactions. The *organizational context* is made up of the organizations' formal and informal practices including recruitment and selection techniques, socialization, rewards, and punishments that are used to influence the employees' presentation of emotion whereas the *emotional transactions* occur when employees display emotions, note the reaction of "target" persons, and adjust their emotions accordingly creating an interaction between the two parties (Rafaeli & Sutton, 1987). According to Grandey et al. (2013), the result of emotional labor as emotional displays at work is either emotional harmony (the feelings and displays match the job role expectation) or emotional labor as emotional displays at work differs from emotional labor as an occupational requirement by proposing that emotional labor benefits the employee through physical and financial well-being though research does not consistently support this notion (Grandey et al., 2013).

*Emotional Labor as Intrapsychic Processes*. Lastly, emotional labor through the perspective of intrapsychic processes is a person-focused view that pulls from psychological literature and centers on the internal experiences of employees, how they manage their emotions at work, and the state of their personal well-being (A. Grandey et al., 2013). The seminal works with this focus of emotional labor include Morris and Feldman's (1996) definition of emotional labor as "the effort, planning, and control needed to express organizationally desired emotion during interpersonal transactions" (p. 987), and their examination of the psychological consequences that employees face while performing emotional labor such as emotional exhaustion and job satisfaction. Morris and

Feldman provided a more complex conceptualization of emotional labor that included a framework of four distinct dimensions rather than using the previous simple structure of determining whether emotional labor is either present or absent in service jobs. Grandey (2000) discussed emotion regulation as a guiding theory for better understanding and operationalizing emotional labor and included surface acting (managing observable expressions) and deep acting (managing feeling) to do this. These two concepts, together with emotional dissonance build the three primary concepts of the perspective of emotional labor as intrapsychic processes (A. Grandey et al., 2013).

The seminal works of the pioneers of emotional labor (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993; Grandey, 2003; Grandey et al., 2013; Hochschild, 1983, 2003; Morris & Feldman, 1996; Rafaeli & Sutton, 1987) provided conceptual context, measurement methods, empirical evidence, and theoretical background for the continuation into the study of emotional labor. The differences of how this valuable information was obtained and presented is reflected by whether the construct is viewed from the perspective of occupational requirements, emotional displays, or as intrapsychic processes. Nevertheless, emotional labor is not fully revealed in any *one* of the three perspectives but is a result of the dynamic interactions among all three perspectives (A. Grandey et al., 2013). Grandey et al. (2013) advised researchers to utilize all three perspectives (i.e., occupational, emotional displays, and intrapsychic processes) in their own research approaches to present results with broad inferences for the field of emotional labor. *A Closer View of the Dimensions and Measurement of Emotional Labor* 

Hochschild's two-dimensional structure. Kruml and Geddes (2000) asked basic questions, which required complex answers, regarding emotional labor such as, "What

are emotional labor's defining characteristics?" "How can it be measured?" and "Is emotional labor harmful or healthy for service workers and their companies?" The responses to these questions helped to better define, identify, measure, and conceptualize emotional labor. The researchers who have sought to distinctly define emotional labor have provided structures, dimensions, and conceptualizations around the construct.

Most of the work carried out on emotional labor begun with Hochschild's definition which states that the employees who display emotional labor either have faceto-face or voice-to-voice contact with the public and are required by the nature of their job to produce a feeling, thought, or act from the client or customer (Hochschild, 2003; Kruml & Geddes, 2000). Hochschild's (1983, 2003) extensive ethnography of Delta Airline flight attendants led to the vivid description of a *two-dimensional structure* of emotional labor: surface acting and deep acting. Simply put, surface acting is shaping the outward appearance; whereas, deep acting is creating the inner shape of a feeling (Hochschild, 1983, 2003). However, the elements of surface acting and deep acting are not simple, but instead are considerably complex concepts which represent how employees manage their emotions and observable expressions to meet the demands of their work roles (Brotheridge & Grandey, 2002; A. A. Grandey, 2000).

Surface acting has been described as a "put on" and not a real "part" of the person as with an actor in a theatre (Hochschild, 1983, 2003). Others have described surface acting as faking in good faith (Rafaeli & Sutton, 1987), simulating emotions that are not truly felt (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993), and even suppression of truly felt emotions (Hennig-Thurau et al., 2006). Surface acting may be accomplished by conscientious presentation of verbal and nonverbal cues, such as facial expressions (i.e., smiles, grimaces, rapid eye movements), gestures (i.e., hand-shaking, waving, crossed arms), and voice tone (i.e., friendly yet professional, empowering, firm) (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993). Hochschild (1983, 2003) was clear that though the employees may be deceiving the customers, they are not deceiving themselves when they perform surface acting. One of the flight attendants, interviewed by Hochschild (1983), gave a perfect real-life example of how she used surface acting in her job:

Even though I'm a very honest person, I have learned not to allow my face to mirror my alarm or my fright. I feel very protective of my passengers. Above all, I don't want them to be frightened. If we were going down, if we were going to make a ditching in water, the chances of our surviving are slim, even though we [the flight attendants] know exactly what to do. *But I think I would probably* – and I think I can say this for most of my fellow flight attendants – *be able to keep them from being too worried about it.* I mean my voice might quiver a little during the announcements, but somehow I feel we could get them to believe . . . the best.

In the above scenario, the flight attendant regulated his/her emotions to adapt to a specific situation and to display an emotion—calmness—that was not truly felt (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993). However, situations may not be the actual trigger for an emotion because the same situation, under the direction of different goals, will not necessarily prompt the same emotion (Newberry, 2013) For example, the flight attendant most likely felt deeply concerned for the customers' welfare though his/her displayed emotions appeared less concerning and more reserved. This differs from a situation such as a salesperson who unthinkingly greets a customer may appear cheerful and excited but is

<sup>(</sup>p. 107)

not deeply concerned with the customer's welfare (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993). Regardless of the situation at hand, the employee performed surface acting as a responsefocused form of emotional regulation that does not involve an adjustment of one's actual feelings but rather to the management of their emotional expression (Hülsheger & Schewe, 2011). People regulate their emotions for various reasons and in response to various situations, including forcing emotions that are not naturally prompted. For instance, people regulate emotion for protective purposes such as suppressing emotions to shelter oneself from vulnerability, or concealing emotions so as not to hurt the feelings of others (Newberry, 2013).

Surface acting requires effort because it involves the continuous monitoring of genuine and desired emotions for changing the emotional expression or response (Hülsheger & Schewe, 2011). Data from several studies have suggested that this effort to constantly regulate one's emotions and subsequently alter outward expressions (surface acting) drains mental resources, increases emotional strain, leads to emotional exhaustion, and may be harmful to one's overall well-being ((Brotheridge & Grandey, 2002; Côté, 2005; Hülsheger & Schewe, 2011; Martínez-Iñigo et al., 2007).

Surface acting is often seen played out in service-related positions as described and defined by Hochschild (1983, 2003); however, it is implemented in private life, in public places, and for many reasons. In 1959, Goffman published a book *The Presentation of Self in Everyday Life* in which he described how people express themselves while in public. Goffman (1959) named two types of communication expressions given and expressions given off—and he primarily addressed the latter which is a theatrical, contextual, non-verbal, and presumably unintentional expression that may be purposely contrived. Goffman took great care to describe scenarios in detail such as the vacationing Englishman, Preedy, who appeared on the beach of his hotel carrying a Spanish translation of *Homer*, looking over people instead at them, smiling only when something happened to surprise him with a desire to present himself as "kind" as he strolled along the sand and into the water allowing others to admire his swimming abilities (Goffman, 1959). Goffman does not specifically call such behaviors *surface acting*; yet, fragments of his vivid descriptions are closely related to what Hochschild (1979) described as surface acting. Hochschild (1979) critiqued Goffman's writings and found his concept of acting to be problematic claiming that though Goffman posits *one* type of acting—the direct management of behavioral expression—his graphic illustrations described *two* types of acting: the direct management of behavioral expression and the management of feeling from which expression can follow. Hochschild (1979) called this second type of acting "deep acting" and noted that Goffman failed to distinguish it from the first type which underestimates the power of social factors.

The second dimension of Hochschild's *two-dimensional structure* of emotional labor is deep acting. Deep acting differs from surface acting by working from the "inside out" instead of from the "outside in" (Meanwell et al., 2008). This type of acting becomes authentic and deep within the person exhibiting the behaviors and often they deceive themselves as much as they deceive others, which is different from surface acting wherein 'others' may be deceived but the 'actor' is not deceived (Hochschild, 1983). Frequently, in the literature, deep acting has been linked to dramaturgical actors (Hochschild, 2003; Kruml & Geddes, 2000; Stanislavsky, 1936). Constantin Stanislavski, Russian actor, and director, explained how this type of acting is in the realm of emotions and not of reason and developed a theoretical system around many of the same elements that Hochschild (1983) described as deep acting (i.e., feeling deeply, obtaining power to convince, sincere smiles, and sincere conversations). Stanislavski (1936) captured the essence of deep acting in *An Actor Prepares* by describing a personal experience:

At a party one evening, in the house of friends, we were doing various stunts and they decided, for a joke, to operate on me. Tables were carried in, one for operating, the other supposedly containing surgical instruments. Sheets were draped around, bandages, basins, various vessels were brought. The "surgeons" put on white coats and I was dressed in a hospital gown. They laid me on the operating table and bandaged my eyes. What disturbed me was the extremely solicitous manner of the doctors. They treated me as if I were in a desperate condition and did everything with utmost seriousness. Suddenly the thought flashed through my mind: "What if they really should cut me open!" The uncertainty and the waiting worried me. My sense of hearing became acute and I tried not to miss a single sound. All around I could hear them whispering, pouring water, rattling instruments. Now and then a large basin made a booming noise like the toll of a funeral bell. "Let us begin!" someone whispered. Someone took a firm hold on my right wrist. I felt a dull pain and then three sharp stabs...I couldn't help trembling. Something that was harsh and smarted was rubbed on my wrist, then it was bandaged, people rustled around, handing things to the surgeon. Finally, after a long pause, they began to speak out loud, they laughed, congratulated me. My eyes were unbandaged and on my left arm lay . . . a new-born baby made out of my right hand, all swaddled in gauze. On the back of my hand they had painted a silly, infantile face. (pp. 283–284)

Stanislavski was not play-acting during this experience. He was truly afraid at moments, and though these feelings were self-induced, the emotion became a part of him—a reality formed in his subconscious that took effort (Hochschild, 2003; K. Stanislavsky, 1989). Those who prepare to be actors have used The Stanislavski Method/Technique since the early 1900s demonstrating that these refinements can be taught, learned, and developed to meet the needs of organizations. Hochschild (2003) observed similarities between the Recurrent Trainings for Delta Airlines flight attendants and the trainings used in acting classes; however, the purpose for which the techniques were used were different—to be sold for a wage.

The ability to alter feelings is a fundamental property of deep acting. Employees are trained, or socially engineered, to present themselves in such a way that the customers/clients believe the encounters (i.e., smiles, kind words, description of the product) that they witnessed were truly meant for them (Hochschild, 1983). The customer may say things such as, "They must trust in their own product to sell it that well" or "You can tell their work is important to them." Hochschild (1983) observed diplomats and actors being the best at using deep acting, and young children being the worst. This notable distinction suggested that one can learn the skill of deep acting and how to align inner feelings to displayed emotions (Brotheridge & Lee, 2002). Deep acting is more than naïve pretending and requires persistent training to yield a sincere presentation of honesty and authenticity to the customer/client of an organization. A successful display of deep acting has been described as the most generous gesture of self-persuasion (Hochschild, 1979).

Although deep acting may be expressed in personal and family interactions, it is more expected to be experienced as part of the job (Hochschild, 1979). Workers decide whether to participate in surface acting and/or deep acting and to the degree in which to do so. Both concepts (i.e., surface acting and deep acting) refer to the *effort* or act of attempting to display the suitable emotion to match the situation, not to the outcome (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993; Hochschild, 1979). The outcome of emotional labor refers to the quality of the effort displayed by the employee (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993; Hochschild, 1979). The customer decided during/after an interaction with an employee whether the actions witnessed were genuine or not; therefore, the customer assigned the degree of service quality received. Thus, organizations have attempted to control the emotional displays of their employees using rewards and punishments to help ensure high quality of customer service (Abraham, 1998). Organizations use rewards to maintain employees' behaviors and punishments are used to alter employees' behaviors (Rafaeli & Sutton, 1987).

Deep acting requires more effort than surface acting because the person must change internal emotions rather than outwardly use charming facial expressions (Kammeyer-Mueller et al., 2013). Hochschild (1983) acknowledged that deep acting has an edge over surface acting in its power to persuade customers and therefore employers are justified in their investment for the time spent training their employees how to utilize deep acting. An employee who has chosen to utilize surface acting may have a strong or a weak concern for the customer/client depending on the situation; however, the conscious effort needed to perform deep acting tends to be more consistent with a strong concern for the customer/client (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993).

41

Additional dimensions of emotional labor have been recognized since its founding author, Hochschild (1983), introduced the construct and defined it through surface and deep acting and these are worthy of discussion.

Ashforth and Humphrey's Perspective Included Genuine Emotions. Ashforth and Humphrey (1993) reviewed and broadened the scope of Hochschild's two-dimensional model. They agreed that service providers expended effort to comply with the expected norms through surface acting and deep acting, as Hochschild (1983) had described; however, they noted that these workers also used expressions of spontaneous and *genuine* emotion (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993). Hochschild (1983) discussed authenticity in *The Managed Heart*, but she did not refer to it as a third dimension. The use of genuine emotions contends that the worker may conform to the expected norms, display rules, without having to actively perform or manage their feelings. Ashforth and Humphrey noted that a worker "may naturally feel what he/she is expected to express without having to work up the emotion" (1993, p. 94), such as a nurse feeling compassion at the sight of a hurt baby.

Ashforth and Humphrey included the "expression of genuine emotions" (1993, p.88) in their definition of emotional labor. Glomb and Tews (2004) recognized the role of genuinely felt displays of emotions and included the concept in their emotional labor framework used to develop the Discrete Emotions Emotional Labor Scale (DEELS). Diefendorff, Croyle, and Gosserand (2005) investigated the dimensions of emotional labor and found the expression of naturally felt emotions to be a unique dimension and suggested that researchers incorporate it into emotional labor research. They went as far as to imply that surface acting and deep acting may be compensatory strategies that

42

service workers use only when they are unable to display naturally felt emotions (Diefendorff et al., 2005).

Other terms such as *emotional harmony* (Rafaeli & Sutton, 1987), display of *appropriate* emotion (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993), and *naturally* felt emotions (Diefendorff et al., 2005; C. Yang et al., 2019) are used in the literature to describe when service workers display what they feel without faking or acting. Yang et al. (2019) noted the expression of genuine emotions to be the most common strategy for emotional labor, and Jordan et al. (2008; as cited in Yang et al., 2019) noted genuine emotion to be the most effective form of emotional labor.

However, most emotional labor conceptualizations hold to the two originally defined dimensions—surface acting and deep acting—since both involve "acting" and require some degree of self-management (Brotheridge & Lee, 1998, 2002; Grandey, 2003; Mann, 1999; Van Dijk et al., 2011). Another view of the display of genuine emotion is that it is not considered a dimension at all because the service worker is not "acting" and therefore management of their emotions is not required (Asumah et al., 2019). Instead, it is simply an act of displaying on the outside what is felt on the inside. Lastly, the expression of genuine or naturally felt emotions may be ignored altogether. The shortage of empirical research may explain why some authors ignore it altogether (Walsh, 2019).

*Morris and Feldman's Four-Dimensional Structure.* Deep acting and surface acting established the core of emotional labor; however, researchers broadened the construct to include a myriad of dimensions. Morris and Feldman (1996) argued that emotional labor has four distinct dimensions:

- frequency of appropriate emotional display,
- attentiveness to required display rules (duration and intensity of emotional display),
- variety of emotions to be displayed, and
- emotional dissonance.

Frequency of emotional display is a dominant feature of emotional labor and one of the most examined components in emotional labor research. However, the frequency of occurrence alone does not consider the level of planning, control, or skill needed for the employee to successfully display appropriate emotions (Morris & Feldman, 1996). If researchers measured only the frequency dimension, other vital components would not be captured; therefore, Morris & Feldman (1996) added the three additional dimensions for measurement consideration.

The second dimension, attentiveness to required display rules, referred to the attention to the display rules required by the job position. Employees whose jobs required higher psychological energy and physical effort had increased levels of attentiveness to the display rules that surrounded their position; therefore, they also had increased emotional labor (Morris & Feldman, 1996). Two characteristics impacted the thought of attentiveness to required display rules—the duration of interactions between employee and customer and the intensity of an emotion experienced or expressed (Morris & Feldman, 1996). Previous research comparing duration and frequency of interactions between employees and customers have shown a positive relationship—short durations of interaction require less intensity and longer durations of interaction require more intensity of emotions (Frijda et al., 1992; Morris & Feldman, 1996; Rafaeli, 1989). It is reasonable

to imagine that the longer the employee and customer interact, more emotional labor will be required because the interactions tend to become less scripted and more personal (Morris & Feldman, 1997). For example, clerks at convenience stores typically have scripted formats to follow (e.g., short smile, simple thank you, "come again"), but physicians typically have less scripted and more personal formats to follow (e.g., "how are you today," "when did these symptoms appear," "describe to me how you cope").

The third dimension described by Morris and Feldman (1996) was the variety of emotions required to be expressed. Different job types as well as different tasks within specific jobs influence the variety of emotions an employee is required to display at any given time. Service providers whose positions require them to change their emotional responses from task to task, day to day, or within the same workday require more psychological energy to meet the demands of the job (Morris & Feldman, 1996). For example, some service positions (professors, therapists, medical personnel, etc.) may be expected to have positive emotions to build motivation and courage, have neutral emotions to complete required paperwork and schedule appointments, and have negative emotions to support disciplinary measures and enforce corrective behaviors (Morris & Feldman, 1996; Sutton, 1991).

The fourth dimension described by Morris and Feldman (1996), emotional dissonance, referred to the conflict between the employees' genuinely felt emotions and those desired by the organization to be displayed. Though several researchers (Kruml & Geddes, 1998; Zerbe, 1998) supported the importance of the relationship between emotional labor and emotional dissonance, only Morris and Feldman considered it a dimension of the emotional labor construct. Grandey (2000) disagreed and viewed

45

emotional dissonance as a consequence instead of a dimension. Grandey stated that emotional dissonance does not fit Morris and Feldman's definition because it is a state of being instead of an effortful process and that dissonance does not account for all the ways employees manage their emotions at work. Lazányi (2010) noted that emotional dissonance should be clearly distinct from emotional labor altogether since it is the consequences of emotional dissonance (defined as discrepancy between expected/displayed and real emotional states) that may lead to harm for the employees, not the emotional labor.

Morris and Feldman's (1996) basis for defining the four dimensions of the construct of emotional labor remained consistent: the level of planning, control, and skill required to present appropriate emotional display in the work setting. The four dimensions are directly and indirectly related to one another, but together comprise the concept and define the meaning of emotional labor from the perspective of Morris and Feldman. Morris and Feldman's multidimensional conceptualization of emotional labor provided theoretical evidence that emotional labor need not be simply present or absent nor equally damaging to all employees.

In 1997, Morris and Feldman described a three-component conceptualization that included frequency, duration, and emotional dissonance, in a survey research study. These three components were closely related to the four dimensions they described the year before; however, the variety of emotions displayed (third dimension) was not indicated as a component but a "range" was suggested as a possible dimension (Morris & Feldman, 1997). *Kruml and Geddes Dimensions of Emotional Labor.* Kruml and Geddes (2000) examined Morris and Feldman's (1997) outlined approach to three dimensions and claimed there were conceptual and methodological concerns regarding how the dimensions were identified. Kruml and Geddes (2000) questioned the content validity and construct validity of Morris and Feldman's measure. They claimed that the three components did not conceptually link to their stated definition of emotional labor and they used exclusively a priori assumption and conceptualization in determining both the number of the dimensions and the corresponding items (Kruml & Geddes, 2000). For example, they argued that frequency and duration of service encounters may present more like job characteristics that affect how the employees perform than as emotional labor itself (Kruml & Geddes, 2000). The example of how a fast food worker who spends just a few minutes with each customer may fake emotions more than a hospice nurse who spends an hour with a patient made their point clearer (Kruml & Geddes, 2000).

Instead, Kruml and Geddes (2000) chose to use Hochschild's (1983) framework as their starting point to define the dimensions of emotional labor. However, Kruml and Geddes construed Hochschild's two-dimensional structure (i.e., surface acting and deep acting) as three-dimensional by noting surface acting as one dimension, but dividing deep acting into two separate dimensions–active deep and passive deep. This framework led to Kruml and Geddes's development of a measure of emotional labor and in the process supported a new two-dimensional view of emotional labor, *emotive effort*, and *emotive dissonance*. The two constructs, emotive effort (the emotional effort exerted by employees to display situationally appropriate emotions) and emotive dissonance (the difference between felt and feigned emotions) were found to act distinctly regarding antecedents and outcomes associated with emotional labor (Kruml & Geddes, 2000). For example, Kruml and Geddes found that men, older employees, and those not emotionally attached to customers were more likely to experience higher levels of emotive dissonance; and older employees, those given more training in how to express their emotions, and employees with less experience working with the public were more likely to exert more emotive effort to feel situationally appropriate.

Kruml and Geddes (2000) expounded upon Hochschild's (1983) two-dimensional structure and further validated emotional dissonance as a dimension of emotional labor. More importantly, Kruml and Geddes identified an additional dimension, *emotive effort*, that had not previously been classified in the literature. Consequently, Kruml and Geddes proposed that their model of emotion labor would lead to varied personal and organizational outcomes and further emotional labor research by exploring contradicting findings involving emotional exhaustion, personal accomplishment, depersonalization, job involvement, and related concepts.

*Grandey's Conceptual Model of Emotional Labor (Emotion Regulation).* In 2000, Alicia A. Grandey closely examined three prominent studies of emotional labor (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993; Hochschild, 2003; Morris & Feldman, 1996) and found that they all discussed surface acting and deep acting, and, though they had vastly different perspectives, they had one underlying theme: People can regulate their emotional expressions at work. Furthermore, Grandey (2000) recognized the benefits of using surface acting and deep acting as defining dimensions of emotional labor since each has positive or negative outcomes. For example, a service worker may choose to employ surface acting techniques (e.g., fake smile, agreeable countenance, nod) with a difficult client to create a pleasant atmosphere and afterward find themselves satisfied with the outcome of a happy client and a job well-done as required by the organization. On the other hand, the service worker may feel anxiety and depression because they knew they were "faking," whether the client knew it did. The same positive or negative outcomes can occur when the service worker chooses to employ deep acting techniques. These emotional outcomes allow researchers to explain various results obtained through studies and allow organizations to provide guided training and stress management programs (Grandey, 2000).

Considering the models previously proposed, none clearly explained *why* managing one's emotions should be related to the suggested outcomes. This thought lead to Grandey's (2000) proposal that the emotion regulation theory can easily be applied to emotional labor and can help explain *why* managing emotions are linked to the work-related outcomes (i.e., burnout and stress). The fact that emotions exist in the workplace is not disputed because people feel and behave; however, Grandey reminded readers that these emotions greatly impact the service worker and the workplace. Grandey acknowledged that the definition and operationalization of "emotion" remained unclear; however, Grandey felt it necessary for the newer field of emotional labor to learn from more established emotion theories. Surface acting and deep acting remained Grandey's primary variables in the conceptual model. However, these emotional displays are deeply affected by antecedents including: expectations of the interaction, emotional events, and perceived long-term consequences (Grandey, 2000).

Glomb and Tews Conceptualizations Used in the Development of the DEELS. Glomb and Tews (2004) developed a psychometrically sound instrument to measure emotional labor, Discrete Emotions Emotional Labor Scale (DEELS). They acknowledged that in research it is the question that drives the theoretical orientation credited in the study; therefore, theoretical perspectives have merit and should be examined before conducting one's own research. Glomb and Tews considered three theoretical perspectives when developing the DEELS. These perspectives included the internal state of dissonance (discrepancy between the actual emotion displayed and the one felt), the internal process (self-regulation processes such as surface acting and deep acting), and behavioral display (the behavior associated with conforming with a display rule). Their research focused on the behavioral displays thus they purported that "emotional labor is the (1) expression of emotions and (2) non-expression of emotions, which may or may not be felt, in accordance with display rules" (Glomb & Tews, 2004, p.4). Though others have focused on the behavioral aspect of emotional labor, Glomb and Tews' framework differed in that it accounted for felt emotion that co-occurs with conformance to display rules, acknowledged that the behaviors exhibited may involve expressing appropriate emotions or not expressing inappropriate emotions, and recognized the role of genuinely felt emotions. In addition, their framework made a distinction between positive and negative emotions and included other forms of affect such as moods (Glomb & Tews, 2004). These specific aspects of Glomb and Tews' framework set it apart from others such as Morris and Feldman (1996), who did not specify the emotional state, and Mann (1999) who combined seventeen different emotional states.

## Overview of Dimensions of Emotional Labor

The working definition and a solid conceptual framework of emotional labor must be established before the construct can be properly measured. There is general agreement in the literature that service workers often manage their emotions at work by using emotional labor strategies (i.e., surface acting, deep acting, genuine display of emotions) to conform to the organization's expectations but less agreement on how to measure these strategies (Bono & Vey 2005). Bono and Vey conducted a meta-analysis in 2005 and found that researchers measured emotional labor in different ways; some measured emotional labor by observable behaviors or performance of the workers, others by the internal dissonance between experienced and expressed emotions, and still others by deep acting or surface acting. The commonality of these measurement variables depicted emotional labor as an emotional regulation approach; however, emotional labor goes beyond simply modifying one's display of expressions to include the economic exchange of wages and rewards (Barry et al., 2019; A. A. Grandey et al., 2013). Therefore, the emotional labor construct may be better viewed as an "umbrella construct" comprised of interrelated factors (Barry et al., 2019).

Hochschild (1983) classified job types as an aspect of measurement and Morris and Feldman (1996) considered frequency, intensity, duration, and variety of interactions to measure emotional labor; however, these and other similar operationalizations turned the focus more toward job demands or job characteristics instead of emotional labor strategies (Bono & Vey, 2005). The extensive number of variations of emotional labor dimensions led to questions as to whether these variables are observable and measurable dimensions of emotional labor or instead antecedents and consequences of emotional labor that would better be measured as latent variables (Bono & Vey, 2005; Morris & Feldman, 1996).

Early in the development of the emotional labor construct, Morris and Feldman (1996) contributed to the understanding that emotional labor is not just about whether or not an employee performs certain emotional strategies. Instead, Morris and Feldman proposed a multi-dimensional construct that examined the intensity, frequency, and variety of emotions displayed during emotional labor. However, these and other precise dimensions such as job demands, job characteristics, role requirements, and display rules made it difficult to distinguish between dimensions and antecedents (Bono & Vey, 2005).

The dimensions of emotional labor build the framework from which the construct can be defined and measured. Bono and Vey (2005) conducted a meta-analysis of the early research on antecedents and consequences (i.e., predictors and outcomes) of emotional labor and found four prominent dimensions: surface acting, deep acting, emotional dissonance, and emotional labor performance. Surface acting scales measured the extent employees faked the expected emotion; deep acting scales measured the extent employees changed their internal emotional states; emotional dissonance scales measured the employees' self-reported dissonance between their emotional displays and their actual emotional states; and emotional labor performance scales measured how well employees regulated their emotions when dealing with customers or clients (Bono & Vey, 2005; Diefendorff & Richard, 2003; A. A. Grandey, 2003). Often researchers found themselves between the fine lines within the described dimensions. For example, Abraham (1998) researched emotional dissonance as an independent dimension of emotional labor with its own antecedents, consequences, and moderators and found significant relationships with job autonomy, emotional exhaustion, job satisfaction, and social support. Abraham's research attested to Morris and Feldman's (1996) conceptualization of dissonance as a dimension of emotional labor. However, Grandey (2000) described dissonance as a "state of being" and explained that "experiencing dissonance does not comprehensively cover all the ways one may manage emotions at work" (p. 97) which makes it difficult to measure; therefore, Grandey questioned whether dissonance is an actual dimension.

Antecedents. The antecedents to emotional labor, or predicting factors, have been studied less than the consequences, or outcomes, of emotional labor (Bono & Vey, 2005). Historically, emotional labor antecedents have primarily been measured through organizational variables and/or individual (employee) variables. Organizational methods included such variables as explicitness of display rules, job characteristics (e.g., control, autonomy, routinization), organizational commitment, and social support albeit supervisor or coworker (Allen & John P. Meyer, 1990; Bono & Vey, 2005; Morris & Feldman, 1996). Individual (employee) characteristics included such variables as gender, age, motivation, commitment, affectivity, mood, tenure, personality type (e.g., introvert or extravert), and emotional stability (Bono & Vey, 2005; Chi & Grandey, 2019; Hochschild 1983; Kruml & Geddes, 2000; Schaubroeck & Jones, 2000). The researchers who incorporated these variables in their studies found varying outcomes depending on how they measured emotional labor (Bono & Vey, 2005).

Morris and Feldman (1996) hypothesized that the following antecedents have the greatest impact on the dimensions of emotional labor:

- explicit display rules from the organization (e.g., use of handbooks, trainings, and advertisements will increase the frequency that the employee will display emotional labor),
- close monitoring of the employee by the organization (e.g., secret shoppers and supervisors force the employee to comply with rules of the organization),
- gender (e.g., women tend to display emotion more often than men),
- routineness of the task or standard operating procedures (e.g., tasks required at fast food restaurants are more scripted and routine than other in other service jobs such as nursing resulting in difference of level of emotional labor displayed),
- power of the role receiver (e.g., high status guests receive more positive attention from the employees than do the typical guests), variations of the task at hand (e.g., medical residents working in the oncology department have to express a broader range of emotions than the laboratory technician reading the x-rays),
- form of interaction (e.g., face-to-face interaction between employees and customers require more control of emotions and therefore more emotional dissonance),
- job autonomy (e.g., employees who have higher job autonomy may be more likely to violate the organizational display rules if they do not agree with them)
- affectivity (e.g., the employees' positive or negative feelings regarding the organizations' display rules is directly linked to the emotional dissonance they feel during interactions).

The most studied antecedent of emotional labor has been display rules (Bono & Vey, 2005). Organizational display rules serve as the norms or standards for the appropriate

expressions of emotions expected at organizations (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993; Gosserand & Diefendorff, 2005). Guidance from supervisors, expressions in trainings, handbooks, or scripts, and displays on bulletin boards normally establish display rules for dictating the emotions that employees should express (Gosserand & Diefendorff, 2005; Kruml & Geddes, 2000; Leidner, 1999).

*Consequences.* Regarding consequences of emotional labor, most research has focused on the negative psychological effects on employees (Morris & Feldman, 1996). However, with most facets of emotional labor, the more recent research findings indicated a wide range of consequences, both negative and positive.

Hochschild (1983) found many of the employees whom she interviewed from Delta Airlines resorted to use of drugs and alcohol, reported higher degrees of absenteeism, and had more complaints in general than non-service workers. Some researchers have examined the theory of self-labeling mental illness and found that workers in the service sector who found it difficult to react "appropriately" to expected social norms often felt that they were "going crazy" (Thoits, 1985). Adelmann (1989) asked table servers about their perceived consequences of emotional labor in their jobs and found that, overall, emotional labor had negative consequences for employees. She noted that employees in jobs that required high amounts of emotional labor reported significantly lower job satisfaction, lower levels of self-esteem and happiness, more depression, and poorer health reports. However, Adelman noted that the results could be inconsistent as proven by a response from one waitress who performed emotional labor and despised it while another performed emotional labor with pleasure and pride. This

55

would lead one to think the psychological and physical differences might bear much different outcomes depending on the internal attitude of employees.

Grandey (1999) found negative consequences including emotional exhaustion and depersonalization were significantly related to surface and deep acting. Also, surface acting was negatively related to personal accomplishment though deep acting was not. She noted that the various conceptualizations of emotional labor may help to explain the seemingly contradictory consequences or outcomes (Grandey, 1999). Possibly, this would lead one to think it may be the *type* of emotional labor used that influences the consequences.

As studies continued to evolve around emotional labor, more researchers noted positive relationships between emotional labor and its consequences and the reasons for them. Rafaeli and Sutton (1987) noted circumstances whereas emotional labor can bring positive consequence such as when the workers' expressed feelings are consistent with the emotions they experienced creating "emotional harmony." Wharton (1993) posited that the reason so many studies have presented negative effects was because all the studies had been conducted with the participants as "service workers" which makes it impossible to control for other features that could be the cause of the social-psychological outcomes. Wharton's study was designed to examine male and female workers in two organizations (hospital and bank) to identify the person and job conditions under which the use of emotional labor has negative consequences or a sense of well-being. Wharton found gender more complicated than Hochschild and others assumed. Hochschild (1983) noted that women tended to exhibit more negative consequences of emotional labor than men; however, Wharton did not note the same finding. Wharton's results contradicted

56

others' findings in that they suggested that service workers, whose jobs required them to interact with the public, were experienced in such jobs making some employees emotionally exhausted, but other workers satisfied in their positions. The reasons as to why the variations between the consequences of emotional labor exist are as common as the researchers who examined the concept, but it appears that person-job fit is a significant reason (Wharton, 1993). Zapf and Holz (2006) noted these equivocal effects of emotional labor on psychological well-being as proof that emotional labor is a multidimensional construct with dimensions having positive and negative health effects. *Occupational Stress* 

Stress is listed in the DSM-5 diagnostic category of "Trauma and Stressor-Related Disorders", which includes adjustment disorders and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). The Health and Safety Executive in the UK defined work-related stress as being "the process that arises where work demands of various types and combinations exceed the person's capacity to cope" (Chirico, 2015). Work-related stress considers PTSD, burnout, adjustment disorder, depression, and anxiety (Chirico, 2015). Many questions remain regarding work-related stress, but an increase in stress-related psychological consequences have been seen by physicians for more than a decade (Chirico, 2015). These increases of stress can lead to deterioration in quality of care and a reduced workforce (Fimian et al., 1991).

How these phenomena of stress play out in workers' day-to-day work lives varies from person to person. It is distinctive for all people and for different job positions. Training on how to deal with job-related stress plays an important part. For example, professional socialization, where medical personnel are taught how to appear concerned, but not to the point of causing severe psychological distress, provided helpful coping strategies (Daniels, 1960; Rafaeli & Sutton, 1987). The theory of person-job fit proves beneficial for many workers. Rafaeli and Sutton (1987) described a lack-of-fit between the workers' personality and the job requirements lead to negative effects of emotional labor such as stress and job dissatisfaction, but the other side of good-fit between the workers' personality and the job requirements lead to positive effects such as enjoyment and an affirmative self-concept.

The triggers for occupational stress extend from internal to external variables such as one's own personality to the customers they serve. Rafaeli and Sutton (1987) noted that the effects of job stress came down to how individual characteristics (i.e., empathy, personality, emotion management, and stress management) affect the way workers perform emotional labor strategies while continuing to manage their stress. Customers/clients can be the cause of major stress for workers; still, they can provide great amounts of pleasure and satisfaction especially when the workers choose to engage in genuine emotions (A. A. Grandey, 1999; Tolich, 1993).

The literature catalogs many aspects of occupational stress including, poor health outcomes, lack of social support, distress among diverse groups of employees, lack of autonomy, increased job demands, various stress levels, source of stressors, stress reduction techniques, emotional exhaustion, burnout, short-term effects versus long-term effects of stress, workload, depersonalization, reduced personal accomplishment, etc. (Morris & Feldman, 1996; Pugliesi, 1999; L.-Q. Yang et al., 2020; Zapf, 2002). These different qualities of stress impact workers in many ways. It is often difficult to measure which stressor will impact each worker and to what extent.

Speech-language pathologists, service professionals, encounter stress while serving clients, patients, and students. Fimian et al. (1991) developed and validated the Speech-Language Pathologist Stress Inventory (SLPSI) to measure the stress that speechlanguage pathologists (SLPs) encounter. They noted that it was unlikely that SLPs escape the tension, stress, and negative attitudes that professionals in similar professions experience. The authors took into consideration the increasing demands for accountability, large caseloads, mounting paperwork, and pervasive feelings of isolation as they developed the stress index (Fimian et al., 1991). The authors reported that the stress that SLPs encounter affects them in negative ways, but also affects the clients whom they serve. It is more likely that SLPs can minimize their stress levels if they have a way to identify their stressors thus highlighting the importance of the SLPSI. Fimian et al. noted six interpretable stress factors from the data gathered from the 626 SLPs surveyed. These included four sources of stress for the SLPs: bureaucratic restrictions (e.g., administrative policies that limit their professional growth, needs are unmet, lack of control over programmatic decisions, and little intellectual stimulation on the job); time and workload management (e.g., too much work to do without time to do it, little time to prepare, too much paperwork, large caseloads, and over-commitment); instructional limitations (e.g., students/clients made little progress, were poorly motivated, had discipline problems—which made SLPs feel that they lacked training that would allow them to manage their jobs effectively); and lack of professional support (e.g., SLPs felt unrecognized, alienated from other staff, and misunderstood by the public and other professionals). Additionally, Fimian et al. noted two manifestations of stress: emotionalfatigue (i.e., depression, insecurity, fatigue, and anxiety) and biobehavioral (i.e., rapid,

and shallow breathing, heart pounding, and stomach cramps.) These sources of stress and manifestations collectively made up the general concept of SLP stress (Fimian et al., 1991).

Later, Harris, Prater, Dyches and Heath (2009) used the SLPSI to help determine why there was a shortage of SLPs in Utah. Their research revealed three specific areas of stress: caseload size, salary, and use of prescription drugs. Another study conducted by Edgar and Rosa-Lugo (2007) revealed that SLPs mostly enjoyed working with children, working in an educational setting, and working the school-based hours, but they did not like their workloads, role equivocality, and caseloads.

An article published online by Anderer (2019) revealed that an average employee feels stressed out for a third of their workday. The researchers surveyed 2,000 adults and found that the "modern employee" is more stressed than ever before—some have reached their "breaking point" (Anderer, 2019). Three of ten adults surveyed stated that they had been pushed to the brink of tears by workplace stress and one in five turned to alcohol for relief (Anderer, 2019). Stress is not all bad and everyone experiences it from time-totime. When too much stress is experienced, work can become unmanageable and workers can reach unhealthy levels of frustration; however, not all work stress is harmful. A healthy amount of stress may make some workers work better (Anderer, 2019).

# Compassion Satisfaction

There is an abundant amount of data on stress, burnout, and fatigue related to service workers; whereas, the data on compassion satisfaction is much sparser. Compassion satisfaction (CS) has been defined variously as "the joy of helping others" and the opposite of compassion fatigue (CF) (Galiana et al., 2020) or the "positive aspects/outcomes of helping or caring for others" (Hinderer et al., 2014; Stamm, 2010). Workers who present with high levels of CS scored themselves higher on the ProQOL 5 when answering questions such as:

- "I like my work as a helper"
- "My work makes me feel satisfied"
- "I am happy that I chose to do this work"

Compassion satisfaction has been positively related to self-care practices, mindfulness, self-compassion, and empathy (Galiana et al., 2020). Circumstances and environments that may contribute to compassion fatigue for some may not affect another worker in the same manner. The joy and satisfaction they receive from helping others far outweighs the negative circumstances and environments (Stamm, 2010). What makes one worker satisfied while another fatigued? Dasan, et al. (2015) desired to know the answer; therefore, they studied the potential causes and consequences of compassion satisfaction. The authors found that out of 681 emergency medicine workers, 98% reported at least "average" in compassion satisfaction on the ProQOL. Type of workplace (i.e., trauma centers scoring much higher) and number of years worked (i.e., gradually worsen over time, except at 20 years and above where it improved) were the areas associated with the highest scores (Dasan et al., 2015). The authors found the key features differentiating compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue included having strategies to deal with the stress of work and having positive views of the team of professionals with whom they worked (Dasan et al., 2015). Similarly, Hinderer et al. (2014) found compassion satisfaction to correlate with greater strength of supports including specialized training,

higher participation in exercise, use of meditation, and positive relationships with one's coworkers.

## **Compassion Fatigue**

Carla Joinson (1992) first used compassion fatigue to describe nurses who experienced a myriad of feelings including helplessness, anger, withdrawal, apathy, and depression. These, and similar, emotions may be felt as part of other syndromes such as stress, anxiety, or burnout and under various circumstances; however, compassion fatigue has been narrowed to affect the people who work in caregiving professions (Joinson, 1992). Caregivers perform many tasks depending on their specific occupation, but Joinson (1992) affirmed that the fundamental product they give is *themselves*. Giving of oneself can deplete resources needed to maintain personal physical and mental wellbeing. Oftentimes, workers in positions of caregiving do not have an awareness that they are experiencing compassion fatigue. They do not relate their forgetfulness, recurrent headaches, stomachaches, shorter attention spans, and/or frequent and intense anger with work situations to this syndrome (Joinson, 1992). Instead, they attribute their fatigue and headaches to a poor night's sleep and their forgetfulness to overstretched schedules. Joinson reported that these caregivers ignored the symptoms of compassion fatigue until they reached a point of such severity that they quickly became ill.

Possibly, the caregivers did not ignore the symptoms of compassion fatigue but instead were not aware that the condition existed or possibly they conflated it with burnout. The confusion between the two concepts is common in the literature. Some researchers have found burnout to be related to compassion fatigue, others have found it to be an antecedent to compassion fatigue, and yet others found it to be a consequence of compassion fatigue (Henson, 2020; Jenkins & Warren, 2012; Kelly & Todd, 2017; Klein et al., 2018). The term *burnout* is a more commonly used word to describe some of the same symptoms as exhibited with compassion fatigue, but one differentiation is that compassion fatigue is acute and burnout is chronic.

Burnout. Stress may lead to burnout, but in and of itself is not burnout. Psychologist, Herbert Fredenberger, first introduced the term burnout in 1974 in the article "Staff Burnout." He sought to determine whether certain personalities were more prone to burnout and which workers exhibited the characteristics of burnout. Fredenberger found that it was those workers who were dedicated and committed to the work of taking care of the needs of people that experienced burnout most often. These employees could easily be referred to as caregivers or service providers. Fredenberger (1974) explained that the physical symptoms of burnout were easily seen and included exhaustion, fatigue, inability to quickly recover from colds, frequent headaches and stomachaches, sleeplessness, and shortness of breath. Most of the behavioral signs are slightly more difficult for coworkers or family to see and may include suspicion, paranoia, use of prescription medications such as tranquilizers and barbiturates or selfmedications such as marijuana and alcohol (Freudenberger, 1974). The caregiver's thinking may become closed, negative, excessively rigid, stubborn, and inflexible which makes it hard for him/her to be reasoned with and for change to happen (Freudenberger, 1974). Often, the caregivers experiencing burnout may have lost their friends and possibly family members because they continued to increase their work hours to the point that their personal life outside of work ceased to exist (Freudenberger, 1974).

Secondary Traumatic Stress. The second component of compassion fatigue, in addition to burnout, is secondary traumatic stress. Secondary traumatic stress (STS) arises from exposure to other people who have experienced trauma firsthand. Secondary traumatic stress is a complex phenomenon that applies to paid workers (e.g., medical personnel, therapists, emergency workers, etc.) and volunteers (e.g., Red Cross responders, citizen volunteers, crisis responders, etc.) (Stamm, 2010). Some trauma at work may be direct (primary) meaning that it happened to someone personally, but STS happened to those who were exposed to or worked with the primary victim. They may have worked with them directly or simply heard their traumatic story such as with 911 dispatchers (Stamm, 2010). Either way, the worker experienced such difficulties as intrusive thoughts or images, fear, sleep complications, avoidance techniques, or anxiety (Kelly & Todd, 2017; Stamm, 2010). The responses to vicarious exposure of traumatic events prevent the worker from developing and maintaining caring relationships with coworkers and possibly family members (Kelly & Todd, 2017). Figley (1995b) explained that one of the costs of caring for clients is listening to their stories of fear, pain, and suffering. Some workers may lose a sense of themselves and take on the persona of their clients, especially those who easily show their feelings and easily express empathy (Figley, 1995b).

Workers who present with high levels of STS scored themselves higher on the ProQOL 5 when answering questions such as:

- "I am preoccupied with more than one person I help."
- "I jump or am startled by unexpected sounds."
- "I feel as though I am experiencing the trauma of someone I have helped."

*Compassion Fatigue vs Burnout*. Burnout and compassion fatigue are akin in many ways which can make it difficult to scientifically distinguish between the two concepts. Henson (2020) methodically compared the concepts of burnout and compassion fatigue to determine whether the two terms shared enough attributes for professionals to use the terms interchangeably or if they are separate conditions. Henson concluded that though both concepts shared related attributes, they are indeed separate conditions. The primary overlap between burnout and compassion fatigue was that both were experienced by service professionals (e.g., nurses, case workers, first responders, family caregivers, therapists, etc.). Other commonalities included decreased quality of care of clients/patients, reduced quality of personal and professional life, maintenance of communication with co-workers, clients, and families, anger, frustration, anxiety, and depression (Henson, 2020). However, burnout and compassion fatigue varied in their defining attributes as confirmed by model cases (Henson, 2020).

More distinctly, Henson (2020) found through research of the literature that compassion fatigue often occurred suddenly with little warning and resulted in abrupt behavioral deviations, whereas, burnout tended to occur over time with subtle changes in behaviors and personality. Emotional, physical, social, and spiritual exhaustion along with apathy toward patients were crucial symptoms for those experiencing compassion fatigue; while, moderate-to-high levels of emotional exhaustion and cynicism were fundamental for those experiencing burnout (Dugani et al., 2018; Henson, 2020). Lastly, those identified with compassion fatigue felt *helpless* after all their coping strategies had been exhausted; but, those identified with burnout felt *hopeless* after acknowledging their

65

obligations to patients and powerlessness to fulfill the obligations due to work-related bureaucracies (Clifford, 2014; Henson, 2020; Rushton et al., 2015).

Past and Current Theories/Research on Related Professional Fields

Theories found throughout the emotional labor literature depended on the emphasis of the studies on constructs such as job characteristics, occupational differences, display rules, emotional regulation, and emotional dissonance (Diefendorff & Gosserand, 2003). Hochschild (1983) discussed the intricacies of two basic theories of emotion in *The Managed Heart*: an organismic model and an interactional model. The organismic model from the works of Charles Darwin, William James, and Sigmund Freud, defined emotion primarily as a biological process (motored by instinct) and assumed to be present whether one is aware of it or not (Hochschild, 1983, 2003). Furthermore, Hochschild described the interactional model, from the works of John Dewey, Hans Gerth and C. Wright, and Erving Goffman, as emotion always involving a biological component, but the main component is the meaning that psychological processes employ. In short, the interactional theorists view emotion as open-ended and the organismic theorists view emotion as fixed (Hochschild, 1983, 2003). Hochschild developed a new social theory of emotion that had both a social and a psychological component drawing from parts of all the noted theorists and her own beliefs and findings. Her driving question, "How do institutions control how we 'personally' control feeling?" led her to an understanding that emotion is a sense that requires *action* and *cognition*. Hochschild believed that personalities are not simply "sold" but people actively manage their feelings in an attempt to "fit" into public-contact work.

Grandey (2000) posited that the way employees managed their feelings was by regulating their emotions. Grandey applied the emotion regulation theory, developed by Gross (1998), to emotional labor. Emotion regulation theory is defined as "the processes by which individuals influence which emotions they have, when they have them, and how they experience and express these emotions" (Gross, 1998, p. 275). According to Gross's emotion regulation theory, emotions may be regulated at five different points of an interaction: selection of the situation (choosing which situations one will emotionally respond to), modification of the situation (change the situation one is currently in), deployment of attention (change how one is attending to a situation they are currently in by shifting or modifying the goal perceived), change of cognitions (change the way one is thinking about a situation they are experiencing), and modulation of responses (modifying the physiological or behavioral response to a situation). Gross noted that the reason people should and do regulate their emotions (experiential, behavioral and physiological responses) is to change or modify the consequences of the interaction for themselves and for others (黄海娟, 2014; YouTube, 2014; Gross, 1998).

Schaubroeck and Jones (2000) examined a psychological approach to emotional labor by looking at job demands within the work environment and found that workers either express or suppress emotion to meet the demands of the job. A short time later, Brotheridge and Lee (2002) used Hobfoll's conservation of resources (COR) theory to examine outcomes of emotional labor such as burnout and stress. According to the COR theory, people are motivated to build, retain, and protect their resources (i.e., objects, personal characteristics, conditions, or energies) and those things that threaten the resources gained produce stress for the persons (Hobfoll, 1989). Workers manage their emotions and stress by attempting to minimize the net loss of their resources by replacing the loss—either directly or symbolically—substituting for the loss, reinterpreting the loss as a challenge, or reevaluating the value of specific resources to lessen the loss and reduce the stress associated with it (Hobfoll, 1989). Researchers of emotional labor have used the COR theory to frame their emotional labor research (Aziz et al., 2019; Brotheridge & Lee, 2002; Sayre et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2018).

Definition and Theories Behind Display Rules

"Central to all theories of emotional labor is the idea that individuals follow emotional display rules that specify the appropriate expression of emotions on the job" (Diefendorff & Richard, 2003, p.284).

In Hochschild's book, *The Managed Heart*, feeling rules are described as standards used in emotional exchanges. The exchange was compared to currency:

...to determine what is rightly owed and owing in the currency of feeling. Through them, we tell what is "due" in each relation, each role. We pay tribute to each other in the currency of the managing act. In interaction we pay, overpay, play with paying, acknowledge our dues, pretend to pay, or acknowledge what is emotionally due another person. In these ways...we make our try at sincere civility. (Hochschild, 1983, p.18)

It is in that space between "what one feels" and "what one perceives one should feel" that people depend on feeling rules to guide them. These may be consciously or unconsciously recognized, but are defined by the society in which a person lives or works (Hochschild, 1983). For example, one's gender, religious beliefs, and societal class can dictate which feeling rules they follow. People remind themselves and each other of the *proper* feeling rules and the actions that accompany the feelings, such as when a mother says to her daughter, "Smile and speak as we enter into the room and join the party." If rules are broken, people remind one another either subtly or directly by saying such things as: "You should be ashamed of yourself." "You have no right to be mad." "Hey, is this not a wonderful party?" and "I know you are so happy about this opportunity." (Hochschild, 1983) Hochschild made a distinction between the "falseness" and "wrongness" of a feeling. She explained that "falseness" referred to a discrepancy between what *is* felt and thought and what *appeared* to be felt and thought and what *should* be felt and thought (Hochschild, 1983).

How is one to know what is expected to be felt, thought, or acted upon? Organizations have "expressed" and "implied" guidelines for employee behavior that are aligned with the job position(s) the employee holds (Mesmer-Magnus et al., 2012). These guidelines are developed with strict expectations of what are acceptable and unacceptable behaviors/emotions that may be displayed while at work (Mesmer-Magnus et al., 2012).

Rafaeli and Sutton (1987) proposed a conceptual framework to guide theory development regarding the causes, qualities, and consequences of emotions that workers expressed to fulfill the role expectations of the job. The framework included role expectations about emotional expressions, the range of such emotional expressions, and the influence these expressions have on organizations and workers (Rafaeli & Sutton, 1987). Rafaeli and Sutton posited that emotions can be arranged on a continuum ranging from positive, through neutral, to negative and that those expressed emotions reinforce the workers' self-esteem. For example, some occupations require workers to support others (e.g., social workers, teachers, therapists, etc.); some to remain neutral (e.g., judges, referees, etc.); and, others to reduce the self-esteem of others (e.g., military sergeants, poker players, bill collectors, etc.) (Rafaeli & Sutton, 1987). Though the authors stated that this theoretical framework was not perfect, it was a foundational structure for others to build upon.

Ashforth and Humphrey (1993) agreed with Rafaeli and Sutton (1987) that feeling rules should be called "display rules" because the norms are displayed through surface acting, deep acting, or genuine emotion. It is the behavior or the compliance with the display rules rather than the employees' feelings that the clients, customers, students, etc., observe. The employee may conform with the organizations' display rules without managing their feelings. Ashforth and Humphrey made it clear that societal display rules differ in degree and kind from occupational/organizational display norms.

Progress continued from 1985 when Hochschild brought to light emotional labor in the view of feeling rules; however, after fifteen years of continued research, an overarching framework to guide the research had not been established. Grandey (2000) proposed emotion regulation as a guiding theory for understanding and explaining how emotional labor may be stressful to workers, yet beneficial to the organizations. Emotion regulation theory was defined as "the processes by which individuals influence which emotions they have, when they have them, and how they experience and express these emotions" (Gross, 1998, p.275). According to the emotion regulation theory, people regulate their emotions at different points in the emotional process (Grandey, 2000). Grandey presented an example of the work setting where the employee experiences an event that evokes an emotional response (e.g., anger, sadness, anxiety) and the inappropriate behavioral response follows (e.g., verbal attack, crying, complaining); however, because the display rules state that such behavioral responses are inappropriate, the worker regulates his/her response. These *regulations* transpire using emotional labor strategies of surface acting or deep acting. For example, the employee simply fakes the regulated response by changing facial expressions or body language or instead adjusts their thought patterns to reassess the situation and then react with a more appropriate response (Grandey, 2000).

*Display Rules and Service Professions*. The role that emotions play in the workplace have been studied for years by researchers; however, around the turn of the century, data emerged regarding display rules with the focus on emotional labor (Diefendorff & Richard, 2003). The competitive work setting caused management to focus on how employees talked and acted toward the customers and co-workers and, most of all, how that affected sales, team decisions, therapy outcomes, student success, and patient satisfaction (Diefendorff & Richard, 2003). But the question remained, "Are these controlled emotional reactions different for specific professions?" Zerbe and Falkenberg (1989) found that the norm strength for display rules was greater for service occupations (e.g., nurse, flight attendant) than for nonservice occupations (e.g., shipping clerk, janitor). Newberry (2013) noted Hebson, Earnshaw, & Marchington's (2007) research that reported that teachers engaged in surface acting to conform to display rules rather than relying on their own judgment when being monitored.

### Emotional Labor and Service-Related Professions

Hochschild (1983) reported that of the twelve standard occupational groups used by the U.S. Census, half of them contained jobs that required emotional labor. Hochschild's prediction that the requirement for service-related professions would continue to grow was accurate. Brotheridge and Lee (2003) reviewed the literature while developing an instrument for measuring emotional labor and found a cross-section of occupations that required the use of emotional labor: nurses, hospital workers, debt collectors, waiters and waitresses, cashiers, and Disney employees. This list of professionals has continued to expand. A review of the literature from 2013-2018 indicated additional occupations such as: teachers, hotel workers, sales and call center employees, dental hygienists, toll collectors, researchers, and bank employers (Aung & Tewogbola, 2019). This increase in service-oriented jobs from production-oriented jobs has led to an increase in the use of emotional labor as evidenced by the studies that positively associated emotional labor with an increase in perceived quality of services by the recipients (Aung & Tewogbola, 2019). Emotional labor is such a strong component of some service-related jobs (e.g., social workers, emergency medical workers, therapists) that if these professionals did not engage in emotional labor, they could be considered unprofessional. For instance, if a police officer showed fear during an arrest or a therapist cried in the presence of a client, they could be viewed as acting improperly or incompetently.

For the purposes of this research, the theoretical framework for the construct of emotional labor was primarily based on Hochschild's (1983) foundational principles and Grandey's (2000) description of display rules and emotional regulation. The principles from the conservation of resources theory (Hobfoll, 1989) were applied to the construct of stress and occupational settings.

### Speech-Language Pathologists

The speech-language pathologist (SLP) is defined as "the professional who engages in professional practice in the areas of communication and swallowing across the life span" (ASHA, 2016). More specifically, SLPs diagnose and treat people of all ages who exhibit disorders related to articulation, receptive and expressive language, reading, writing, processing, cognition, feeding, swallowing, voice, resonance, dysfluency, hearing, and overall academic performance of students. SLPs who received a master's degree or doctoral degree, completed postgraduate professional experience, and passed the national examination are eligible to hold the Certificate of Clinical Competence (CCC). Certified SLPs (those who have obtained the CCC) are responsible for practicing within a well-defined scope of practice-written display rules-set forth by the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (ASHA) (ASHA, 2016). ASHA (2016) presented eight domains of speech-language pathology service delivery: collaboration; counseling; prevention and wellness, screening; assessment; treatment; modalities, technology, and instrumentation; and population and systems. Additionally, ASHA (2016) delineated five domains of professional practice: advocacy and outreach, supervision, education, research and administration/leadership. The field has grown since its first recognition in 1926. ASHA expects SLPs to provide safe and effective services as they stay current with the advances in the field as technology and science advances. "The highest standards of integrity and ethical conduct are held paramount in this profession" (ASHA, 2016, p. 4).

An SLP should practice only in the areas in which he/she is competent, based on their education, training, and experience; therefore, he/she does not typically practice in all areas of clinical service (ASHA, 2016). SLPs are expected to collaborate with other

SLPs who have expertise in different areas as well as with other professionals such as teachers, medical doctors, administrators, etc. to aid in improving quality of life. SLPs are expected to understand personal factors of their clients including, but not limited to, age, gender, ethnicity, educational level, social background, and profession to provide high quality services (ASHA, 2016). The SLP can expect to counsel individuals, families, and caregivers regarding acceptance and decisions made regarding their disability. One role of the SLP includes conducting counseling related to "emotional reactions, thoughts, feelings, and behaviors" that result from living with a disorder under the SLP's scope of practice (ASHA, 2016). Another role of the SLP includes prevention and wellness which is done through educating the concerned parties and involvement directed toward individuals who are vulnerable. The SLP leads and promotes programs which are "aimed to positively change behaviors or attitudes" (ASHA, 2016, p.10). In general, SLPs are expected to have a set of skills and knowledge that extend beyond the clinical practice (ASHA, 2016). These skills and knowledge may be viewed as commodities or services that can be "sold" for a wage. Employment of SLPs is projected to grow 29% from 2020 to 2030 according to the U.S. Bureau of Labor which is much faster than the average for occupations. Over the ten years, the growth would mean about 15,200 openings for SLPs each year (BLS, 2021).

The median annual wage of an SLP is \$80,480 according to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2020). SLPs worked in a wide variety of occupational settings; however, 53.5% of the SLP population worked in educational facilities and 39.9% worked in health care facilities in 2020 (ASHA, 2021). *Educational Setting.* Approximately 85,000 working SLPs are employed in educational facilities (ASHA, 2021). This includes special schools, preschools, elementary schools, secondary schools, several schools, and colleges/universities (ASHA, 2021). SLPs have a unique role in educating students such as helping them meet federal, state, and local performance standards while functioning in their least restrictive environment (Amir et al., 2021). SLPs may pull students to work one-on-one with them or in small groups depending on the type of service needed. However, the school-based SLP's job responsibilities have morphed into over 15 different roles including obligations such as assessment, caseload management, evaluation, counseling, research, advocacy, program design, compliance, parent training, mentorship, professional development, research, prevention, intervention, and collaboration with other school professionals (ASHA, 2010).

Researchers examined SLPs' job satisfaction and found them moderately to highly satisfied within their profession (Amir et al., 2021; Blood et al., 2002; Caesar & Nelson, 2008; Kaegi et al., 2002). Amir (2021) found the highest levels of satisfaction included benefits, resources, workspace, interprofessional opportunities, and compensation. Blood et al. (2002) reported that SLPs value their jobs and feel they make positive contributions to their professional field.

However, there are common themes throughout the literature regarding unsolved issues within the school-based SLP setting. Blood et al. (2002) speculated that SLPs in schools compared themselves to the other school professionals and perceived pay inequalities and fewer opportunities for advancement within the school setting. Another ongoing concern for school-based SLPs is workload/caseload size. Blood et al. (2002) found that the larger caseload sizes aided in the prediction of lower job satisfaction. Marante and Farquharson (2021) noted that "SLPs nationwide are being asked to work with caseloads that are larger, more culturally diverse, than ever before" (p. 666). The larger number of students on caseload, billing, and legal mandated paperwork (e.g., Individual Educational Programs (IEPs), assessment reports, therapy documentation, etc.) lead to an increased amount of paperwork for the SLPs in the school setting. Blood et al., (2002) surveyed 655 certified practicing SLPs and found paperwork (82%) to be the top stressor. Most of the paperwork required of the SLP is completed without support. Only 15% of the SLPs surveyed by Harris et al., (2009) reported that they had support personnel to help reduce the burden of paperwork. These and other occupational stressors have contributed to the "shortage of qualified applicants," and the students feel the greatest impact (Caesar & Nelson, 2008; Squires, 2013).

*Health Care Setting.* Approximately 64,000 working SLPs are employed in health care/medical facilities (ASHA, 2021). This includes hospitals, residential facilities, and non-residential facilities (i.e., home health care, private physician's offices, speech and hearing centers, etc.) (ASHA, 2021). The SLP working in the medical setting is required to have state licensure in the state(s) where they practice. SLPs working in medical settings have the responsibility to provide unique behavioral and physiological approaches when assessing and treating patients with communication deficits, feeding/swallowing problems, and dementia (Golper et al., 2019). Typically, these professionals work with infants, children, and adults through physician referrals. Their primary goal in all conditions is to contribute to improving the health and well-being of the patient during their stay (Golper et al., 2019). It is essential for the SLP to work as a

team member in the medical setting since they work with hundreds of various medical professionals (Golper et al., 2019).

Randolph (2005) studied rehabilitation professionals, including SLPs, and discovered that intrinsic factors such as professional growth, recognition of accomplishments, opportunities for professional contribution, and working in environments with like beliefs were reasons for the professionals to stay in the workplaces. These intrinsic factors outweighed the extrinsic factors such as pay and continuing education (Randolph, 2005).

Kalkhoff and Collins (2012) compared SLPs who worked in schools to those who worked in medical settings across the United States and found that the SLPs who worked in the medical settings had significantly higher overall satisfaction scores. This was comparable to other medical professionals such as physicians and nurses (Kalkhoff & Collins, 2012). According to the authors, SLPs in medical settings were satisfied with promotions, incentives, operating conditions, and closeness with co-workers. The most challenging issues in the medical setting included time constraints with patients, specific training opportunities, and high caseloads (Gormley & Light, 2019; Randolph, 2005). *Display Rules for SLPs* 

Display rules are ordinarily substantiated through guidance from employers through supervisors or managers. They may be expressed verbally in organizational trainings or in written format such as in handbooks, documents, or textbooks, but all are expressed to dictate the emotions that employees should express behaviorally while at work (Gosserand & Diefendorff, 2005; Kruml & Geddes, 2000; Leidner, 1999). ASHA's 18-page document—scope of practice in speech language pathology—is publicly available and all SLPs are expected to read it and conform to its contents. It was developed by the ASHA ad hoc committee on the scope of practice in speech-language pathology and approved by the board of directors on February 4, 2016. All organizations that employ SLPs expect them to obey ASHA's code of ethics in addition to any specific organizational rules.

It is not only the National Association for SLPs (ASHA) that have provided guidance to SLPs on the expectations related to stated rules, but also included are organizations such as the World Health Organization, U.S. Department of Education, State Department of Education, etc. Additionally, federal legislation such as the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) of 2001 (PL 107-110) and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (IDEA) of 2004 (PL 108-446) provided rules/laws for SLPs. IDEA of 2004 explicitly defined speech-language therapy in section 15. The definition included that SLPs should identify, diagnose, refer, and counsel those who have disabilities within their scope of practice. Lastly, public documents and books such as the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders V (DSM-5), the SLP's Handbook for Inclusive School Practices by Causton & Tracy-Bronson (2014), and the Professional Communication in Speech-Language Pathology: How to Write, Talk, and Act Like a *Clinician* Fourth Ed. by Burrus and Willis (2022) guide the profession of speechlanguage pathology through their framework of display rules. Burrus and Willis stated that people in the speech-language pathology major have about three years to transform from student to competent professional. The authors gave a myriad of examples of what "professionalism" in the field of speech-language pathology looks like to reinforce the expectations of display rules. Because professionalism is not just about how clients and

other professionals perceive SLPs; it is about what and how the clients feel about themselves (Burrus & Willis, 2022).

Though no data were found linking the term *emotional labor* directly to SLPs, the literature is clear that the professional is expected to work well with others within the organization employed to meet the needs of the clients. For example, SLPs should collaborate with general education teachers to provide inclusion services, write Individual Educational Programs (IEPs), and serve on multi-disciplinary teams in making decisions regarding related services. SLPs are expected to work alongside physicians, nurses, and families in the medical setting when making decisions regarding services. All the while, they must present themselves as "neatly groomed, pleasant, prepared, and working in an orderly physical setting" (Burrus & Willis, 2022, p. 4).

SLPs are assumed to experience emotional labor, stress, compassion satisfaction, and compassion fatigue simply by working alongside the variety and quantity of fellow professionals with the high expectations to "practice at the top of the license" as stated by Alex Johnson at the 2012 ASHA convention (McNeilly, 2018). The display rules are clear that SLPs are to provide services regarding self-management skills to clients and their families; therefore, it is reasonable to expect SLPs to have the same skills they are teaching (ASHA, 2016; McNeilly, 2018). Such stated rules as using a child's chair when sitting beside a child, encouraging peer support, offering maximum support at the beginning of therapy and decreasing professional support as the client improves, modeling the desired skill/behavior, providing only positive comments to students, and helping the client to "feel like everyone else" socially requires emotional labor for the therapists to follow the job-related rules (McNeilly, 2018).

Lastly, regardless of occupational setting, therapists will encounter

clients/students who exhibit difficult behavior. McNeilly (2018), in the SLP Handbook,

quoted Lovett (1996) who described the typical response to challenging behavior:

Our initial response to an unwanted behavior is to react, to correct what we perceive to be unacceptable, inappropriate behavior. The thinking behind this perception is that the person exhibiting the behavior has lost control and that those who are in charge—in control—are responsible for regaining it through the application of methods and technologies specifically designed for this purpose (p.136).

The therapist is left to perform surface acting (e.g., smile and gently couch the person away from the disruption), deep acting (e.g., use skills and techniques learned from specific trainings that are proven to work and one believes will work), or genuine acting (e.g., protect the client from harm because that is the highest concern at the moment) in order to follow the display rules provided for them.

#### SLP Compassion Satisfaction

To date, a systematic analysis of SLPs' compassion satisfaction has not been found in the literature. Compassion satisfaction could easily be confused with and connected to job satisfaction; however, it remains a separate construct with similar elements. Job satisfaction is "the degree to which people like their jobs" (Spector, 1977, p.vii), whereas compassion satisfaction is "the pleasure you derive from being able to do your work well" (Stamm, 2010, p.12). As defined in the Merriam-Webster online dictionary (n.d.) compassion is the sympathetic consciousness of others' distress together with a desire to alleviate it. Certainly, SLPs feel compassion in their selected field of study and setting (Kindred, 2014). Kindred (2014) listed twelve traits that are needed to be an SLP. The first, compassion, described SLPs in all work settings. Kindred Hospital Rehabilitation Services (2014) stated that SLPs practice patience and compassion every day while working with clients. The foundation of the chosen career itself indicated a sense of resilience and deep aspiration to serve people (Kindred Hospital Rehabilitation Services, 2014). However, it is not only the desire to help, but the persistence to treat patients to increase their quality of life that build a professional SLP. A speech-language pathologist must perform to receive the multitude of benefits—compassion satisfaction—from the profession.

Radey and Figley (2007) introduced a model for creating compassion satisfaction in clinical social workers that suggested that dispositional *affect* (personality, emotion, feelings), *work resources*, and *self-care* influenced clinicians' emotionally whether positively or negatively. Applying this model to SLPs can help bring SLPs' compassion satisfaction to the forefront since the three constructs have drawn attention from various researchers.

Weiss and Cropanzano (1996) posited that job satisfaction and affective experiences were two separate phenomena and should be studied as such. They understood that the two had overlapping causes and consequences; however, the affective component that created satisfaction referred to the feelings the employees' produced because of their attitudes (Weiss & Cropanzano, 1996). The affective events theory, as described by Weiss and Cropanzano, focused on the dynamic between emotion, behavior, and performance (Ashkanasy et al., 2005). If it is these affective experiences that motivate the behavior at the workplace, the SLPs may experience compassion

81

satisfaction—the joy and pleasure from doing a job well—through their moods, reactions to others, and job performances.

Amir et al. (2021) studied the unmet need for qualified SLPs in New York City and reported the highest satisfaction areas to be working with their students and enjoying the work resources available to them such as opportunities to collaborate with other professionals, workspace, and benefits. SLPs who work in the schools can work with administrators, general education teachers, special education teachers, and other SLPs to help build their professional repertoire. A professional learning community (PLC) is a group of professionals who join to solve problems about teaching and SLPs are equipped to be a valuable part of that group (Rudebusch & Wiechmann, 2013). Those who work in the medical setting have physicians, nurses, rehabilitation personnel, etc. to help build their professional repertoire. Therefore, compassion satisfaction can be established though the resource of collaborating with other professionals regardless of the SLPs' occupational setting.

Fringe benefits vary for SLPs depending on where they work. Kalkhoff and Collins (2012) studied SLPs who worked in the school and medical settings and found that most of the SLPs in their study (51%) were highly satisfied with their jobs; with those in the medical setting more so than those in the school setting. Pay, promotions, benefits, contingent rewards, operating conditions, coworkers, nature of work, and communication impacted the satisfaction decision (Kalkhoff & Collins, 2012). "Nature of the work" was given the highest rating by all SLPs which may be directly linked to compassion satisfaction or feeling that their jobs were well-done (Kalkhoff & Collins, 2012).

82

Finally, Radey and Figley's (2007) model says that self-care should be a part of compassion satisfaction. It may be difficult to manage one's own care while caring for others for extended periods of time. McNeilly (2018) reminded the reader that the job of the SLP is not easy and that the job satisfaction and compassion fatigue may vary from day to day; therefore, it is essential that the worker take care of himself/herself. McNeilly suggested that SLPs engage in self-care by securing a support system and networking. This self-care is compared to putting the oxygen mask on yourself first before helping others in the context of an airline flight.

Grandey et al. (2012) described the benefits of having a climate of authenticity or a group with shared perception of concerning values—acceptance of negative emotions that gave the workers opportunities to recover from depleted emotional resources due to the use of emotional labor. It is a way for workers to genuinely share their frustrations and concerns with one another without fear, taking a "break" from using surface acting techniques. Using a "climate of authenticity" is one way workers take care of themselves and accept support from their co-workers (A. Grandey et al., 2012). The workers may feel rejuvenated after sharing their real thoughts in a safe environment and therefore able to give more of themselves to clients.

Again, there were no data found in the theoretical and empirical literature reviewed specifically concerning SLPs and compassion satisfaction. But, audiologists often work alongside speech-language pathologists as many of the patients have similar disabilities. Severn, et al. (2012) conducted a study among audiologists and found that only 25% of them showed high levels of compassion satisfaction. Within that 25%, those who had a private practice tended to have higher levels of compassion satisfaction. However, Severn et al. (2012) noted that as the therapists aged, the level of compassion satisfaction decreased which is the opposite of the findings of Dasan et al. (2015) who noted that after 20 years in the service field, compassion satisfaction improved. Severn et al. (2012) discussed an unusual finding in their study: a positive correlation between compassion satisfaction and burnout. They sensed that the correlation was a result of what Stamm explained in 2002—some workers retain their self-sacrificing desire to help when working in stressful situations. An interesting observation was that Severn et al. (2012) believed that this relationship of compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue may be unique to the audiology profession, leaving the speech-language pathology profession under-researched.

### SLP Compassion Fatigue

As with other service professions, therapists within the speech language pathology profession are at risk for compassion fatigue (Williams, 2019). These behaviors and emotions (e.g., feeling emotionally drained, depressed, isolated socially, etc.) are the result from the stress experienced as a result from helping or wanting to help clients who are in distress (Figley, 1995b).

Williams (2019) reported that compassion fatigue was the cost of SLPs and other service professionals caring too much. Williams (2019) warned SLPs to be aware of the physical, emotional, social, spiritual, and intellectual signs of compassion fatigue. The physical signs included loss of endurance, strength or energy; the emotional signs ranged from reduced enthusiasm to complete shut down and desire to quit; the social signs included inability to share the patients' suffering and provide needed support; the spiritual signs included poor judgment and the ability to look at one's own feelings; and the intellectual signs included boredom and the inability to stay on task (Williams, 2019). *Quality of Services Rendered* 

According to Prior (2016), achieving relationship quality can be stressful but is essential to customer outcomes. Though Prior took a marketing approach to his research, this same understanding could be applied to other service professions—those who sell a service instead of a product. Consumer satisfaction surveys are common in the medical arena and provide client feedback that alert providers to clients' concerns, needs, and perception of treatment (Weisman & Koch, 1989). It is important to the organizations that the patients are happy and satisfied with the services received. It is the patients' satisfaction that keeps them returning to a facility. Pershey and Reese (2002) examined client satisfaction with speech-language therapy services and noted that specific dimensions of quality of care that clients expect included features such as access to services, responsiveness of staff, low cost, professional conduct and competence, referral sources, etc.

Does emotional labor influence the quality of the services rendered by SLPs? A search of the literature did not reveal answers to this question; however, it remains of interest because it is reasonable to surmise that SLPs who feel the need to use surface acting for extended periods of time may be unable to perform at the "top of the license" as stated by Alex Johnson (2012). It is a topic worthy of further exploration in a world where quality care, quality improvement, and total quality management are part of the value of service (Frattali, 1991).

85

#### Summary

Research indicates that service workers use emotional labor strategies to meet the needs of customers or clients and to meet the requirements of the organization that hired them. Service workers primarily used two strategies: surface acting and deep acting. Additionally, some researchers found that workers exhibited genuine actions in addition to surface acting and deep acting. Research on emotional labor began with Hochschild's (1983) interviewing Delta Airline attendants, but the construct quickly expanded over the next four decades. The intricate details of emotional labor from numerous authors varied; however, all agreed that it is a real concept and has impacted the service workers either positively or negatively.

The examination of emotional labor from researchers, scholars, and associates have led to many conclusions as it has continued to grow and develop, but Grandey (2013) narrowed the results to three approaches: occupational requirements, emotional displays, and intrapsychic processes. A thorough researcher should integrate all three approaches to fully understand the concept and to have true emotional labor emerge (Grandey, 2013).

In addition to emotional labor, occupational stress has been well-documented in the literature. Numerous disorders emerge due to occupational stress such as posttraumatic stress disorder, secondary post-traumatic stress disorder, burnout, adjustment disorders, etc. (Chirico, 2015). Many variables play into occupational stress including personality, stress management techniques, and empathy. The cost of caring for those whom one serves and works alongside may be a high emotional or behavioral price to pay for some service workers. Fimian et al. (1991) developed and validated an instrument to measure speech-language pathologists' occupational stress. The instrument was designed to reveal sources of stress and manifestations of stress in the SLP.

Lastly, compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue can result from the use of emotional labor strategies. Figley first described compassion fatigue in 1995 and the literature has overflowed with evidence of its impact on service workers. Compassion fatigue is comprised of burnout and secondary traumatic stress. Compassion satisfaction is the other side of compassion fatigue and has been proven to positively affect service workers giving them a sense of joy and completeness in their work (Stamm, 2010).

One service occupation that has been grossly overlooked in the research community is speech-language pathology. SLPs primarily work in school settings or medical settings and with clients of all ages. In the work of Fimian et al. (1991), the SLPs reported having experienced stress in the workplace; therefore, it is likely that these professionals utilize emotional labor strategies to compensate for the effects of the stress. It is unknown whether the use of surface acting, deep acting, or genuine display of emotions differs from setting to setting for the SLP.

#### CHAPTER III – METHOD

The purpose of this quantitative study was to evaluate speech-language pathologists' (SLPs) experiences regarding professional emotional labor and the extent to which emotional labor is possibly related to job stress, compassion satisfaction, and compassion fatigue (i.e., burnout and secondary traumatic stress). This study also considered the SLPs' occupational settings in relationship to emotional labor and the outcome variables of the study.

# **Research Questions**

RQ1: Which strategy of emotional labor (Surface Acting, Deep Acting, Genuine Emotion) is most often utilized by speech-language pathologists?

RQ2: What do SLPs identify as the primary sources and manifestations of occupational stress within the profession of speech-language pathology?

RQ3: Does reported frequency of use of a specific Emotional Labor Strategy (Surface Acting, Deep Acting, or Genuine Emotions) correlate with reported experienced Compassion Satisfaction or Compassion Fatigue?

RQ4: Does the SLPs' occupational setting make a difference in type of emotional labor strategy (Surface Acting, Deep Acting, Genuine Emotion) used?

## Participants

The population of interest consisted of speech-language pathologists (SLPs) working in the United States. For this study, the sample consisted of those who were certified members of the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (ASHA). ASHA represented 218,314 members and affiliates (i.e., audiologists; speech-language pathologists: speech, language, and hearing scientists; audiology and speech-language pathology support personnel; and members of the National Student Speech Language Hearing Association) at the year-end of 2020 (American Speech-Language-Hearing Association, [ASHA], 2021). Between January 1–December 31, 2020, 188,143 SLPs made up 86% of the total ASHA membership. ASHA (2021) reported that 98.8% of the SLPs were certified members. Only SLPs who were certified members of the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association were eligible to participate in the survey. ASHA members who did not hold a certification, held a dual certification (i.e., audiology and speech-language pathology), were associates (i.e., support personnel), or were affiliates were not be eligible for participation in the survey. Limiting those eligible to participate in the survey to only certified SLPs members of ASHA established a clearer target population, and a clearer target population, in turn, increased the generalizability of the sample to the ASHA certified SLP population (Ruel et al., 2016).

Probability sampling was based on a few selected criteria (i.e., ASHA certified SLPs) and each certified SLP had the same chance of being selected into the final sample (Ruel et al., 2016). The probability sampling was chosen to increase the opportunity for generalizable results (Ruel et al., 2016).

The members of the sample were representative of the entire population of ASHA certified SLPs as identified by a current list, sampling frame, obtained from the ASHA Community website (ASHA, 2021; Ruel et al., 2016). The informational survey postings of the study with a link to the questionnaire was posted on pertinent ASHA Community pages (i.e., Clinicians & Researchers Collaborating, Research, School-Based Issues etc.) to minimize coverage error and aid in reaching the maximum number of certified SLPs within the United States (Ruel et al., 2016). All SLPs who received a link to the

questionnaire via email had equal opportunity to voluntarily respond through Qualtrics with their identity remaining unknown to the researcher.

Research question one and research question two were descriptive by nature and required central tendency, variance, standard deviation, and frequency analyses from the data collected. The recommended sample size of 271 participants was obtained when given a 5% margin of error, 90% confidence level, 50% response distribution, and a population of 188,143 according to Raosoft<sup>®</sup> sample size calculator (Raosoft, Inc., 2004). The model for this study included 11 measured indicators and one categorical variable. Using the recommended standards stated by Loehlin (1992) and Stevens (2009), the total sample size for this study would be between 146–180. The ASHA membership of certified speech-language pathologists is extensively more than the required sample size. A large number of participants, at least 200 subjects, would minimize random sampling error and help establish a normal distribution (Kish, 1965; Ruel et al., 2016).

#### Instruments

Three previously validated instruments were used in this study in addition to the demographic information needed to answer the research question regarding SLPs' occupational setting.

# Emotional Labor Scale

Most emotional labor theories connect display rules to emotional labor strategies claiming that it is the "display rules" that set the organizational standards regarding how their employees should express appropriate emotions (Diefendorff et al., 2005). The literature review revealed that the two primary compensatory strategies that employees used were surface acting (SA) and deep acting (DA); however, Diefendorff et al. sought to determine whether the display of naturally-felt emotions could be distinguished empirically from SA and DA. In the 2005 study, Diefendorff et al. modified previously used emotional labor scales (see Grandey, 2003; Kruml & Geddes 2000, for more detail) by adding new items that would help provide scientific evidence as to whether employees utilized naturally felt emotions at work in addition to SA and DA. Diefendorff et al. conducted a pilot study and a focal study on SA, DA, and the expression of naturally felt emotions scales to cross-validate the final factor solution obtained in the focal study. Confirmatory factor analysis supported a three-factor structure that suggested surface acting, deep acting, and the expression of naturally felt emotions are three separate constructs and thus these three were used in the study.

Diefendorff et al. (2005) included 14 emotional labor strategy items in the questionnaire in Appendix A of their article *The Dimensionality and Antecedents of Emotional Labor Strategies* published in the Journal of Vocational Behavior. They included the factor loadings for the primary- and cross-validation sample for each item. Additionally, they published 7 display rule items and 7 interpersonal interaction items in Appendix B of the same article. Each item on both questionnaires used a 5-point Likert response scale (1 = "Strongly Disagree"; 5 = "Strongly Agree"). Diefendorff, et al. did not describe a total score; instead, they linked specific items to each of the three emotional labor strategies, with higher numbers indicating increased use of the specific emotional labor strategy linked to the item. Diefendorff, the primary author of the study, gave permission to use both scales (i.e., both the emotional labor strategy items and the display rule and interpersonal interaction items) for this doctoral study via email, the researcher only used the emotional labor strategy items. See Appendix B. These 14

emotional labor strategy items aided in addressing RQ1 regarding frequency of use of specific emotional labor strategies by SLPs, RQ3 in conjunction with the Professional Quality of Life Scale (ProQOL) regarding correlation of emotional labor and compassion satisfaction/compassion fatigue, and RQ4 regarding the occupational setting of SLPs.

Diefendorff et al. cross-validated their scale by using two separate sample groups from the same population. The authors' first group of participants consisted of 270 employed undergraduate students at a large Southeastern university who worked in jobs such as sales, service, healthcare, childcare, and clerical (Diefendorff et al., 2005). The mean age of the participants was 20.4, and 76% were female. The authors' second group of participants consisted of 179 individuals working in "people work," consistent with the first sample group. The participants' average age was 27.7 years, and 78% were female (Diefendorff et al., 2005). The authors reported the student population as a limitation to consider in future research as the results may differ from non-student populations. This population limitation is considerable; however, after Diefendorff et al. published the scale, many others in the field have made considerable efforts to validate it for other populations. The following populations have had the emotional labor scale items validated for them:

Çukur (2009) established construct validity of the Teacher Emotional Labor Scale (TELS) using items from the emotional labor scale by Diefendorff et al., (2005) because many of the items were initially from other emotional labor measures. The sample for this study consisted of 190 high school teachers from various schools in Turkey (88 females and 102 males) with average work experience of 17.14 years.

92

- Lam, Huo, and Chen (2018) investigated person-job fit and person-organization fit perceptions and relate these perceptions to employees' emotional labor and customer service performance using the SA and DA items on the emotional labor scale developed by Diefendorff et al., (2005). The sample for this study consisted of 263 employees from a five-star hotel in China who had a mean age of 26.9 years. Almost 60% of the sample had educational degrees at the vocational college level or higher.
- Yang, Chen, and Zhao (2019) developed the Chinese version of the emotional labor scale which considered the cultural differences in China compared to the United States. The final sample used in the development of this scale included 403 employees from a bank, port office, and hospital) who were mostly under 30 years old and 42% of them had a bachelor degree or above. Yang et al., (2019) utilized the three-dimensional structure of the emotional labor scale developed by Diefendorff et al., (2005) as part of the Chinese emotional labor scale because it was consistent with the three dimensions of Chinese emotional labor and had been used worldwide with good reliability and validity.

The original study and development of the emotional labor scale developed by Diefendorff et al., (2005) and the corresponding research that followed closely related with the sample for this study. According to the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (2021), 53.5% of the SLPs were employed in educational facilities and the largest percentage (29.4%) of certified SLPs were 34 years old and younger.

## Speech-Language Pathologist Stress Index

Fimian et al., (1991) noted that the literature had many reports of the undesirable results of stress on many professionals in the school setting; however, they found no reports of stress on speech-language pathologists (SLPs) in the school setting prior to their research. Literature and the media have widely reported on the physical, mental, and professional consequences of stress in the workplace (Goh et al., 2015; Theorell et al., 2015); however, until Fimian et al., developed and validated the Speech-Language Pathologists Stress Index (SLPSI) in 1991, there was no validated way to measure sources of job-related stress and specific manifestations of stress in SLPs.

The SLPSI is a 48-item questionnaire designed by Fimian et al. (1991) to psychometrically define occupational stress in school speech-language pathologists. Fimian et al. (1991) adapted the SLPSI from the Teacher Stress Inventory (TSI) that was developed in 1988. Since its original development, Fimian et al., (1989); Fimian and Blanton (1987); and, Fimian, et al., (1988) have modified the TSI to assess stress levels in several occupational groups including nurses, physicians, and students. The inventory employs a 5-point response scale to rate the degree of perceived impact that each item had upon the SLPs' stress levels (1 = "No strength; not noticeable"; 5 = "Major strength; extremely noticeable"). Higher numbers indicate a greater degree of strength of stress that the SLP experienced.

The pilot study established face validity on the original 49 items. It subsequently conducted reliability analyses to measure internal consistency, resulting in the removal of one item, leaving 48 items for the SLPSI. Fimian et al. (1991) then conducted a principalcomponents factor analysis followed by a varimax oblique rotations to establish construct validity of the SLPSI. Internal consistency reliability was established using Cronbach alpha estimates (i.e., .93 for total scale) and Pearson correlations (i.e., all at or beyond .001 probability level) to measure relationships among the subscales and the total scale on the SLPSI (Fimian et al., 1991). Fimian et al. reported six interpretable stress factors (four were sources of stress and two were manifestations of stress) that serve as subscales of the SLPSI:

- bureaucratic restrictions (accounted for 11.4% of variance)
- emotional-fatigue manifestations (accounted for 9.8% of variance)
- time and workload management (accounted for 8.2% of variance)
- instructional limitations (accounted for 6.6% of variance)
- biobehavioral manifestations (accounted for 6.2% of variance)
- lack of professional supports (accounted for 5.7% of variance)

The scoring of the SLPSI encompasses averaging each of the six subscales by using the individual item ratings to determine the relative strength of each stressful event. Averaging the scores for all 48 items on the SLPSI yields the total stress score (Fimian et al., 1991). The results describe the SLPs' degree of stress from not noticeable (no strength) to extremely noticeable (major strength). The 626 SLPs who served as the population sample for the development and validation of the SLPSI collectively experienced a mild-to-moderate degree of stress as reported by Fimian et al.

The researcher of this study requested Fimian's permission to use the SLPSI via email and Facebook Messenger, as he was the primary author. He gave no response. Lieberman, second author, gave permission to use the SLPSI several weeks later, provided that the authors be credited with the development of the instrument. See Appendix C. Lieberman is a speech-language pathologist and a member of ASHA.

In this study, the SLPSI was used to assess the primary sources of stress and the manifestations of those stressors exhibited by SLPs as stated in RQ2. The collective mean determined the collective degree of stress (none to extreme) among Speech-Language Pathologists responding to the survey. The SLPSI was chosen because it is the only known instrument specifically designed to assess stress in SLPs. The primary difference between the population stated by Fimian et al., (1991) and the sample population in this study is the occupational setting extends to all SLPs and is not limited to those working in schools. This is an advantage as it allows the researcher to compare SLPs' occupational settings to the results found in other studies utilizing the SLPSI (Blood et al., 2002; Fimian et al., 1991).

## Professional Quality of Life 5th Version (ProQOL 5)

The ProQOL 5 was developed in the late 1990s by Stamm, a retired professor and researcher in the field of traumatic stress, to examine the positive (compassion satisfaction) and the negative (compassion fatigue) aspects of employees' professional quality of life. Since that time, professionals from around the world have given their time, data, programming, and analyses to further the development of the theory of compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue (Stamm, 2010). In 2021, the Center for Victims of Torture (CVT) obtained the ownership of the ProQOL 5. The measurement tool is available online at www.proqol.org/progol-measure.

The ProQOL 5 is a 30-item screening tool that uses a 5-point frequency response scale (1 = "Never"; 5 = "Very Often"). The ProQOL 5 has three subscales: compassion

satisfaction (CS), burnout (BO), and secondary traumatic stress (STS). Each subscale measures a separate construct and each subscale is scored separately. The raw scores have been converted to standardized scores on the ProQOL 5 to allow for consistency of interpretation (i.e., low, moderate, or high) of the three subscales (Stamm, 2010). The ProQOL 5 can be administered individually or in a group. The scoring can be done by hand or using a statistical software program such as SPSS (Stamm, 2010). Cut scores are provided; however, since the tool is not designed for diagnostic purposes, the authors recommended that the ProQOL 5 be used from a statistical perspective using continuous values (Stamm, 2010).

Stamm (2010) explained that compassion satisfaction (CS) is about the pleasure that an employee receives from a job well-done. CS is measured through 10 items on the ProQOL 5. Subscale raw scores of 22 or less reflect low CS, scores between 23 and 41 reflect a moderate level of CS and a score of 42 or higher tend to reflect a high level of CS. Higher scores characterize greater satisfaction associated with the employees' perception of being an effective caregiver in their job (Stamm, 2010).

Stamm (2010) described burnout (BO) as the first element of compassion fatigue. Feelings of hopelessness and difficulty completing job tasks effectively are symptoms of BO. BO is measured through 10 items on the ProQOL 5. Subscale raw scores of 22 or less reflect low levels of BO and positive feelings about one's ability to work effectively, scores between 23 and 41 reflect a moderate level of BO, and a score of 42 or higher tend to reflect a high level of BO (Stamm, 2010).

Stamm (2010) described secondary traumatic stress (STS) as the second element of compassion fatigue. STS encompasses employees' exposure to their clients' extreme or traumatic events (not their own specific events). It includes hearing about others' stressful events and stories of their pain and suffering. STS is measured through 10 items on the ProQOL 5. Subscale raw scores of 22 or less reflect low levels of STS, scores between 23 and 41 reflect a moderate level of STS and scores of 42 or higher tend to reflect a high level of STS (Stamm, 2010). For employees' whose scores are above 41, Stamm recommended a self-examination regarding their feelings about their work environment and the need to discuss their findings with other professionals.

The ProQOL 5 is a reliable measure of compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue in many helping professions. The population sampled included healthcare, social service workers, teachers, attorneys, police officers, firefighters, clergy, and others who work with clients, patients, or victims. Reliability of the ProQOL 5, reported in Cronbach alpha, is as follows for each of the subscales: CS = 0.88, BO = 0.75, and STS = 0.81 (Stamm, 2010). Construct validity has been documented in over 200 published research papers whereas compassion fatigue, secondary traumatic stress, and vicarious traumatization were examined; nearly half used one of the versions of the ProQOL (Stamm, 1995, 2010; Thomas & Otis, 2010). In addition, there were more than 100,000 articles using the ProQOL made public at the time the current manual was revised (Stamm, 2010). A comprehensive bibliography is available revealing 667 documents specifically using the ProQOL measure, making it the most commonly used measure in compassion fatigue studies (http://ProQOL.org, 2016).

As stated on the ProQOL 5 protocol and on the website www.proqol.org, the ProQOL 5 may be freely copied and used without individual permission from the ProQOL office if the user credits the authors, does not sell it, and does not make changes other than replacing "helper" with a more specific term such as "speech-language pathologist." Nevertheless, permission to use and electronically reformat the ProQOL for research purposes was requested and granted via e-mail (ProQOL Office at the Center for Victims of Torture, personal communication, July 18, 2021). See Appendix D. The owners of the ProQOL encourage researchers to donate their raw data so that it can be merged into the larger data bank and used to improve the instrument. Stamm (2010) noted that two very important covariates were not addressed in the data bank at the time the ProQOL manual was written: work setting and types of people assisted. It was suggested that any study using the ProQOL include these variables.

In this study, the ProQOL 5 was used to assess compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue (burnout and secondary traumatic stress) exhibited by SLPs. Then, the determined effect(s) (low, moderate, or high) was correlated with the participants' use of specific emotional labor strategies as stated in RQ1. Lastly, as recommended by the authors of the ProQOL 5, work setting was addressed in RQ4.

The Emotional Labor Strategies Scale, the Speech Language Pathologist Stress Index (SLPSI), and the Professional Quality of Life Scale (ProQOL), were combined into a single questionnaire. Though the variables using scales are ordinal in nature, they were deemed as interval because the distance is assumed to be approximately the same between each response.

A letter describing the purpose of the study and consent was included in the introduction of the survey. Eight demographic and work-related questions preceded the questions from the instruments and were used as sample comparison to the statistics reported in the ASHA 2020 member and affiliate profile. These questions included:

1. Are you a certified speech-language pathologist?

If the answer to this question was "No" the questionnaire ended and the participant's willingness to participate was acknowledged.

2. Which occupational setting best describes your current workplace?

This question was used to address RQ4.

- 3. Ethnicity
- 4. Race
- 5. Primary state of employment within the past 3 months.
- 6. Employment status within the past 3 months.
- 7. Primary employment function.
- 8. Gender

#### Research Design

The research was a quantitative cross-sectional survey design which is a type of observational study using data collected from population-based surveys (Setia, 2016). This design enabled the researcher to estimate the prevalence of a construct (i.e., emotional labor) in a well-defined population (i.e., SLPs) during a defined time (i.e., 30 days prior to completion of a questionnaire) and allowed the researcher to assess relationships among variables (i.e., emotional labor, job stress, compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue) (Bangdiwala, 2019; Spector, 2019). These conditions, in conjunction with the constructs being relatively new phenomena to the research field within the population of speech-language pathologists, supported the use of a cross-sectional design for studying important organizational phenomena (Spector, 2019).

## Procedures

Once the study was approved by the dissertation committee and the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at the University of Southern Mississippi, a pilot study was conducted to increase the likelihood of success in the final study. The pilot test assisted in identifying questionnaire problems, in helping determine whether incentives would have been beneficial, and in lending credibility to the full research study (Ruel et al., 2016). The results from the pilot test helped to guide the methodology of the full research project by providing additional assurance regarding the stated research questions, by testing the proposed study design and process, and by reducing unexpected obstacles (van Teijlingen & Hundley, 2001). According to Lewis et al., (2021), a participant sample size of 26–34 for pilot testing is most likely to be significant indicating acceptable fidelity. The final study was conducted after the pilot testing had been completed, the data were entered and analyzed, and appropriate changes were made to the study design, questionnaire, research questions etc.

The full study began by verifying with the ASHA to secure approval and confirm procedures associated with contacting the certified speech-language pathologists within its membership. The researcher contacted SLPs collectively through the ASHA Community website. All ASHA Community guidelines were followed as posted at https://community.asha.org/communityguidelines. This included the specific guidelines for research surveys located at https://www.asha.org/Research/Surveying-ASHA-Members-for-Research-Purposes/. A reminder post was made two weeks after the initial post. Private emails were sent directly to certified SLPs through ASHA Community directory two weeks after the reminder post to gain the maximum number of participants. A current membership allows members to access other members' information publicly online through the ASHA website provided that the member has given prior authorization. All emails sent directly to SLPs included specific information regarding the survey and included an embedded link to the questionnaire.

The data analyses for this study were generated using Qualtrics software, (2020). The data were coded, entered, and stored in SPSS on the researcher's computer and the questionnaire stopped in the Qualtrics software at the end of the survey to improve the accuracy of data analyses.

The data collected were downloaded and kept in an encrypted file on the researcher's password-secured computer. The data were transferred to the statistical program IBM SPSS statistics predictive analytics software, for analyses. Descriptive statistics including central tendencies, variances, standard deviations, and frequencies were used to answer RQ1 and RQ2. In addition to descriptive statistics, correlations were used to answer RQ3. Correlations generate measures of strength and direction of association between two independent variables. Pearson's Correlation was used to determine the relationship between the prominent emotional labor strategy revealed in RQ1 analysis and compassion satisfaction/compassion fatigue to answer RQ3. In RQ4, a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was used to determine whether a relationship existed between genuine emotions and the SLPs' occupational settings. Finally, all data were reported and discussed using written explanations and tables. *Data Analysis* 

Data analyses occurred after two major segments of the study. First, the data from the online pilot study was collected through Qualtrics and analyzed using SPSS to investigate proper data coding and analyses that was most appropriate for the study. Afterward, all required and allowable changes were made to the questionnaire to adjust for maximum recruitment and participation. Second, the questionnaire was sent to all SLPs as described in the participants and design sections. The results from the study conducted through Qualtrics was coded and placed into an SPSS file to conduct quantitative analyses of the participants' responses. Cronbach alpha analyses were used to support construct validity for each instrument used in the questionnaire which included a combination of three instruments. Alpha coefficients greater than .70 are assumed to be adequate for internal consistency in the field of social science (Nunnally & Bernstein, 1994).

Statement 1 of the questionnaire presented the explanation of the study and asked for consent from the participants before completing the questionnaire. Question 1 asked the participant to confirm whether he/she was a certified speech-language pathologist. If the participant confirmed that they were a certified SLP, the second question became available for response; however, if the participant confirmed that they were not a certified speech-language pathologist, the questionnaire ended and the participant's attempt to participate was acknowledged with appreciation and their responses were recorded. The response to this question ensured that all participants were only certified SLPs as described in the study.

For RQ1, questions 9-22 were from the 14–item Emotional Labor Scale and were used to assess surface acting, deep acting, and genuine display of emotions used most often by SLPs. Descriptive statistics including central tendencies, variances, standard deviations, and frequencies were calculated using SPSS. The responses to these fourteen items were summed and the mean and mode were used to determine which emotional labor strategy was most often utilized by SLPs. The highest total revealed the most used strategy after the 1=strongly agree and 5=strongly disagree scale was reverse coded following data collection on the Emotional Labor Scale.

For RQ2, items 23–70 from the 48–item Speech-Language Pathologist Stress Inventory (SLPSI) were used to assess the sources and manifestations of occupational stress within the profession of speech-language pathology. The four sources of occupational stress noted on the SLPSI included: Time and Workload Management, Lack of Professional Support, Bureaucratic Restrictions, and Instructional Limitations. Two manifestations of occupational stress were noted on the SLPSI: Emotional Fatigue and Biobehavioral. The total means of each subtest revealed what SLPs identified as their primary sources and manifestations of occupational stress. The results were described ranging from "no strength; not noticeable" (1) to "major strength; extremely noticeable" (5). Using this response scale, the participants indicated the degree of perceived strength with which they experienced occupational stress and not merely the presence or absence of occupational stress (Fimian et al., 1991).

Item means, descriptive statistics, and Pearson correlations were performed among the item ratings to measure the association between the six subscales and the total scale of the SLPSI. Correlations generate measures of strength and direction of association between independent variables. According to Kline (2005), correlations between constructs should not exceed .85 for the constructs to have discriminant validity. However, the key element of statistical significance is the sample size because the sampling distribution changes when the sample size changes (Meyers et al., 2013). For RQ3, items 9-22 from the ELS and items 71–100 from the 30–item ProQOL scale were used to assess the emotional labor strategy, genuine emotions, along with compassion satisfaction (CS), and compassion fatigue (CF). Descriptive statistics including means and standard deviations were used to determine which variables had the highest level of agreeableness. The effect size of and correlation between the emotional labor strategy, genuine emotion, and compassion satisfaction/fatigue was calculated using Pearson Correlations to assess the relationship between consistency of genuine emotion and compassion fatigue/compassion satisfaction.

Lastly, for RQ4, item 2 from the demographics section and items 9-22 from the 14-item ELS were used to assess whether occupational setting makes a difference in the type of emotional strategy used. A multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was conducted to determine whether the SLPs' occupational setting (Educational Facility, Health Care Facility, Private Practice/Other) made a difference in the emotional labor strategy (Surface Acting, Deep Acting, Genuine Emotion) used.

Demographic variables, questions 2–8, were assessed with descriptive statistics. Descriptive statistics were used to assess all variables for normality and cases of missing data and outliers. If item data were missing at random and remained less than 5% of the total case, imputation of item mean was used (Meyers et al., 2013). The cases containing more than 5% missing data, were deleted from the analysis (Meyers et al., 2013). Any noted outliers were examined for cause and decisions to delete or keep were made accordingly (Meyers et al., 2013). All data were reported and discussed using written explanations and tables.

## CHAPTER IV – RESULTS

The purpose of this quantitative study was to evaluate speech-language pathologists' (SLPs) experiences regarding professional emotional labor and the extent to which they believed emotional labor is possibly related to job stress, compassion satisfaction, and compassion fatigue (i.e., burnout and secondary traumatic stress). This study also considered the SLPs' occupational settings in relationship to emotional labor and the outcome variables of the study. Following a pilot study, the questionnaire was revised before posting to ASHA Community websites for certified SLPs to complete. Four research questions were considered.

- 1. Which strategy of emotional labor (surface acting, deep acting, and genuine emotions) is most often utilized by speech-language pathologists?
- 2. What do speech-language pathologists identify as the primary sources and manifestations of occupational stress within the profession of speech-language pathology?
- 3. Does reported frequency of use of a specific emotional labor strategy (Surface Acting, Deep Acting, or Genuine Emotions) correlate with reported experienced Compassion Satisfaction or Compassion Fatigue?
- 4. Does the SLPs' occupational setting make a difference in type of emotional labor strategy (Surface Acting, Deep Acting, Genuine Emotion) used?

#### Pilot Study

According to (Hassan et al., 2006), the purposes of a pilot study include:

• to determine the feasibility of the study protocol and identify weaknesses in the study

- to evaluate the instrument(s) and determine if they are asking the intended questions, whether the format is understandable and appropriate for the target population
- to test the appropriateness of data collection using a self-completed questionnaire
- to test the data entry, coding of the items, and appropriateness of statistical tests

A pilot study was conducted following the approval for this research project by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at The University of Southern Mississippi. Please see Appendix A. The questionnaire used in the pilot study consisted of one question to verify ASHA certification as a speech-language pathologist, seven demographic items, and ninety-two questions with 5-point horizontal numeric scales from three previously validated instruments (i.e., Emotional Labor Scale, Speech-Language Pathologists Stress Inventory, and Professional Quality of Life Scale). A link to the questionnaire in Qualtrics XM was emailed to a group of approximately 30 individuals known to the researcher. Twenty-one responses were received via Qualtrics XM. Of the twenty-one responses, twenty were completed. One respondent reported that they did not meet the qualifications to complete the questionnaire (i.e., certified speech-language pathologist) and was, consequently, routed to the end of the instrument without completing any items. This rerouting technique was shown to be effective and was utilized in the final study. A total of twenty responses were considered for revisions to the final questionnaire. Fourteen questionnaires were fully completed and six had minimal missing data completely at random. Participant's responses varied across the questionnaire.

All demographic questions were fully answered. Of the twenty certified SLPs, ten worked in a special school, three in an elementary school, three in a hospital, one at a university, one at a private physician's office, and two reported "other" settings and noted retired and not working at this time, respectively. Responses were recorded from three states: California, Illinois, and Mississippi. Most of the participants were employed full time (n = 16). These questions remained in the final questionnaire and were used to compare to the demographics of the population of certified speech-language pathologists reported in the ASHA 2020 annual demographic and employment data profile.

## Revisions Made to Questionnaire Based on the Pilot Study

It was reported by one participant that clicking too fast and not having a "back" button kept the missing data from being inserted. A back button was included on the final questionnaire to reduce possible missing data.

Several participants expressed difficulty transitioning from the Emotional Labor Scale items to the Speech-Language Pathologist Stress Index (SLPSI) items stating the 5point Likert scale (Strongly Agree - Strongly Disagree) changed from descending order to ascending order (Not Noticeable - Extremely Noticeable). These scales were closely evaluated and clarification of SLPSI's scale was revised to include numbers 1 to 5 and extra wording (i.e., 1 no strength; not noticeable to 5 major strength; extremely noticeable). In addition, a transition phrase was added prior to the SLPSI giving clearer directions for the following section to be completed and aiding in the flow from one section to the next. Lastly, the items were numbered and named in Qualtrics XM which made it easier to download and export to SPSS. These changes helped with coding and data entry. The coding changes were not visible to the participants.

#### Statistical Analyses of the Instruments Used in Survey

Internal consistency is a crucial measure of the interrelatedness among items within subscales or scales. Internal consistency for the subscales and scales presented in this study was examined following the pilot study using Cronbach's coefficient alpha (Cronbach, 1951).

The Emotional Labor Scale (ELS) developed by Diefendorff et. al (2005) consists of three subscales totaling 14 items. A Cronbach's analysis was conducted on the three subscales. See Table 1 for the reliability statistics.

Table 1

Reliability Statistics for Emotional Labor Scale

Subscale	Cronbach's a	N of Items
Surface Acting	.92	7
Deep Acting	.83	4
Genuine Emotion	<sup>a</sup> .68	3

<sup>a</sup>The subscale's alpha level indicates a moderate level of inter-item reliability. Deleting item 13 (i.e., The emotions I feel come naturally.) would increase the alpha level to .71; however, this is not a one-point difference and is not a significant increase.

The three subscales (i.e., surface acting, deep acting, and genuine emotions) were correlated to determine whether the Emotional Labor Scale is measuring the latent variables, emotional labor, and genuine emotions. The "Surface Acting" subscale was positively correlated with the "Deep Acting" subscale, r(19) = .54, p = .013. However, the "Surface Acting" scale and the "Deep Acting" scale were negatively correlated with the "Genuine Emotions" subscale, r(18) = -.73, p < .001 and r(18) = -.54, p = .015, respectively. This is as expected because, according to theory, genuine emotions do not reflect an emotional labor strategy as compared to surface acting and deep acting which

are emotional labor strategies and involve acting. Given this information, all questions within the Emotional Labor Scale were included in the final questionnaire.

The Speech-Language Pathologist Stress Inventory (SLPSI) is a 48-item questionnaire used to determine the degree of strength with which speech-language pathologists experience stress. Four sources of stress and two manifestations of stress are measured using the SLPSI. A Cronbach's analysis was conducted on each subtest. See Table 2 for the reliability statistics.

Table 2

Subscale	Cronbach's a	N of Items
Sources of Stress		
Bureaucratic Restrictions	.90	6
Time/Management	.92	8
Workload		
Instructional Limitations	<sup>a</sup> .62	7
Lack of Professional	.89	11
Supports		
Manifestations		
Emotional-Fatigue	.86	10
Biobehavioral	.78	6

Reliability Statistics for Speech-Language Pathologist Stress Inventory (SLPSI)

<sup>a</sup> If item 35 were deleted from the instructional limitations subscale, the subscale's alpha would be .72 which indicated a significant increase. The item (i.e., Experiences discipline problems.) was not deleted after the pilot study, but was further examined in the full study and found that it would not have increased the subscale's alpha.

The four stress subscales (i.e., Bureaucratic Restrictions, Time and Workload Management, Instructional Limitations, and Lack of Professional Supports) were correlated to determine whether the SLPSI is measuring the latent variable, stress. The four subscales were positively correlated; however, only three of the subscales were significantly correlated at the .01 level (Bureaucratic Restrictions, Time and Workload Management, and Lack of Professional Supports). Instructional Limitations subscale was not significantly correlated to the Bureaucratic Restrictions subscale r (19) = .42, p = .07 or to the Lack of Professional Supports subscale r (18) = .43, p = .07. Instructional Limitations subscale was significantly correlated to the Time and Workload Management subscale, r (18) = .60, p = .006.

The two stress manifestations subscales (i.e., Emotional-Fatigue Manifestations and Biobehavioral Manifestations) were correlated to determine whether the SLPSI is measuring the latent variable, manifestations of stress. The Emotional-Fatigue Manifestations subscale was positively correlated with the Biobehavioral Manifestations subscale, r(16) = .63, p = .006. Given this information, all questions within the Speech-Language Pathologist Stress Inventory (SLPSI) were included in the final questionnaire.

The Professional Quality of Life Scale (ProQOL) is a 30-item questionnaire used to determine compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue. The ProQOL is comprised of three subscales (i.e., compassion satisfaction, burnout, and secondary traumatic stress). The "Burnout" and "Secondary Traumatic Stress" subscales are combined to form the "Compassion Fatigue" score. A Cronbach's analysis was conducted on the three subscales. See Table 3 for the reliability statistics.

Subscale	Cronbach's a	N of Items
Compassion Satisfaction	.86	10
Burnout	<sup>a</sup> .67	10
Secondary Traumatic Stress	<sup>b</sup> .67	10

## Reliability Statistics for Professional Quality of Life Scale (ProQOL)

<sup>a</sup>If item 15 were removed (i.e., I have beliefs that sustain me.), the alpha level would increase to .70; however, since the increase is not a full point, the difference would not be significant. <sup>b</sup>If item 5 were removed (i.e., I jump or am startled by unexpected sounds), the alpha level would increase to .74; however, since the increase is not a full point, the difference would not be significant

The three subscales (i.e., compassion satisfaction, burnout, and secondary traumatic stress) were correlated to determine whether the ProQOL is measuring the latent variables, compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue. Burnout and traumatic stress were combined to determine test validity for compassion fatigue. As expected, the compassion satisfaction subscale was negatively correlated with the compassion fatigue subscale, r(18) = -.71, p < .001. Given this information, all questions within the Professional Quality of Life Scale (ProQOL) were included in the final questionnaire.

#### Final Study

## Data Screening

A link to the survey and a recruitment statement was posted on the American Speech and Hearing (ASHA) Community website. A reminder statement, along with the link to the questionnaire, was posted two weeks following the initial post. Individual emails were sent through the ASHA Community requesting participation. After six weeks of data collection, a total of 405 responses from 48 states were received from the survey through Qualtrics XM. Six participants did not respond positively to the initial item, "I am a certified Speech-Language Pathologist" and were automatically routed to the end of

the questionnaire without completing any questions. The data were examined for impossible or out of range values in each response set and none were found. The data were examined for possible missing data. An initial examination of the data revealed that 129 participants were above the 5% threshold for possible missing value intervention; therefore, these cases were deleted from the data set (Meyers et al, 2013). The majority of the 129 participants appeared to have fatigued and stopped the questionnaire at various points with more than 5% of the 92 questions remaining unanswered. Further analyses were conducted through SPSS Version 26 on the remaining 270 responses and the 92 items within the questionnaire. Frequency statistics indicated that 21 items had one data point missing completely at random and one item had two data points missing completely at random. Because these 22 cases were from respondents who missed fewer than 5% of the questions, no pattern of missing data was established, and there were no more than two cases missing from any one variable, the subgroup mean of each item with missing data was determined and then that mean was rounded to the nearest whole number and substituted for the missing value within each variable. This approach bases the mean on the actual item within one of the three instruments used instead of a full sample mean which would include all three instruments (Meyers et al, 2013). No outliers were noted because all variables are either categorical or continuous; however, frequency tables were examined for each item to confirm the minimum and maximum values were between 1 and 5. Calculations for skewness and kurtosis were made using SPSS version 26 to determine whether data were normally distributed. Calculations and visual inspections of the histograms indicated that the shape of the distribution of the 92 items may not be

severely non-normal given the guidelines of  $\leq 3.0$  for skewness and  $\leq 10.0$  for kurtosis (Kline, 2016).

## **Demographics**

A final participant count of 270 across 45 states was used to analyze all data and answer the four research questions. Two participants did not include their state; therefore, these two were coded as "other" in the data set to avoid listwise deletion of data. The demographics of the of the 270 participants yielded 90.7% as not Hispanic or Latino, 85.6% white, and 94.4% female. This sample (N = 270) closely resembled the sample reported per the demographic profile of ASHA Speech-Language Pathology Only (N =188,143) as presented in the 2020 ASHA member and affiliate profile wherein, 93.8% were not Hispanic or Latino, 91.6% were white, and 96.3% were female. Most participants were "employed full time" (81.5%) and their primary employment function was "clinical service provider" (68.9%). Again, these reports are in direct comparison with the majority reporting in the national SLP sample. However, there were differences noted in the participant's occupational setting in this sample when compared to the demographic profile of ASHA constituents as presented in the 2020 ASHA member and affiliate profile. A higher percentage of the participants (58.1%) worked in educational facilities compared to the 53.5% in the national sample, 22.6% worked in health care facilities compared to the 39.9% in the national sample, and 8.5% worked in other facilities compared to 6.6% in the national sample. In addition, private practice facilities accounted for 10.7% in this study and a total of 21.6% reported being in private practice in the national sample. See Table 4 for specifics related to occupational settings.

## **Occupational Settings**

				Valid	Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Percent
Valid	Educational Facilities	157	58.1	58.1	58.1
	Health Care Facilities	61	22.6	22.6	80.7
	Private Practice/Other	52	19.3	19.3	100.0
	Total	270	100.0	100.0	

## Instrument Descriptives

Internal consistency is a measure of the interrelatedness among items within subscales or scales. Internal consistency for the subscales and scales presented in this study was examined following the final study using Cronbach's coefficient alpha (Cronbach, 1951).

## Emotional Labor Scale (ELS)

A Cronbach's analysis was conducted on the "Surface Acting" 7-item subscale of the ELS. The subscale's alpha level was .94, which indicates that the subscale has an adequate level of inter-item reliability. A Cronbach's analysis was conducted on the "Deep Acting" 4-item subscale of the ELS. The subscale's alpha level was .86, which indicates that the subscale has an adequate level of inter-item reliability. A Cronbach's analysis was conducted on the "Genuine Emotions" 3-item subscale of the ELS. The subscale's alpha level was .82, which indicates that the subscale has an adequate level of inter-item reliability. Given the above results, the Emotional Labor Scale is reliable. The three subscales (i.e., surface acting, deep acting, and genuine emotions) were correlated to determine whether the Emotional Labor Scale is measuring the latent variables, emotional labor, and genuine emotions. There was a statistically significant, small positive correlation between the "Surface Acting" subscale and the "Deep Acting" subscale, r (269) = .38, p < .001. However, the "Surface Acting" scale and the "Deep Acting" subscale, r (269) = .38, p < .001. However, the "Surface Acting" scale and the "Deep Acting" scale indicated significant negative correlations with the "Genuine Emotions" subscale, r (269) = -.69, p < .001 and r (269) = -.17, p = .006, respectively. This was expected because, according to theory, genuine emotions do not reflect an emotional labor strategy as compared to surface acting and deep acting which are emotional labor strategies and involve acting. Given this information, the Emotional Labor Scale is valid and measures surface acting, deep acting, and the display of genuine emotions. *Speech-Language Pathologist Stress Inventory (SLPSI)* 

The SLPSI is a 48-item questionnaire used to determine the degree of strength with which speech-language pathologists experience stress. Four sources of stress and two manifestations of stress are measured using the SLPSI. Six items identify stress related to "Bureaucratic Restrictions;" eight items identify stress related to "Time and Workload Management;" seven items identify stress related to "Instructional Limitations;" and, eleven items identify stress due to "Lack of Professional Supports." In addition, two types of manifestations are identified as the result of perceived stress: "Emotional-Fatigue" (comprised of ten items) and "Biobehavioral" (comprised of six items).

A Cronbach's analysis was conducted on the "Bureaucratic Restrictions" 6-item subscale of the SLPSI. The subscale's alpha level was .90, which indicates that the

subscale has an adequate level of inter-item reliability. A Cronbach's analysis was conducted on the "Time and Workload" 8-item subscale of the SLPSI. The subscale's alpha level was .93, which indicates that the subscale has an adequate level of inter-item reliability. A Cronbach's analysis was conducted on the "Instructional Limitations" 7item subscale of the SLPSI. The subscale's alpha level was .84, which indicates that the subscale has an adequate level of inter-item reliability. A Cronbach's analysis was conducted on the "Lack of Professional Supports" 11-item subscale of the SLPSI. The subscale's alpha level was .90, which indicates that the subscale has an adequate level of inter-item reliability. In addition, the two stress manifestation subtests were analyzed using Cronbach's analysis. The 10-item "Emotional-Fatigue" subtest yielded an alpha level of .90 and the 6-item "Biobehavioral" subtest yielded an alpha level of .81 which indicated an adequate level of inter-item reliability in both manifestations' subtests.

The four stress subscales were correlated to determine whether the SLPSI is measuring the latent variable, stress. The four stress subscales were positively correlated at the < .01 level. Please see Table 5 for correlations.

				Lack of	Emotional-
		Bureaucratic	Instructional	Professional	Fatigue
		Restrictions	Limitations	Supports	Manifestation
Bureaucratic	Pearson	1	.574**	.824**	.637**
Restrictions	Correlation				
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.000	.000	.000
	Ν	270	270	270	270
Instructional	Pearson	.574**	1	.701**	.692**
Limitations	Correlation				
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000		.000	.000
	Ν	270	270	270	270
Lack of	Pearson	.824**	.701**	1	.662**
Professional	Correlation				
Supports	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000		.000
	Ν	270	270	270	270
Emotional-	Pearson	.637**	.692**	.662**	1
Fatigue	Correlation				
Manifestation	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	.000	
	Ν	270	270	270	270

## SLPSI Stress Subtests Correlations

\*\*. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

The two stress manifestations subscales (i.e., Emotional-Fatigue Manifestations and Biobehavioral Manifestations) were correlated to determine whether the SLPSI is measuring the latent variable, manifestations of stress. The Emotional-Fatigue Manifestations subscale was positively correlated with the Biobehavioral Manifestations subscale, r (269) = .71, p < .001. Given this information, the Speech-Language Pathology Stress Index was valid and measured stress and the manifestations of stress.

## The Professional Quality of Life Scale (ProQOL) Version 5

The ProQOL5-5 is a 30-item questionnaire used to determine level of compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue. The ProQOL-5 is comprised of three subscales (i.e., compassion satisfaction, burnout, and secondary traumatic stress). The "Burnout" and "Secondary Traumatic Stress" subscales are combined to form the "Compassion Fatigue" score. The ProQOL-5 scale was examined for internal consistency for the subscales using Cronbach's coefficient alpha (Cronbach, 1951). The "Compassion Satisfaction" 10-item subscale alpha level was .93, which indicates that the subscale has an adequate level of inter-item reliability. The "Burnout" 10-item subscale's alpha level was .88, which indicates that the subscale has an adequate level of inter-item reliability. Lastly, the "Secondary Traumatic Stress" 10-item subscale's alpha level was .85, which indicates that the subscale has an adequate level of inter-item reliability.

The three subscales (i.e., compassion satisfaction, burnout, and secondary traumatic stress) were correlated to determine whether the ProQOL-5 is measuring the latent variables, compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue. Burnout and secondary traumatic stress were combined to assess compassion fatigue. Analyses showed the relationship to be linear with both variables normally distributed and there were no outliers. There was a statistically significant, strong negative correlation between the Compassion Satisfaction subscale and the Compassion Fatigue subscale, r (269) = -.67, p < .001.

## **Results for Research Question 1**

Which strategy of emotional labor (surface acting, deep acting, and genuine emotions) is most often utilized by speech-language pathologists?

This question was answered by using the results from the Emotional Labor Scale (ELS) developed by Diefendorff et. al (2005) which consisted of three subscales totaling 14 items. The response scale was a 5-point Likert scale (i.e., 1-Strongly Agree, 2-Somewhat Agree, 3-Neither Agree nor Disagree, 4-Somewhat Disagree, 5-Strongly Disagree). Each item was recoded in SPSS following the close of the survey to aid in analyzation of the items. Therefore, higher scores indicated a higher level of agreeableness with the statements presented.

Descriptive statistical analyses revealed that, on average, the SLPs agreed that they preferred to utilize "Genuine Emotions" most often in their work environment. See Table 6 for the descriptive statistics for the three emotional labor variables.

Table 6

		Surface Acting	Deep Acting	Genuine Emotions
N	Valid	270	270	270
	Missing	0	0	0
Mean		2.9984	3.3065	3.9383
Median		3.1429	3.5000	4.0000
Mode		1.00 <sup>a</sup>	3.00	4.00
Std. Dev	iation	1.14083	1.01353	0.83321
Minimur	n	1.00	1.00	1.00
Maximu	m	5.00	5.00	5.00

Statistics for Emotional Labor Variables

<sup>a.</sup> Multiple modes exist. The smallest value is shown

Because the means of each subtest were statistically close, the mode was considered to confirm the finding. The participants "somewhat agreed" that they used genuine emotions more often than surface acting and deep acting.

#### **Results for Research Question 2**

What do speech-language pathologists identify as the primary sources and manifestations of occupational stress within the profession of speech-language pathology?

This question was answered using the results from the Speech-Language Pathologist Stress Inventory (SLPSI) developed by Fimian et. al (1991). Descriptive statistical analyses indicated that the SLPs' reported a moderately noticeable impact of stress primarily due to Time and Workload Management (M = 3.3, SD = 1.07). The rank order of stressful events experienced by reporting SLPs, from strongest to weakest, was Time and Workload Management, Bureaucratic Restrictions (M = 2.65, SD = 1.09), Lack of Professional Supports (M = 2.53, SD = .95), and Instructional Limitations (M = 2.18, SD = .86). The stressful events were primarily manifested by evidence of somewhat noticeable Emotional Fatigue (M = 2.40, SD = .93). The total stress score was obtained by averaging the subtests scores for the 48 items on the SLPSI as described by Fimian et al. (1991) (M = 2.67, SD = .86). This total score signifies the operational classification of SLP stress as the relative strength with which all stressful events on the SLPSI are experienced (Fimian et al., 1991). In this sample, the SLPs experienced the effects of stress at a somewhat noticeable level.

## **Results for Research Question 3**

Does reported frequency of use of a specific emotional labor strategy (Surface Acting, Deep Acting, or Genuine Emotions) correlate with reported experienced Compassion Satisfaction or Compassion Fatigue? The results from the Emotional Labor Scale (ELS) developed by Diefendorff et. al (2005) and the Professional Quality of Life Scale (ProQOL) Version 5 developed by Stamm (2010) were used to answer this question.

As purported in question 1, SLPs reported the use of genuine emotion more frequently than they did surface acting or deep acting. These descriptive results were derived from the Emotional Labor Scale. The results from the ProQOL-5 instrument indicated that, on average, SLPs experienced a "Moderate" level of Compassion Satisfaction (M = 38.62, SD = 7.34) and a "Low-Moderate" level of Compassion Fatigue (M = 23.56, SD = 6.20). See Table 7. Whereas a sum of 22 or less is Low, between 23 and 41 is Moderate, and 42 or more is High (Stamm, 2010).

Table 7

<b>D</b>	•	a
Incori	ntino	Vtatictice
Descri	Duve	<i>Statistics</i>
	P	

					Std.
	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Deviation
Compassion	270	17.00	50.00	38.6222	7.33973
Satisfaction					
Compassion Fatigue	270	10.50	40.50	23.5630	6.20437
Valid N (listwise)	270				

A Pearson Correlation was used to examine the relationship between consistency of Genuine Emotion and Compassion Satisfaction/Compassion Fatigue. There was a statistically significant, strong positive correlation between Genuine Emotion and Compassion Satisfaction, r (267) = .55, p < .001. There was a statistically significant, moderate negative correlation between Genuine Emotion and Compassion Fatigue, r

(267) = -.46, *p* < .001. See Table 8.

Table 8

*Correlations* 

		ProQOL	ProQOL	ELS
		Compassion	Compassion	Genuine
		Satisfaction	Fatigue	Emotion
Compassion	Pearson Correlation	1	666**	.547**
Satisfaction	Sig. (2-tailed)		.000	.000
	Ν	270	270	270
Compassion Fatigue	Pearson Correlation	666**	1	460**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000		.000
	Ν	270	270	270
Genuine Emotion	Pearson Correlation	.547**	460**	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.000	
	Ν	270	270	270

\*\*. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

## **Results for Research Question 4**

Does the SLPs' occupational setting make a difference in type of emotional labor strategy (Surface Acting, Deep Acting, Genuine Emotion) used?

Seventeen different occupational settings were listed as options for participants to choose from on Q2 of the questionnaire released through Qualtrics XM. These 17 occupational settings were reduced to 3 by combining special school, preschool, elementary school, secondary school, several schools, unspecified school, and college/university into one variable "educational facility"; combining hospital, skilled nursing facility, other residential health care facility, home health care, private physician's office, AUD's or SLP's office, speech and hearing center, and other nonresidential health care facility into one variable "health care facility"; and combining private practice with all "other" settings to one variable defined as "other" for the purpose of a more reasonable statistical analysis. See table 9 for final frequency results of occupational settings.

Table 9

				Valid	Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Percent
Valid	Educational Facility	157	58.1	58.1	58.1
	Health Care Facility	61	22.6	22.6	80.7
	Private Practice/Other	52	19.3	19.3	100.0
	Total	270	100.0	100.0	

**Occupational Settings** 

A multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was conducted to determine if SLPs' occupational setting (i.e., Educational Facility, Health Care Facility, Private Practice/Other) makes a difference in the emotional labor strategy (i.e., Surface Acting, Deep Acting, Genuine Emotion) used. Several assumptions must be met when utilizing a MANOVA. First, the study design must have two or more continuous dependent variables, the independent variable should be categorical with two or more independent groups, and independence of observations (Laerd Statistics, 2015). The 5-point Likert scale used to assess the three types of emotional labor strategies can be used as continuous data in parametric tests (Sullivan & Artino, 2013). In this study design, there are three continuous dependent variables (surface acting, deep acting, and genuine

emotion); the independent variable is categorical with three independent groups (educational facility, health care facility, and private practice/other), and the observations are independent of one another. There were no extreme univariate outliers in the data, as assessed by inspection of a boxplot for values greater than 1.5 box-lengths from the edge of the box. Surface acting, deep acting, and genuine emotions were normally distributed for each occupational setting, as assessed by inspection of the Normal Q-Q Plots. There was no multicollinearity, as assessed by Pearson correlation (r = .383, p < .001; r = .685, p < .001; and r = -.166, p = .006). There was a linear relationship between surface acting and genuine emotions; however, there were not linear relationships between surface acting and deep acting or deep acting and genuine emotions, as assessed by the inspection of scatterplots. It is noted that the assumption of linearity was violated. To determine whether there were any multivariate outliers, the critical value of 16.27 was compared against the Mahalanobis distance value for each data point. There was one multivariate outlier in the data (17.32), as assessed by Mahalanobis distance (p > .001). Upon examination, it was determined that the one outlier was not due to data entry error or measurement error and represented genuine data points. Given the sample size of N =270, the sample size assumption was met, and because a one-way MANOVA is somewhat robust to multivariate outliers, the choice was made to allow the one outlier to remain in the data set. Following the examination of the above required assumptions for a MANOVA, the remaining statistical analyses were completed. There was homogeneity of variance-covariances matrices, as assessed by Box's test of covariance matrices. See Table 10. There was homogeneity of variances, as assessed by Levene's Test of Homogeneity of Variance ( $p \ge .001$ ).

Box's Test of Equality of Covariance Matrices

Box's M	15.558
F	1.269
df1	12
df2	108071.848
Sig.	.229

Tests the null hypothesis that the observed covariance matrices of the dependent variables are equal across groups.

a. Design: Intercept + Occupational settings

In summary, SLPs working in educational facilities, health care facilities, and in private practice/other settings agreed that they used surface acting and deep acting more than genuine emotions in their occupational settings. See Tables 11 and 12 below. A one-way multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was performed to determine the effect of occupational setting on type of emotional labor strategy used. Three strategies were assessed: surface acting, deep acting, and genuine emotions. Speech-language pathologists reported from three occupational settings: educational facilities, health care facilities, and private practice/other. The differences between the occupational settings on the combined dependent variables were not statistically significant, *F* (6, 530) = 1.140, *p* < .338; Wilks'  $\Lambda$  = .975; partial  $\eta^2$  = .013; therefore, post hoc testing was not completed. See Table 13 below.

			Std.	
	Occupational Settings	Mean	Deviation	Ν
Surface Acting	Educational Facility	21.61	7.620	157
	Health Care Facility	19.57	7.540	61
	Private Practice/Other	20.79	9.396	52
	Total	20.99	7.986	270
Deep Acting	Educational Facility	13.59	3.772	157
	Health Care Facility	13.11	3.724	61
	Private Practice/Other	12.27	5.049	52
	Total	13.23	4.054	270
Genuine Emotion	Educational Facility	11.73	2.472	157
	Health Care Facility	12.10	2.343	61
	Private Practice/Other	11.75	2.772	52
	Total	11.81	2.500	270

# Descriptive Statistics for Emotional Labor and Occupational Settings

				95% Confidence		
				Interval		
Dependent Variable	Occupational Settings	Mean	Std.	Lower	Upper	
			Error	Bound	Bound	
Surface Acting	Educational Facility	21.605	.636	20.352	22.858	
	Health Care Facility	19.574	1.021	17.564	21.584	
	Private	20.788	1.106	18.612	22.965	
	Practice/Other					
Deep Acting	Educational Facility	13.586	.322	12.952	14.220	
	Health Care Facility	13.115	.517	12.097	14.133	
	Private	12.269	.560	11.167	13.372	
	Practice/Other					
Genuine Emotions	Educational Facility	11.726	.200	11.333	12.120	
	Health Care Facility	12.098	.321	11.467	12.730	
	Private	11.750	.347	11.066	12.434	
	Practice/Other					

# Multivariate Tests<sup>a</sup>

				Hypothesis			Partial Eta
Effect		Value	F	df	Error df	Sig.	Squared
Intercept	Pillai's Trace	.986	6216.598 <sup>b</sup>	3.000	265.000	.000	.986
	Wilks'	.014	6216.598 <sup>b</sup>	3.000	265.000	.000	.986
	Lambda						
	Hotelling's	70.377	6216.598 <sup>b</sup>	3.000	265.000	.000	.986
	Trace						
	Roy's	70.377	6216.598 <sup>b</sup>	3.000	265.000	.000	.986
	Largest Root						
Occupational	Pillai's Trace	.025	1.144	6.000	532.000	.335	.013
Settings	Wilks'	.975	1.140 <sup>b</sup>	6.000	530.000	.338	.013
	Lambda						
	Hotelling's	.026	1.136	6.000	528.000	.340	.013
	Trace						
	Roy's	.016	1.425 <sup>c</sup>	3.000	266.000	.236	.016
	Largest Root						

a. Design: Intercept + Occupational Settings

b. Exact statistic

c. The statistic is an upper bound on F that yields a lower bound on the significance level.

## CHAPTER V – DISCUSSION

Emotional labor research has grown since Arlie Hochschild examined it in her book *The Managed Heart: Commercialization of Human Feeling* (1985) wherein she stated "...when we succeed in lending our feelings to the organizational engineers of worker-customer relations – we may pay a cost in how we hear our feelings and a cost in what, for better or worse, they tell us about ourselves" (p 21). One of the primary purposes for this quantitative study was to survey certified speech-language pathologists in an attempt to evaluate their experiences regarding the use of their emotions at work– emotional labor. In addition, job stress, compassion satisfaction, compassion fatigue, and job setting were explored. Four research questions guided this study.

- 1. Which strategy of emotional labor (surface acting, deep acting, and genuine emotions) is most often utilized by speech-language pathologists?
- 2. What do speech-language pathologists identify as the primary sources and manifestations of occupational stress within the profession of speech-language pathology?
- 3. Does reported frequency of use of a specific emotional labor strategy (Surface Acting, Deep Acting, or Genuine Emotions) correlate with reported experienced Compassion Satisfaction or Compassion Fatigue?
- 4. Does the SLPs' occupational setting make a difference in type of emotional labor strategy (Surface Acting, Deep Acting, Genuine Emotion) used?

## Pilot Study

A pilot study was conducted following IRB approval. Twenty-one responses were received and revisions to the instrument were made to help with clarity and flow of the survey. In addition, some coding changes were made to assist with data entry. Reliability and validity analyses were performed on the three instruments used in the survey and found to be within adequate limits.

#### Participants/Demographics

All data analyses were performed on the responses from 270 certified speechlanguage pathologist across 45 states within the United States. The demographics from the sample closely resembled the national demographics of speech-language pathologists outlined in the demographic profile of ASHA Speech-Language Pathology Only as presented in the 2020 ASHA member and affiliate profile. The questionnaire listed 17 options for participants to choose from to describe their current occupational setting. All educational settings were combined to create one "educational" setting. All medical settings were combined to create one "medical" setting. The remaining two options were combined to create one "private practice and other" setting. Most participants were employed full time and served as a clinical service provider in the field of speechlanguage pathology.

#### **Research Question 1**

Which strategy of emotional labor (surface acting, deep acting, and genuine emotions) is most often utilized by speech-language pathologists? Surface acting considers a person's inhibitions and acting out, hiding, or faking of emotions and deep acting may be closely related to a person's real emotions or the emotions that they have been taught to be appropriate as related to specific situations and job demands (Hochschild, 1979, 2003). Genuine emotions suggests that the worker naturally feels the actions displayed without any pretense or learned behavior (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993). The results from this study indicated that speech-language pathologists more often agreed that they displayed genuine emotions while working with clients/students. This finding is consistent with Yang et al. (2019) who noted that the expression of genuine emotions is the most common strategy for emotional labor. Also, Diefendorff, Croyle, and Gosserand (2005) reported that surface acting and deep acting may be less prominent in the work force than displaying genuine emotions.

Though the speech-language pathologists in this study somewhat agreed that they used genuine emotions more than they agreed that they used surface acting and deep acting, the item means and modes for the three emotional labor strategies were found to be within one point from each other (i.e., 3-Neither agree or disagree and 4-Somewhat agree) on the Likert scale resulting in a marginal difference between the three strategies at most.

#### Research Question 2

What do speech-language pathologists identify as the primary sources and manifestations of occupational stress within the profession of speech-language pathology? Stress has negative consequences for speech-language pathologists and the clients/students they serve (Fimian et al., 1991). The SLPSI measures levels of four sources of stress and two manifestations of stress. The four sources, or causes, of stress that the SLPSI measures are: bureaucratic restrictions, time and workload management, instructional limitations, and lack of professional supports. The speech-language pathologists in this study reported a moderately noticeable impact of stress primarily due to time and workload management (M = 3.3). Those who score high on this factor report having too much work to do, little time to prepare and do the work, and too much

paperwork. They have little time for personal priorities and time to relax during the workday (Fimian et al., 1991). In this study, the stressful events were primarily manifested by evidence of somewhat noticeable emotional fatigue (M = 2.40). Emotional-fatigue manifestations is composed of different coping responses to stressful work situations such as feelings of depression, insecurity, anxiety, and fatigue (Fimian et al., 1991). Those who score high in this area report that they require more sleep, procrastinate, call in sick, and have doubts about their professional life (Fimian et al., 1991).

The results of this study mirrored the findings of Fimian et al. (1991) that were reported during the development of the *Speech-Language Pathologist Stress Index* (SLPSI). Fimian et al. (1991) surveyed speech-language pathologists who only worked in the school setting, but noted that attempts should be made to broaden the original sample to include those working in medical and other settings (Fimian et al., 1991). In response to the suggestion made by Fimian et al., this study included all the noted SLP's occupational settings.

#### **Research Question 3**

Does reported frequency of use of a specific emotional labor strategy (Surface Acting, Deep Acting, or Genuine Emotions) correlate with reported experienced Compassion Satisfaction or Compassion Fatigue? The reported use of genuine emotions suggest that the worker naturally feels the actions displayed without any pretense or learned behavior (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993). The results from this study, as discussed in research question one, indicated that speech-language pathologists agreed that they displayed genuine emotions while working with clients/students. Stamm (2010) described compassion satisfaction as the pleasure one feels when they have done their work well. An employee may feel positively about their colleagues and contributions to the work setting and society (Stamm, 2010). Compassion fatigue can be defined as the emotional residue of exposure of working with clients/families who are in distress and have experienced trauma (Stamm, 2010). The employee may experience helplessness, anger, withdrawal, apathy, and depression (Joinson, 1992). The results from the ProQOL-5 instrument indicated that, on average, SLPs in this study experienced a "Moderate" level of Compassion Satisfaction (M = 38.62) and a "Moderate" level of Compassion Fatigue (M = 23.56). The compassion fatigue score was at the lowest level in the moderate category and close to a low level. See Table 14 for the ProQOL-5 interpretation scale. Table 14

ProQOL-5 Interpretation Scale

Sum of Subscale	Level
22 or less	Low
Between 23 and 41	Moderate
42 or more	High

A Pearson Correlation was used to examine the strength of the linear relationship between genuine emotion and compassion satisfaction/compassion fatigue. There was a statistically significant, strong positive correlation between genuine emotion and compassion satisfaction, r (267) = .55, p < .001. The speech-language pathologists in this study, who used more genuine emotions when interacting with clients/students, reported higher levels of compassion satisfaction. There was a statistically significant, moderate negative correlation between genuine emotion and compassion fatigue, r (267) = -.46, p < .001. The speech-language pathologists in this study, who used more genuine emotions when interacting with clients/students, reported lower levels of compassion fatigue.

#### **Research Question 4**

Does the SLPs' occupational setting make a difference in type of emotional labor strategy (Surface Acting, Deep Acting, Genuine Emotion) used? Seventeen primary employment facilities were listed in the demographic profile of ASHA Speech-Language Pathology Only as presented in the 2020 ASHA member and affiliate profile. All seventeen were given as options to the participants responding to this study. However, after the survey closed, the seventeen were reduced to three by combining all educationally-based settings into one, all healthcare-based settings into another, and allowing the remaining settings to be listed as the third. Combining the settings made the statistical analyses manageable. A frequency analysis revealed that of the 270 participants in this study, 157 worked in educational facilities, 61 worked in health care facilities, and the remaining 52 worked in private practice or "other" facilities. Though the three groups are not equal in size, they are representative of the national sample whereas most speechlanguage pathologists reported working in educational facilities over health care and other facilities.

A multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was conducted to determine if the speech-language pathologists' occupational setting makes a difference in the emotional labor strategy used. Though the speech-language pathologists agreed they utilized the three emotional labor strategies, the differences between the occupational settings on the combined dependent variables (emotional labor strategies) were not statistically significant. There was no notable difference between strategies used in the educational setting versus the health care setting or other settings among speech-language pathologists. This finding supports the findings of Grandey (2000) whereas she purported that employees regulate their emotions to match the many aspects of work and organizational life. It is possible that the work environment may affect the level and type of emotional labor they employ (Grandey, 2000). If Grandey's observation is valid, it would help explain why speech-language pathologists employ all strategies of emotional labor depending on the situation at hand and yet not utilize any one strategy over another for a notable period of time.

#### Summary of Findings

Speech-language pathologists work in a variety of occupational settings and service clients/students of all ages. As with any service occupation, some degree of occupational stress can be expected. In this study, speech-language pathologists reported a moderately noticeable impact of stress primarily as the result of time and workload management. However, the stress of managing their time and workload did not appear to prevent them from genuinely interacting with their clients/students. As a result, there was a positive correlation between their use of genuine emotions and their level of compassion satisfaction. Their moderate level of compassion satisfaction indicates that the speech-language pathologists find joy and pleasure in their work as the result of helping their clients/students.

#### Implications of the Study

One positive attribute of the study is that it brought awareness to the speechlanguage pathology community regarding the use of emotional labor in the profession. This was the first known research study that examined emotional labor in the profession of speech-language pathology. Also, because the participants in this study reported they used genuine emotions more often than surface acting or deep acting, it further supports those researchers who have recognized that the use of genuine emotions in the workplace is of value and should be included in the emotional labor literature (Ashforth & Humphrey, 1993; Diefendorff, Croyle, & Gosserand, 2005; Glomb & Tews, 2004; and Yang, 2019). Walsh (2019) reasoned that the shortage of empirical research as the possible reason some authors choose to ignore genuine emotions when researching emotional labor. This study adds to the limited empirical research by including the use of genuine emotions as an emotional labor strategy.

The speech-language pathologists in this study reported a moderately noticeable impact of occupational stress primarily due to time and workload management which concurred with the findings of Fimian et al. (1991). Based upon these results, organizations employing speech-language pathologists may benefit from this information and incorporate policies and procedures that would allow more time in the employees' schedule to prepare for therapy, complete required paperwork, and work with a more manageable-sized caseload. The outcome of the stressful events reported by the participants in this study were primarily manifested by evidence of emotional fatigue. The speech-language pathologists, and the organizations that employ them, could benefit from the awareness associated with the consequences of emotional fatigue. These include such behaviors as feeling depressed, insecure, unable to cope, fatigued, and anxious (Fimian et al., 1991). Incorporating preventive mechanisms into one's personal life as well as organizations incorporating preventive mechanisms into the organizational life may help minimize some of the noted stress and the consequences of it. Lastly, employers may benefit from using the Speech-Language Pathologist Stress Index (SLPSI) within their own organizations to get results regarding their specific population of SLPs. It is more likely that speech-language pathologists can minimize their stress levels if they have a way to identify their stressors thus highlighting the importance of the use of the SLPSI (Fimian et al., 1991).

According to the results from the ProQOL-5, the speech-language pathologists in this study experienced a moderate level of compassion satisfaction and a low-moderate level of compassion fatigue. Overall, this is a positive outcome that appears to be related to their use of genuine emotions in the workplace. The ProQOL5 can be administered to individuals or groups and may be a helpful resource to organizations that desire to increase employee job satisfaction and promote a healthy work environment. This tool may be beneficial to individuals by helping them remain aware of their current levels of compassion satisfaction, burnout, and secondary traumatic stress. The awareness of this information may help individuals and organizations continuously move toward a healthier work environment.

Lastly, the results from this study indicated that where speech-language pathologists work does not make a difference as to whether they utilize surface acting, deep acting, or genuine emotions. This finding may imply that speech-language pathologists utilize the same emotional labor strategies across settings and, therefore, it is not the *setting* that predicts the speech-language pathologists' ability to self-regulate during interactions. This finding could be beneficial to organizations as they educate speech-language pathologists in the areas of ethical standards and professionalism by focusing on the person more than the job requirements.

#### Limitations and Suggestions for Future Research

This study was limited by aspects of the instrument used in the survey. Particularly, the length of the questionnaire was of concern. There was a total of 100 items on the questionnaire including the demographic information. See Appendix E for the complete instrument. The items and responses were relatively short; however, participant fatigue was suspected. Of the 405 total respondents, only 270 were usable for the final data analyses because of excessive missing data. Much of the missing data was observed to be because the participants stopped answering questions at various points along the questionnaire. Though the original recommended sample size was 271, and the obtained sample was 270, had all the respondents fully completed the survey, the study may have been more representative of the population of certified speech-language pathologists, thus making it more generalizable. In addition to the length of the questionnaire, the number of different constructs studied was of concern. Three separate instruments were used in this study which required participants to switch from emotional labor to stress to compassion satisfaction/compassion fatigue. These constructs are interrelated in theory, but could appear to be separate to the participant who may not have the background knowledge of the concepts. Replication of this study with a reduced number of constructs (e.g., only emotional labor) would possibly increase participation and bring a better focus to the study. Future research may consider the development of an instrument specifically designed and validated to measure emotional labor within the profession of speech-language pathology.

In addition to instrument limitations, this study was limited by lack of previous explanation of the construct — emotional labor. Emotional labor was first introduced in 1983 by Arlie Hochschild when she studied airline attendants. It has been expanded to include many service professions since that time; however, no known research has included speech-language pathology. Future research conducted associating the speechlanguage pathology profession with emotional labor should take this into consideration and fully define the construct before attempting to measure the outcomes. This could possibly be done by adding a qualitative component to the design and allowing participants to expound on emotional experiences within the work environment.

Lastly, all responses were received from speech-language pathologists practicing within the United States. Future research may include speech-language pathologists from other countries to compare findings and determine whether culture impacts the results.

#### APPENDIX A - IRB Approval Letter





WWW.USM.EDU/ORI

118 COLLEGE DRIVE #5116 • HATTIESBURG, MS | 601.266.6756 |

#### NOTICE OF INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD ACTION

The project below has been reviewed by The University of Southern Mississippi Institutional Review Board in accordance with Federal Drug Administration regulations (21 CFR 26, 111), Department of Health and Human Services regulations (45 CFR Part 46), and University Policy to ensure:

- The risks to subjects are minimized and reasonable in relation to the anticipated benefits.
- The selection of subjects is equitable.
- Informed consent is adequate and appropriately documented.
- Where appropriate, the research plan makes adequate provisions for monitoring the data collected to ensure the safety of the subjects.
- Where appropriate, there are adequate provisions to protect the privacy of subjects and to maintain the confidentiality of all data.
- Appropriate additional safeguards have been included to protect vulnerable subjects.
  Any unanticipated, serious, or continuing problems encountered involving risks to subjects must be reported immediately. Problems
- should be reported to ORI via the Incident submission on InfoEd IRB.
- The period of approval is twelve months. An application for renewal must be submitted for projects exceeding twelve months.

PROTOCOL NUMBER:	21-388	
PROJECT TITLE:	The Speech-Language Pathologist & Emotional Labor, Stress, and Compassion Fatigue	
SCHOOL/PROGRAM	School of Education	
RESEARCHERS:	PI: Patricia Martin	
	Investigators: Martin, Patricia R~Shelley, Kyna~	
IRB COMMITTEE ACTION: Approved		
CATEGORY:	Expedited Category	
PERIOD OF APPROVAL:	02-Nov-2022 to 01-Nov-2023	

Sonald Baccofr.

Donald Sacco, Ph.D. Institutional Review Board Chairperson

#### APPENDIX B - Permission to Use Emotional Labor Scale

From: James M Diefendorff < jdiefen@uakron.edu>

Sent: Monday, March 8, 2021 12:48 PM

To: Patricia Martin < Patricia.Martin@usm.edu>

Subject: RE: Request to use the Emotional Labor Strategy, Display Rule, and Interpersonal

Interaction Items

Dear Patricia,

Sounds like fascinating research. Please feel free to use any of the scales you noted. Also, I

would love to hear what you find. Good luck with your research!

Best Regards,

Jim Diefendorff

James M. Diefendorff, Ph.D.

Professor

Department of Psychology

University of Akron

Akron, OH 44325

Phone: 330.972.7317

Email: jdiefen@uakron.edu

Website: https://www.uakron.edu/psychology/faculty-staff/bio-detail.dot?identity=1259203

## APPENDIX C – Permission to Use Speech-Language Pathologist Stress Index

From: Rita Lieberman < Jane.Lieberman@ucf.edu >

**Sent:** Wednesday, May 5, 2021 10:58 PM

To: Patricia Martin <<u>Patricia.Martin@usm.edu</u>>

Subject: Re: Request Permission to use the SLPSI

Dear Patricia,

Please feel free to use the items in the SLPSI in your doctoral research as long as you credit the authors with the development of the instrument. I wish you well in your research and look forward to reading your results.

Best,

R. Jane Lieberman

Sent from my iPad

#### APPENDIX D - Permission to Use Professional Quality of Life Scale-5 Ed

Please provide your contact information: **Email Address** Patricia.Martin@usm.edu Name Patricia R Martin **Organization Name, if applicable** NA Country **United States** Please tell us briefly about your project: Dissertation The purpose of this quantitative study is to evaluate speech-language pathologists' (SLPs) experiences regarding professional emotional labor and the extent to which they believe it is related to job stress, compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue (burnout and secondary traumatic stress). What is the population you will be using the ProQOL with? Certified Speech-Language Pathologists (SLPs) in the U.S.

In what language/s do you plan to use the ProQOL?

English

The ProQOL measure may be freely copied and used, without individualized permission from the ProQOL office, as long as:

You credit The Center for Victims of Torture and provide a link to www.ProQOL.org;

It is not sold; and

No changes are made, other than creating or using a translation, and/or replacing "[helper]" with a more specific term such as "nurse."

Note that the following situations are acceptable:

You can reformat the ProQOL, including putting it in a virtual format You can use the ProQOL as part of work you are paid to do, such as at a training: you just cannot sell the measure itself

Does your use of the ProQOL abide by the three criteria listed above? (If yes, you are free to use the ProQOL immediately upon submitting this form. If not, the ProQOL office will be in contact in order to establish your permission to use the measure.)

Yes

#### APPENDIX E – Instrument

# Speech Language Pathologists and Emotional Labor, Stress, and Compassion Fatigue

The **purpose** of this survey is to evaluate speech-language pathologists' experiences regarding professional emotional labor and the extent to which they believe it is related to compassion satisfaction, compassion fatigue, and stress.

The survey will also identify which occupational settings may correlate with specific aspects of emotional labor and compassion fatigue.

The survey will be completed in Qualtrics, an easy-to-use, and highly secure web-based data collection tool. The survey will take approximately **12-15 minutes** to complete. A few demographic questions are followed by statements regarding emotional labor, SLP stress, and professional quality of life (compassion satisfaction/compassion fatigue). **All items are created to be quickly read and the responses are multiple-choice.** 

There are **no known risks** associated with participating in this study. You may experience **benefit** in the form of increased insight into whether you utilize emotional labor techniques during work and possibly experience compassion satisfaction/fatigue and job-related stress that may be avoided or lowered by increased knowledge. This study collects minimal identifying information. Your responses will be recorded in Qualtrics and will be associated with a random identification number created by the program. You will not be required to provide your name. During the study, all data will be kept in a password-protected computer with only the researcher and the faculty advisors having access to anonymous individual responses. Compliance with all IRB regulations concerning data collection, analyses, storage, and data destruction will be strictly observed.

You will not encounter any physical, social, or economic risks by participating in this study. Confidentiality measures will be taken, as described above.

Investigators: If you have any questions, you may contact Patricia Martin (patricia.martin@usm.edu) or Dr. Kyna Shelley (kyna.shelley@usm.edu).

You are free to withdraw your participation and stop taking the survey at any time. Refusal to take part or the decision to withdraw from the study will involve no penalty.

**Institutional Review Board:** This project has been reviewed by the Institutional Review Board (IRB). Contact the IRB if you have questions, complaints, or concerns which you do not feel you can discuss with the researcher. The University of Southern Mississippi IRB may be reached by e-mail at irbhelp@usm.edu or by phone at 601-266-5997. The protocol number for this study is 21-388.

To start the survey, click on the arrow below. By beginning the survey, you are giving your consent to participate in this research.

Thank you for your willingness to participate in this research.

Are you an ASHA certified speech-language pathologist?

 $\bigcirc$ Yes

#### $\bigcirc$ No

Occupational Setting Which occupational setting best describes your current workplace?

$\bigcirc$	Special School
$\bigcirc$	Preschool
$\bigcirc$	Elementary School
$\bigcirc$	Secondary School
$\bigcirc$	Several Schools
$\bigcirc$	Unspecified School
$\bigcirc$	College/University
$\bigcirc$	Hospital
$\bigcirc$	Skilled Nursing Facility
$\bigcirc$	Other Residential Health Care Facility
$\bigcirc$	Home Health Care
$\bigcirc$	Private Physician's Office
$\bigcirc$	AUD's or SLP's Office
$\bigcirc$	Speech and Hearing Center
$\bigcirc$	Other Nonresidential Health Care Facili
$\bigcirc$	Private Practice
$\bigcirc$	Other

Facility

# Ethnicity

$\bigcirc$	Hispanic or Latino	
$\bigcirc$	Not Hispanic or Latino	
O Race	Ethnicity not specified	
$\bigcirc$	American Indian or Alaska Native (only)	
$\bigcirc$	Asian	
$\bigcirc$	Black or African American (only)	
$\bigcirc$	Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander (only)	
$\bigcirc$	White (only)	
$\bigcirc$	Multiracial	
$\bigcirc$	Race not specified	
Gender		
$\bigcirc$	Male	
$\bigcirc$	Female	
$\bigcirc$	Prefer not to say	
State Primary state of employment within in the past 3 months		

▼ Alabama ... Wyoming

## Employment Status Within the past 3 months

- Employed Full Time
- Employed Part Time
- On Leave of Absence
- Unemployed/Seeking Work
- Unemployed/Not Seeking Work
- O Retired

Primary Employment Function

- Clinical Service Provider
- O Special Education Teacher
- College/University Faculty and or Clinical Educator
- O Researcher
- O Doctoral Candidate
- O Administrator/Executive Officer
- Chair/Department Head/Manager
- Other Director/Supervisor
- O Consultant
- O Other Position \_\_\_\_\_

**End of Block: Demographic Information** 

**Start of Block: Emotional Labor Survey** 

#### Likert Response Scale for ELS

1. Strongly agree

2. Somewhat agree

3. Neither agree nor disagree

4. Somewhat disagree

5. Strongly disagree

Item 1 SA I put on an act in order to deal with clients in an appropriate way.

Item 2 SA I fake a good mood when interacting with clients.

Item 3 SA I put on a "show" or "performance" when interacting with clients.

Item 4 SA I just pretend to have the emotions I need to display for my job.

Item 5 SA I put on a "mask" in order to display the emotions I need for the job.

Item 6 SA I show feelings to clients that are different from what I feel inside.

Item 7 SA I fake the emotions I show when dealing with clients.

Item 8 DA I try to actually experience the emotions that I must show to clients.

Item 9 DA I make an effort to actually feel the emotions that I need to display toward others.

Item 10 I work hard to feel the emotions that I need to show to clients.

Item 11 DA I work at developing the feelings inside of me that I need to show to clients.

Item 12 GE The emotions I express to clients are genuine.

Item 13 GE The emotions I show clients come naturally.

Item 14 GE The emotions I show clients match what I spontaneously feel.

End of Block: Emotional Labor Survey

#### Start of Block: SLPSI

#### Numeric Response Scale for SLPSI

1 No strength, not noticeable

2 Some strength, somewhat noticeable

3 Moderate strength, moderately noticeable

4 Considerable strength, considerably noticeable

5 Major strength, extremely noticeable

Intro to SLPSI The next set of questions is related to SLP job stress. Please rate each item from 1 to 5 according to the degree of impact each item has upon your stress levels. A rating of 1 indicates that the statement has no impact on your stress level. A rating of 5 indicates that the statement has a major impact on your stress level.

Item 1 SLPSI TWM I have little time to prepare adequately.

Item 2 SLPSI TWM I have little time for personal priorities.

Item 3 SLPSI TWM I have too much work to do.

Item 4 SLPSI TWM My caseload is too big.

Item 5 SLPSI LPS I lack opportunities for promotion or advancement.

Item 6 SLPSI LPS I lack recognition.

Item 7 SLPS LPS I receive an inadequate salary.

Item 8 SLPSI BR I lack control over programmatic decisions.

Item 9 SLPSI BR I lack emotional and intellectual stimulation.

Item 10 SLPSI BR I lack professional improvement opportunities.

Item 11 SLPSI TWM I have no time to get things done.

Item 12 SLPSI TWM I am easily overcommitted.

Item 14 SLPSI TWM I have no time to relax.

Item 15 SLPSI EFM I think about other things while working.

Item 16 SLPSI BR I feel that administrative policies limit my effectiveness.

Item 17 SLPSI BR I feel administrative policies limit my professional growth.

Item 18 SLPSI BR I feel my needs are unmet at work.

Item 19 SLPSI EFM I feel that my professional life is not contributing to my personal life.

Item 20 SLPSI IL I work with too many severely involved clients.

Item 21 SLPSI EFM I feel insecure.

Item 22 SLPSI EFM I feel unable to cope.

Item 23 SLPSI EFM I feel depressed.

Item 24 SLPSI EFM I feel anxious.

Item 25 SLPSI EFM I often call in sick.

Item 26 SLPSI BM I use prescription or over-the-counter drugs.

Item 27 SLPSI BM I get angry.

Item 28 SLPSI BM I experience rapid and shallow breathing.

Item 29 SLPSI BM I use alcohol.

Item 30 SLPSI BM I experience heart pounding or racing.

Item 31 SLPSI BM I experience stomach pain.

Item 32 SLPSI EFM I feel fatigued.

Item 33 SLPSI EFM I sleep more than usual.

Item 34 SLPSI EFM I procrastinate.

Item 35 SLPSI IL I feel students/clients are poorly motivated.

Item 36 SLPSI IL I experience discipline problems.

Item 37 SLPSI IL I feel that my clients make little progress.

Item 38 SLPSI TWM I have too much paperwork.

Item 39 SLPSI IL I experience inflexible scheduling.

Item 40 SLPSI IL I lack adequate training.

Item 41 SLPSI LPS I lack sufficient resources.

Item 42 SLPSI LPS I lack support.

Item 43 SLPSI LPS I lack opportunities to consult with other professionals.

Item 44 SLPSI IL I feel that my students/clients are not improving.

Item 45 SLPSI LPS I feel that other professionals do not understand my work.

Item 46 SLPSI LPS I do not feel like a member of the organization.

Item 47 SLPSI LPS I lack adequate space.

Item 48 SLPSI LPS I experience poor professional interactions.

Item 49 SLPSI LPS I feel that the public does not value my work.

End of Block: SLPSI

**Start of Block: ProQOL** 

### Horizontal Numeric Response Scale for ProQOL-5

- 1. Never
- 2. Rarely
- 3. Sometimes
- 4. Often
- 5. Very Often

Intro to ProQOL When you serve or lead therapy sessions with clients/students you have direct contact with their lives. As you may have found, your compassion for those you serve can affect you in positive and negative ways. Below are some questions about your experiences, positive and negative, as a speech-language pathologist. Consider each of the following questions about you and your current work situation. Select the option that honestly reflects how frequently you experienced these things in the *last 30 days*.

Item 1 ProQOL BO I am happy.

Item 2 ProQOL STS I am preoccupied with more than one person I serve.

Item 3 ProQOL CS I get satisfaction from being able to serve people.

Item 4 ProQOL BO I feel connected to others.

Item 5 ProQOL STS I jump or am startled by unexpected sounds.

Item 6 ProQOL CS I feel invigorated after working with those I serve.

Item 7 ProQOL STS I find it difficult to separate my personal life from my life as a speech-language pathologist.

Item 8 ProQOL BO I am not as productive at work because I am losing sleep over traumatic experiences of a person I serve.

Item 9 ProQOL STS I think that I might have been affected by the traumatic stress of those I serve.

Item 10 ProQOL BO I feel trapped by my job as a speech-language pathologist.

Item 11 ProQOL STS Because of my service, I have felt "on edge" about various things. Item 12 ProQOL CS I like my work as a speech-language pathologist.

Item 13 ProQOL STS I feel depressed because of the traumatic experiences of the people I serve.

Item 14 ProQOL STS I feel as though I am experiencing the trauma of someone I have helped.

Item 15 ProQOL BO I have beliefs that sustain me.

Item 16 ProQOL CS I am pleased with how I am able to keep up with therapy techniques and protocols.

Item 17 ProQOL BO I am the person I always wanted to be.

Item 18 ProQOL CS My work makes me feel satisfied.

Item 19 ProQOL BO I feel worn out because of my work as a speech-language pathologist.

Item 20 ProQOL CS I have happy thoughts and feelings about those I serve and how I could help them

Item 21 ProQOL BO I feel overwhelmed because my caseload seems endless.

Item 22 ProQOL CS I believe I can make a difference through my work.

Item 23 ProQOL STS I avoid certain activities or situations because they remind me of frightening experiences of the people I serve.

Item 24 ProQOL CS I am proud of what I can do to help.

Item 25 ProQOL STS As a result of my serving, I have intrusive, frightening thoughts. Item 26 ProQOL BO I feel "bogged down" by the system.

Item 27 ProQOL CS I have thoughts that I am a "success" as a speech-language pathologist.

Item 28 ProQOL STS I can't recall important parts of my work with trauma victims. Item 29 ProQOL BO I am a very caring person.

Item 30 ProQOL CS I am happy that I chose to do this work.

**End of Block: ProQOL** 

#### REFERENCES

- Abraham, R. (1998). Emotional dissonance in organizations: Antecedents, consequences, and moderators. *Genetic, Social, and General Psychology Monographs*, 124(2), 229–246.
- Adelmann, P. K. (1989). Emotional labor and employee well-being [Ph.D., University of Michigan].
  http://search.proquest.com/docview/303786509/abstract/E7A044FC43664078PQ/
  2
- Adelmann, P. K. (1995). Emotional labor as a potential source of job stress. In S. L.
  Sauter & L. R. Murphy (Eds.), *Organizational risk factors for job stress*. (1995-98299-023; pp. 371–381). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/10173-023
- Afonso, P., Fonseca, M., & Pires, J. F. (2017). Impact of working hours on sleep and mental health. *Occupational Medicine*, 67(5), 377–382. https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqx054
- Allen, N. J. & John P. Meyer. (1990). The measurement and antecedents of affective, continuance and normative commitment to the organization. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 63(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8325.1990.tb00506.x
- Amadeo, K. (2020, February 13). Labor, one of the four factors of production: Why your work is critical to the economy [Media]. The Balance. https://www.thebalance.com/labor-definition-types-and-how-it-affects-theeconomy-3305859

- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- American Speech-Language Hearing Association [ASHA] (2005). Quality indicators for professional service programs in audiology and speech-language pathology.
   American Speech-Language-Hearing Association.

https://doi.org/10.1044/policy.ST2005-00186

- American Speech-Language Hearing Association. (2010). Roles and responsibilities of speech-language pathologists in schools. American Speech-Language-Hearing Association; American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. https://www.asha.org/policy/pi2010-00317/
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2016). *Scope of practice in speechlanguage pathology*. https://www.asha.org/siteassets/publications/sp2016-00343.pdf
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2019). *School-based speech-language pathologists: Who we are and what we do*. ASHA. https://www.asha.org/.../whatslps-do....
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2021). Profile of ASHA members and affiliates, year-end 2020. (Membership and Affiliation Profile, p. 13)
  [Membership Data]. American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. www.asha.org
- Amir, R., Jones, S. E., Frankel, D., & Fritzsch, J. (2021). Job satisfaction of school-based speech-language pathologists in New York State as a function of workplace

features. *Perspectives of the ASHA Special Interest Groups*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1044/2020\_PERSP-20-00196

- Anderer, J. (2019, October 11). Perpetual stress: Four in ten adults close to "breaking point" at work. *Study Finds*. https://www.studyfinds.org/perpetual-stress-four-in-ten-adults-close-to-breaking-point-at-work/
- Antonovsky, A. (1987). Unraveling the mystery of health: How people manage stress and stay well (1987-97506-000). Jossey-Bass.
- Arvey, R. W., Renz, G. L., & Watson, T. W. (1998). Emotionality and job performance: Implications for personnel selection. In *Research in personnel and human resources management, Vol. 16.* (pp. 103–147). Elsevier Science/JAI Press.
- Ashforth, B. E., & Humphrey, R. H. (1993). Emotional labor in service roles: The influence of identity. *Academy of Management Review*, *18*(1), 88–115.
- Ashforth, B. E., & Humphrey, R. H. (1995). Emotion in the workplace: A reappraisal. *Human Relations*, 48(2), 97–125. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872679504800201
- Ashforth, B. E., & Lee, R. T. (1997). Burnout as a process: Commentary on Cordes, Dougherty and Blum. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *18*(6), 703–708. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1379(199711)18:6<703::AID-JOB847>3.0.CO;2-1
- Ashkanasy, N. m., Hartel, C. e. j., & Zerbe, W. j. (2000). *Emotions in the workplace: Research, theory, and practice*. Quorum Books.
- Ashkanasy, N., Zerbe, W. J., & Hartel, C. E. (2005). A bounded emotionality perspective on the individual on the organization. In *Emotions in organizational behavior* (pp. 113–115). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.

- Asumah, S., Agyapong, D., & Owusu, N. O. (2019). Emotional labor and job satisfaction: Does social support matter? *Journal of African Business*, 20(4), 489– 504. https://doi.org/10.1080/15228916.2019.1583976
- Aung, N., & Tewogbola, P. (2019). The impact of emotional labor on the health in the workplace: A narrative review of literature from 2013–2018. *AIMS Public Health*, 6(3), 268–275. https://doi.org/10.3934/publichealth.2019.3.268
- Aziz, N., Naseer, S., Ali, R., & Kanwal, M. (2019). The impact of emotional labor strategies on employee behaviors: A conservation of resources perspective. *Pakistan Journal of Social Sciences (PJSS)*, 39(3), 1021–1035.
- Bangdiwala, S. I. (2019). Basic epidemiology research designs I: Cross-sectional design. International Journal of Injury Control and Safety Promotion, 26(1), 124–126. https://doi.org/10.1080/17457300.2018.1556415
- Barry, B., Olekalns, M., & Rees, L. (2019). An ethical analysis of emotional labor. Journal of Business Ethics, 160(1), 17–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3906-2
- Bellas, M. L. (1999). Emotional labor in academia: The case of professors. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 561(1), 96–110. https://doi.org/10.1177/000271629956100107
- Berghoff, J., & Kelley, J. (2019). The power of questions to create a purpose-driven organization. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, *33*(6), 966–970.
- Besse, R., Howard, K., Gonzalez, S., & Howard, J. (2015). Major depressive disorder and public school teachers: Evaluating occupational and health predictors and

outcomes. *Journal of Applied Biobehavioral Research*, 20(2), 71–83. https://doi.org/10.1111/jabr.12043

- Biancone, T. L., Farquharson, K., Justice, L. M., Schmitt, M. B., & Logan, J. A. R. (2014). Quality of language intervention provided to primary-grade students with language impairment. *Journal of Communication Disorders*, 49, 13–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcomdis.2014.03.001
- Blood, G. W., Ridenour, J. S., Thomas, E. A., Qualls, C. D., & Hammer, C. S. (2002).
  Predicting job satisfaction among speech-language pathologists working in public schools. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, *33*(4), 282–290.
  https://doi.org/10.1044/0161-1461(2002/023)
- Blood, G. W., Thomas, E., Ridenour, J. S., & Qualls, C. (2002). Job stress in speechlanguage pathologists working in rural, suburban, and urban schools: Social support and frequency of interactions. https://doi.org/10.1044/cicsd\_29\_f\_132
- Bono, J. E., & Vey, M. A. (2005). Toward understanding emotional management at work: A quantitative review of emotional labor research. In C. E. Härtel, W. J. Zerbe, & N. M. Ashkanasy (Eds.), *Emotions in organizational behavior*. (2005-00477-012; pp. 213–233). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Brehm, B. A. (2008). Building rapport with your clients. *Fitness Management*, 24(3), 58.
- Brotheridge, C. M., & Grandey, A. A. (2002). Emotional labor and burnout: Comparing two perspectives of "People Work." *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 60(1), 17–39. https://doi.org/10.1006/jvbe.2001.1815

- Brotheridge, C. M., & Lee, R. T. (2002). Testing a conservation of resources model of the dynamics of emotional labor. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 7(1), 57–67. https://doi.org/10.1037/1076-8998.7.1.57
- Brotheridge, C. M., & Lee, R. T. (2003). Development and validation of the emotional labour scale. *Journal of Occupational & Organizational Psychology*, *76*(3), 365–379. https://doi.org/10.1348/096317903769647229
- Brough, P., & Biggs, A. (2015). Job demands × job control interaction effects: Do occupation-specific job demands increase their occurrence? *Stress & Health: Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress*, *31*(2), 138–149. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2537
- Burrus, A. E., & Willis, L. B. (2022). *Professional communication in speech-language pathology: How to write, talk, and act like a clinician* (4th ed.). Plural Publishing.
- Caesar, L. G., & Nelson, N. W. (2008). Perceptions of job stress and satisfaction among school-based SLPs: Challenges versus rewards. *Perspectives on School-Based Issues*, 9(4), 126. https://doi.org/10.1044/sbi9.4.126
- Carrasco, H., Martínez-Tur, V., Moliner, C., Peiró, J. M., & Ramis, C. (2014). Linking emotional dissonance and service climate to well-being at work: A cross-level analysis. 13(3), 947–906. https://doi.org/doi:10.11144/Javeriana.UPSY13-3.leds
- Causton, J., & Tracy-Bronson, C. (2014). *The speech-language pathologist's handbook for inclusive school practice*. Paul H Brookes Publishing Co. https://web-aebscohost-

com.lynx.lib.usm.edu/ehost/ebookviewer/ebook/ZTAwMHhuYV9fNzA2ODgwX

19BTg2?sid=184533e3-5f05-4ec8-a8e3-

53f516c544a5@sessionmgr4006&vid=4&format=EB&rid=9

CES. (2020). Current employment statistics highlights January 2020. 18.

- Chang, M.-L. (2009). An Appraisal Perspective of Teacher Burnout: Examining the Emotional Work of Teachers. *Educational Psychology Review*, 21(3), 193–218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-009-9106-y
- Chen, K.-Y., Chang, C.-W., & Wang, C.-H. (2019). Frontline employees' passion and emotional exhaustion: The mediating role of emotional labor strategies. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 76, 163–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.05.006
- Chi, N.-W., & Grandey, A. A. (2019). Emotional labor predicts service performance depending on activation and inhibition regulatory fit. *Journal of Management*, 45(2), 673–700. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316672530
- Chirico, F. (2015). Adjustment disorders in DSM-5: Implications for occupational health surveillance. Acta Psychopathologica, 1(2). https://doi.org/10.4172/2469-6676.100014
- Clifford, K. (2014). Who cares for the carers? *Journal of Military and Veterans*, 22(3), 53–63.
- Côté, S. (2005). A social interaction model of the effects of emotion regulation on work strain. Academy of Management Review, 30(3), 509–530. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMR.2005.17293692

- Cowen, A. S., & Keltner, D. (2020). What the face displays: Mapping 28 emotions conveyed by naturalistic expression. *American Psychologist*, 75(3), 349–364. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000488
- Cowie, R. (2005). COMMENTARIES on: Why emotion names and experiences don't neatly pair. *Psychological Inquiry*, 16(1), 11–48. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327965pli1601\_02
- Creager, J., Coutinho, A. J., & Peterson, L. E. (2019). Associations between burnout and practice organization in family physicians. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 17(6), 502–509. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.2448
- Cronbach, L. J. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. *Psychometrika*, 16(3), 38.
- Cropanzano, R., Weiss, H., & Elias, S. (2003). The impact of display rules and emotional labor on psychological well-being at work. In P. L. Perrewt & D. C. Ganster (Eds.), *Emotional and Physiological Processes and Positive Intervention Strategies* (Vol. 3, pp. 45–89). Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1 016/S 1479-3555(03)03002-6
- Çukur, C. Ş. (2009). The development of the teacher emotional labor scale (TELS):Validity and reliability. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice*, 9(2), 559–574.
- Daniels, M. J. (1960). Affect and its control in the medical intern. *American Journal of Sociology*, 66(3), 259–267. https://doi.org/10.1086/222877
- Dasan, S., Gohil, P., Cornelius, V., & Taylor, C. (2015). Prevalence, causes and consequences of compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue in emergency

care: A mixed-methods study of UK NHS Consultants. *Emergency Medicine Journal*, *32*(8), 588–594. https://doi.org/10.1136/emermed-2014-203671

- de Beer, L. T., Pienaar, J., & Rothmann, S. (2016). Work overload, burnout, and psychological ill-health symptoms: A three-wave mediation model of the employee health impairment process. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping*, 29(4), 387–399. https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2015.1061123
- de Castro AB, Agnew J, & Fitzgerald ST. (2004). Emotional labor: Relevant theory for occupational health practice in post-industrial America. *AAOHN Journal*, *52*(3), 109–115.
- Dembe, A. E., & Yao, X. (2016). Chronic disease risks from exposure to long-hour work schedules over a 32-Year period. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 58(9), 861–867. https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.00000000000810
- Diefendorff, J. M., Croyle, M. H., & Gosserand, R. H. (2005). The dimensionality and antecedents of emotional labor strategies. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 66(2), 339–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2004.02.001
- Diefendorff, J. M., & Gosserand, R. H. (2003). Understanding the emotional labor process: A control theory perspective. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 24(8), 945–959. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.230
- Diefendorff, J. M., & Richard, E. M. (2003). Antecedents and consequences of emotional display rule perceptions. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(2), 284–294. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.2.284
- Dixon, T. (2012). "Emotion": The history of a keyword in crisis. *Emotion Review*, *4*(4), 338–344. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073912445814

- Duchan, J. F. (2002). What do you know about the history of speech-language pathology?:And why is it important? *ASHA Leader*, 7(23), 4. https://doi.org/10.1044/leader.FTR.07232002.4
- Dugani, S., Afari, H., Hirschhorn, L. R., Ratcliffe, H., Veillard, J., Martin, G., Lagomarsino, G., Basu, L., & Bitton, A. (2018). Prevalence and factors associated with burnout among frontline primary health care providers in low- and middleincome countries: A systematic review. *Gates Open Research*, 2, 4. https://doi.org/10.12688/gatesopenres.12779.3
- Edgar, D. L., & Rosa-Lugo, L. I. (2007). The critical shortage of speech-language pathologists in the public-school setting: Features of the work environment that affect recruitment and retention. *Language, Speech & Hearing Services in Schools*, 38(1), 31–46. https://doi.org/10.1044/0161-1461(2007/004)
- Fabian, M., & Breunig, R. (2019). Long work hours and job satisfaction: Do overworkers get trapped in bad jobs? *Social Science Quarterly (Wiley-Blackwell)*, 100(5), 1932–1956. https://doi.org/10.1111/ssqu.12648
- Falcone, P. (2009). 96 great interview questions to ask before you hire (2nd ed).American Management Association.
- Figley, C. R. (Ed.). (1995a). Compassion fatigue as secondary traumatic stress disorder:
  An overview. In C. R. Figley, *Compassion fatigue: Coping with secondary traumatic stress disorder in those who treat the traumatized* (pp. 1–20).
  Routledge. https://web-b-ebscohost-

com.lynx.lib.usm.edu/ehost/ebookviewer/ebook/ZTAwMHhuYV9fNzI4MzZfX0

FO0?sid=57189c5e-60a8-44b5-b0d2-86ee9bb04513@pdc-v-

sessmgr03&vid=9&format=EK&rid=1

- Figley, C. R. (Ed.). (1995b). Compassion fatigue: Coping with secondary traumatic stress disorder in those who treat the traumatized. Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Fimian, M. J., & Blanton, L. P. (1987). Stress, burnout, and role problems among teacher trainees and first-year teachers. *Journal of Occupational Behaviour*, 8(2), 157– 165. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.4030080206
- Fimian, M. J., Fastenau, P. A., Tashner, J. H., & Cross, A. H. (1989). The measure of classroom stress and burnout among gifted and talented students. *Psychology in the Schools*, 26(2), 139–153. https://doi.org/10.1002/1520-6807(198904)26:2<139:AID-PITS2310260205>3.0.CO;2-E
- Fimian, M. J., Lieberman, R. J., & Fastenau, P. S. (1991). Development and validation of an instrument to measure occupational stress in speech-language pathologists. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 34(2), 439–446. https://doi.org/10.1044/jshr.3402.439
- Frattali, C. M. (1991). From quality assurance to total quality management. *American Journal of Audiology*, *1*(1), 41–47. https://doi.org/10.1044/1059-0889.0101.41
- Freudenberger, H. J. (1974). Staff burn-out. *Journal of Social Issues*, *30*(1), 159–165. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.1974.tb00706.x
- Frijda, N. H., Ortony, A., Sonnemans, J., & Clore, G. L. (1992). The complexity of intensity: Issues concerning the structure of emotion intensity. In M. S. Clark (Ed.), *Emotion.* (1992-97396-003; pp. 60–89). Sage Publications, Inc.

http://lynx.lib.usm.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=tr ue&db=psyh&AN=1992-97396-003&site=ehost-live

- Galiana, L., Oliver, A., Arena, F., De Simone, G., Tomás, J. M., Vidal-Blanco, G.,
  Muñoz-Martínez, I., & Sansó, N. (2020). Development and validation of the Short
  Professional Quality of Life Scale based on versions IV and V of the Professional
  Quality of Life Scale. *Health & Quality of Life Outcomes*, 18(1), N.PAG-N.PAG.
  https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-020-01618-3
- Gillian Bendelow & Simon J Williams. (2005). Emotions in social life: Critical themes and contemporary issues. Routledge; eBook Academic Collection (EBSCOhost). http://lynx.lib.usm.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=tr ue&db=e000xna&AN=844467&site=ehost-live
- Glomb, T. M., & Tews, M. J. (2004). Emotional labor: A conceptualization and scale development. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 64(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0001-8791(03)00038-1
- Goffman, E. (1959). *The presentation of self in everyday life*. Doubleday Anchor Books. http://web.mit.edu/curhan/www/docs/Articles/15341\_Readings/Selfpresentation\_Impression\_Formation/Goffman\_Presentation\_of\_Self\_intro.pdf
- Goh, J., Pfeffer, J., Zenios, S. A., & Rajpal, S. (2015). Workplace stressors and health outcomes: Health policy for the workplace. *Behavioral Science & Policy*, 1(1), 43–52. https://doi.org/10.1353/bsp.2015.0001
- Golper, L. A. C., Klaben, B. K., & Miller, C. K. (2019). Medical speech-language pathology: A desk reference (Fourth). Plural Publishing, Inc. https://web-aebscohost-

com.lynx.lib.usm.edu/ehost/ebookviewer/ebook/ZTAwMHhuYV9fMjAxMzI2Ml 9fQU41?sid=6805d9c9-8f30-48bf-8bd3-

610463c810c1@sessionmgr4007&vid=7&format=EB&rid=15

- Gormley, J., & Light, J. (2019). Providing services to individuals with complex communication needs in the inpatient rehabilitation setting: The experiences and perspectives of speech-language pathologists. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 28(2), 456–468. https://doi.org/10.1044/2018\_AJSLP-18-0076
- Gosserand, R. H., & Diefendorff, J. M. (2005). Emotional display rules and emotional labor: The moderating role of commitment (No. 00219010; pp. 1256–1264).
  American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.90.6.1256
- Grace, M. K., & VanHeuvelen, J. S. (2019). Occupational variation in burnout among medical staff: Evidence for the stress of higher status. *Social Science & Medicine*, 232, 199–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.05.007
- Grandey, A. A. (1999). The effects of emotional labor: Employee attitudes, stress and performance [Ph.D., Colorado State University]. http://search.proquest.com/docview/304516512/abstract/BCA1609C363E47C8PQ /1
- Grandey, A. A. (2000). Emotion regulation in the workplace: A new way to conceptualize emotional labor. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 5(1), 95–110.

- Grandey, A. A. (2003). When the show must go on: Surface acting and deep acting as determinants of emotional exhaustion and peer-related service delivery. *Academy of Management Journal*, *46*(1), 86–96.
- Grandey, A. A., & Gabriel, A. S. (2015). Emotional labor at a crossroads: Where do we go from here? *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, 2(1), 323–349. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032414-111400
- Grandey, A. A., Nai-Wen Chi, & Diamond, J. A. (2013). Show me the money! Do financial rewards for performance enhance or undermine the satisfaction from emotional labor? *Personnel Psychology*, 66(3), 569–612. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12037
- Grandey, A. A., & Sayre, G. M. (2019). Emotional labor: Regulating emotions for a wage. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 28(2), 131–137. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721418812771
- Grandey, A., Diefendorff, J., & Rupp, D. E. (2013). *Emotional labor in the 21st century: Diverse perspectives on emotion regulation at work.* Routledge.
- Grandey, A., Foo, S. C., Groth, M., & Goodwin, R. E. (2012). Free to be you and me: A climate of authenticity alleviates burnout from emotional labor. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *17*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025102
- Gross, J. J. (1998a). The emerging field of emotion regulation: An integrative review. *Review of General Psychology*, 271–299.
- Gross, J. J. (1998b). Antecedent- and response-focused emotion regulation: Divergent consequences for experience, expression, and physiology. *Journal of Personality*

*and Social Psychology*, 74(1), 224–237. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.74.1.224

- Guy, M. E., Newman, M. A., & Mastracci, S. H. (2008). Emotional labor: Putting the service in public service. M.E. Sharpe.
- Harding, S., Morris, R., Gunnell, D., Ford, T., Hollingworth, W., Tilling, K., Evans, R.,
  Bell, S., Grey, J., Brockman, R., Campbell, R., Araya, R., Murphy, S., & Kidger,
  J. (2019). Is teachers' mental health and wellbeing associated with students'
  mental health and wellbeing? *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 242, 180–187.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.08.080
- Harris, S. F., Prater, M. A., Dyches, T. T., & Allen Heath, M. (2009). Job stress of school-based speech-language pathologists. *Communication Disorders Quarterly*, 30(2), 103–111. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525740108323856
- Hassan, Z. A., Schattner, P., & Mazza, D. (2006). Doing a pilot study: Why is it essential? Malaysian Family Physician: The Official Journal of the Academy of Family Physicians of Malaysia, 1(2–3), 70–73.
- Hennig-Thurau, T., Groth, M., Paul, M., & Gremler, D. D. (2006). Are all smiles created equal? How emotional contagion and emotional labor affect service relationships. *Journal of Marketing*, 70(3), 58–73. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.70.3.58
- Henson, J. S. (2020). Burnout or compassion fatigue: A comparison of concepts. *MEDSURG Nursing*, 29(2), 77–95.
- Hinderer, K. A., VonRueden, K. T., Friedmann, E., McQuillan, K. A., Gilmore, R.,Kramer, B., & Murray, M. (2014). Burnout, Compassion Fatigue, CompassionSatisfaction, and Secondary Traumatic Stress in Trauma Nurses. *Journal of*

*Trauma Nursing*, 21(4), 160–169.

https://doi.org/10.1097/JTN.00000000000055

- Hobfoll, S. E. (1989). Conservation of resources: A new attempt to conceptualizing resources. *American Psychologist*, 12.
- Hochschild, A. R. (1975). The sociology of feeling and emotion: Selected possibilities. *Sociological Inquiry*, 45(2/3), 280–307. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-682X.1975.tb00339.x
- Hochschild, A. R. (1979). Emotion work, feeling rules, and social structure. *American Journal of Sociology*, 85(3), 551–575.
- Hochschild, A. R. (1983). *The managed heart: Commercialization of human feeling*. University of California Press.
- Hochschild, A. R. (2003). *The managed heart: Commercialization of human feeling* (20th anniversary ed). University of California Press.
- Hopp, H., Rohrmann, S., Zapf, D., & Hodapp, V. (2010). Psychophysiological effects of emotional dissonance in a face-to-face service interaction. *Anxiety, Stress & Coping*, 23(4), 399–414. https://doi.org/10.1080/10615800903254091
- Hülsheger, U. R., & Schewe, A. F. (2011). On the costs and benefits of emotional labor:
  A meta-analysis of three decades of research. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *16*(3), 361–389. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022876
- Ishii, K., & Markman, K. M. (2016). Online customer service and emotional labor: An exploratory study. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 62, 658–665. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.04.037

- Izard, C. E. (2007). Basic emotions, natural kinds, emotion schemas, and a new paradigm. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 2(3), 260–280. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6916.2007.00044.x
- Izard, C. E. (2009). Emotion theory and research: Highlights, unanswered questions, and emerging issues. Annual Review of Psychology, 60, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.60.110707.163539

James, W. (1884). What is an emotion? *Mind*, 9(34), 188–205. JSTOR.

Jenkins, B., & Warren, N. A. (2012). Concept analysis: Compassion fatigue and effects upon critical care nurses. *Critical Care Nursing Quarterly*, 35(4), 388–395. https://doi.org/10.1097/CNQ.0b013e318268fe09

Joinson C. (1992). Coping with compassion fatigue. Nursing, 22(4), 116–121.

- Kahn, W. A. (1993). Caring for the caregivers: Patterns of organizational caregiving.
   *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 38(4), 539–563.
   https://doi.org/10.2307/2393336
- Kalkhoff, N. L., & Collins, D. R. (2012). Speech-language pathologist job satisfaction in school versus medical settings. *Language, Speech & Hearing Services in Schools*, 43(2), 164–175. https://doi.org/10.1044/0161-1461(2011/11-0007)
- Kalleberg, A. L. (1977). Work values and job rewards: A theory of job satisfaction. *American Sociological Review*, 42(1), 124. https://doi.org/10.2307/2117735
- Kammeyer-Mueller, J. D., Rubenstein, A. L., Long, D. M., Odio, M. A., Buckman, B. R.,
  Zhang, Y., & Halvorsen-Ganepola, M. D. K. (2013). A meta-analytic structural
  model of dispositional affectivity and emotional labor. *Personnel Psychology*,
  66(1), 47–90. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12009

Karanika-Murray, M., Pontes, H. M., Griffiths, M. D., & Biron, C. (2015). Sickness presenteeism determines job satisfaction via affective-motivational states. *Social Science & Medicine*, 139, 100–106.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.06.035

- Kelly, L., & Todd, M. (2017). Compassion fatigue and the healthy work environment. AACN Advanced Critical Care, 28(4), 351–358. https://doi.org/10.4037/aacnacc2017283
- Kindred Hospital Rehabilitation Services. (2014, May 30). 12 things it takes to be a speech-language pathologist. *Kindred*. https://www.kindredhealthcare.com/our-services/2014/05/30/12-things-it-takes-to-be-a-speech-language-pathologist
- King, D. (2012). It's frustrating! Managing emotional dissonance in aged care work.
   Australian Journal of Social Issues (Australian Council of Social Service), 47(1),
   51–70. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1839-4655.2012.tb00234.x

Kish, L. (1965). Survey sampling.

http://lynx.lib.usm.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct= true&db=agr&AN=CAT71308319&site=ehost-live

Klein, C. J., Riggenbach-Hays, J. J., Sollenberger, L. M., Harney, D. M., & McGarvey, J.
S. (2018). Quality of life and compassion satisfaction in clinicians: A pilot intervention study for reducing compassion fatigue. *American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Medicine*, 35(6), 882–888.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1049909117740848

- Kleiner, S., & Pavalko, E. K. (2010). Clocking in: The organization of work time and health in the United States. *Social Forces*, 88(3), 1463–1486. https://doi.org/10.1353/sof.0.0301
- Kleinginna, P. R., & Kleinginna, A. M. (1981). A categorized list of emotion definitions, with suggestions for a consensual definition. *Motivation and Emotion*, 5(4), 345–379. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00992553
- Kline, R. B. (2005). *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling., 4th ed: EBSCOhost*. Guilford Press. https://web-b-ebscohostcom.lynx.lib.usm.edu/ehost/detail/detail?vid=15&sid=2cbf619c-a65b-49ee-b6cb-9aff15f221a4%40pdc-vsessmgr01&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZQ%3d%3d#AN=2015-56948-000&db=psyh
- Kruml, S. M., & Geddes, D. (2000). Catching fire without burning out: Is there an ideal way to perform emotion labor? In N. Ashkanasy, C. E. Hartel, & W. J. Zerbe (Eds.), *Emotions in the workplace: Research, theory, and practice* (p. 8). Quorum Books/Greenwood Publishing Group.
- Kruml, S. M., & Geddes, D. (2000). Exploring the dimensions of emotional labor: The heart of Hochschild's work. *Management Communication Quarterly*, 14(1), 8–49. https://doi.org/10.1177/0893318900141002
- Kumar, S., Shankar, B., & Singh, A. P. (2010). Emotional labor and health outcomes: An overview of literature and preliminary empirical evidences. *Indian Journal of Social Science Researches*, 7(1), 83–89.

- Lahelma, E., Laaksonen, M., & Aittomäki, A. (2008). Occupational class inequalities in health across employment sectors: The contribution of working conditions. *International Archives of Occupational & Environmental Health*, 82(2), 185–190. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-008-0320-6
- Lam, W., Huo, Y., & Chen, Z. (2018). Who is fit to serve? Person-job/organization fit, emotional labor, and customer service performance. *Human Resource Management*, 57(2), 483–497. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21871
- Lazányi, K. (2010). Who benefits from emotional labour? *APSTRACT: Applied Studies in Agribusiness and Commerce*, 4. https://doi.org/10.19041/Apstract/2010/3-4/11
- Leidner, R. (1999). Emotional labor in service work. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 561(1), 81–95. https://doi.org/10.1177/000271629956100106
- Lewis, M., Bromley, K., Sutton, C. J., McCray, G., Myers, H. L., & Lancaster, G. A. (2021). Determining sample size for progression criteria for pragmatic pilot RCTs: The hypothesis test strikes back! *Pilot and Feasibility Studies*, 7(1), 40. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40814-021-00770-x
- Loehlin, J. C. (1992). Latent variable models: An introduction to factor, path, and structural analysis, *2nd ed* (1992-97288-000). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc. http://lynx.lib.usm.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct= true&db=psyh&AN=1992-97288-000&site=ehost-live
- Lovett, H. (1996). *Learning to listen: Positive approaches and people with difficult behavior* (1996-97217-000). Paul H Brookes Publishing.

http://lynx.lib.usm.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct= true&db=psyh&AN=1996-97217-000&site=ehost-live

- Mann, S. (1999). Emotion at work: To what extent are we expressing, suppressing, or faking it? *European Journal of Work & Organizational Psychology*, 8(3), 347–369. https://doi.org/10.1080/135943299398221
- Marante, L., & Farquharson, K. (2021). Tackling burnout in the school setting: Practical tips for school-based speech-language pathologists. *Perspectives of the ASHA Special Interest Groups*, 6(3), 665–675. https://doi.org/10.1044/2021\_PERSP-20-00262
- Martínez-Iñigo, D., Totterdell, P., Alcover, CarlosM., & Holman, D. (2007). Emotional labour and emotional exhaustion: Interpersonal and intrapersonal mechanisms. *Work & Stress*, 21(1), 30–47.
- Maslach, C. (2003). Burnout: The cost of caring. ISHK.
- Maura, G., Igor, P., Nicola, F., Marco, P., Federico, M., Gabriele, F., Paolo, C., & Marcello, C. (2019). Association between burnout and sense of coherence among speech and language therapists: An exploratory study in Italy. *Acta Bio Medica : Atenei Parmensis*, 90(Suppl 4), 25–31. https://doi.org/10.23750/abm.v90i4-S.8261
- Maxwell, A., & Riley, P. (2017). Emotional demands, emotional labour and occupational outcomes in school principals: Modelling the relationships. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 45(3), 484–502.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143215607878

- McNeilly, L. (2018). Why we need to practice at the top of the license. *ASHA Leader*, 23(2), 10–11. https://doi.org/10.1044/leader.FMP.23022018.10
- Meanwell, E., Wolfe, J. D., & Hallett, T. (2008). Old paths and new directions: Studying emotions in the workplace. *Sociology Compass*, 2(2), 537–559. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9020.2007.00077.x
- Merriam-Webster. (n.d.). Compassion. In *Merriam-Webster.com dictionary*. Retrieved October 6, 2021, from https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/compassion

Mesmer-Magnus, J. R., DeChurch, L. A., & Wax, A. (2012). Moving emotional labor beyond surface and deep acting: A discordance–congruence perspective. *Organizational Psychology Review*, 2(1), 6–53.
https://doi.org/10.1177/2041386611417746

- Meyers, L. S., Gamst, G., & Guarino, A. J. (2013). Applied multivariate research: Design and interpretation (2nd ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Milstein, J. M., Gerstenberger, A. E., & Barton, S. (2002). Healing the caregiver. *Journal of Alternative & Complementary Medicine*, 8(6), 917–920. https://doi.org/10.1089/10755530260511919
- Morken, T., Rebnord, I. K., Maartmann-Moe, K., & Hunskaar, S. (2019). Workload in Norwegian general practice 2018—An observational study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 19(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4283-y
- Morris, J. A., & Feldman, D. C. (1996). The dimensions, antecedents, and consequences of emotional labor. *Academy of Management Review*, 21(4), 986–1010. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMR.1996.9704071861

- Morris, J. A., & Feldman, D. C. (1997). Managing emotions in the workplace. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 9(3), 257.
- Newberry, M. (2013). The demand of multiplicity in the classroom: Emotion regulation and cognitive load. In M. Newberry, A. Gallant, & P. Riley (Eds.), *Advances in Research on Teaching* (Vol. 18, pp. 25–48). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1479-3687(2013)0000018006
- Newman, D. M., & O'Brien, J. (2008). Sociology: Exploring the architecture of everyday life readings. Pine Forge Press.
- Nunnally, J. C., & Bernstein. (1994). Psychometric theory (3rd ed.). McGrawHill.
- Oatley, K., Keltner, D., & Jenkins, J. M. (2006). Understanding emotions, 2nd ed (2006-03276-000). Blackwell Publishing.
- Ogungbamila, B. (2018). Positive employee behaviors and occupational burnout in healthcare workers: Moderating roles of work engagement. *Indian Journal of Positive Psychology*, *9*(3), 404–412.
- Oh, S. M. (2019). The relationship between job stress and service attitude among speechlanguage pathologists. 10.
- Page Deutsch, M. (2017). Strong callings. *ASHA Leader*, 22(6), 52–59. https://doi.org/10.1044/leader.FTR2.22062017.52
- Parrott, W. G. (2007). Components and the definition of emotion. *Social Science Information*, 46(3), 419–423. https://doi.org/10.1177/05390184070460030109
- Pershey, M. G., & Reese, S. (2002). Consumer satisfaction with speech-language pathology services in university clinics: Implications for student supervision. *The Clinical Supervisor*, 21(2), 22.

- Piotrowski, C. (2012). Occupational health psychology: Neglected areas of research. Journal of Instructional Psychology, 39(3/4), 189–191.
- Prior, D. D. (2016). The impact of service worker personal resources on relationship quality in business solutions. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 53, 216–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.06.003
- Pugliesi, K. (1999). The consequences of emotional labor: Effects on work stress, job satisfaction, and well-being. *Motivation and Emotion*, *30*(2).
- Radey, M., & Figley, C. R. (2007). The social psychology of compassion. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, 35(3), 207–214. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10615-007-0087-3
- Rafaeli, A. (1989). When clerks meet customers: A test of variables related to emotional expressions on the job. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 74(3), 385. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.74.3.385
- Rafaeli, A., & Sutton, R. I. (1987). Expression of emotion as part of the work role. Academy of Management Review, 12(1), 23–37. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMR.1987.4306444
- Randolph, D. S. (2005). Predicting the effect of extrinsic and intrinsic job satisfaction factors on recruitment and retention of rehabilitation professionals: *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 50(1), 49–60. https://doi.org/10.1097/00115514-200501000-00011
- Raosoft, Inc. (2004). Sample size calculator. Sample Size Calculator by Raosoft, Inc. http://www.raosoft.com/samplesize.html
- Ravi, R., Yerraguntla, K., Gunjawate, D. R., Guddattu, V., & Bellur, R. (2016).Professional quality of life in audiologists and speech language pathologists

working in India. *Journal of Workplace Behavioral Health*, *31*(3), 162–172. https://doi.org/10.1080/15555240.2016.1192475

- Reichers, A. E., & Schneider, B. (2011). Climate and culture: An evolution of constructs.
  In S. Ybema, D. Yanow, & I. Sabelis (Eds.), *Organizational Culture. Volume 2.*(pp. 99–133). International Library of Critical Writings on Business and
  Management. Cheltenham, U.K. and Northampton, Mass.: Elgar.
  http://lynx.lib.usm.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=
  true&db=ecn&AN=1329126&site=ehost-live
- Rubin, R. S., Tardino, V. M. S., Daus, C. S., & Munz, D. C. (2005). A reconceptualization of the emotional labor construct: On the development of an integrated theory of perceived emotional dissonance and emotional labor. In C. E. Härtel, W. J. Zerbe, & N. M. Ashkanasy (Eds.), *Emotions in organizational behavior*. (2005-00477-011; pp. 189–211). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Rudebusch, J., & Wiechmann, J. (2013). The SLP's guide to PLCs. *Perspectives on School-Based Issues*, *14*(2), 22–27. https://doi.org/10.1044/sbi14.2.22
- Ruel, E., Wagner III, W. E., & Gillespie, B. J. (2016). The practice of survey research: Theory and applications. Sage.
- Rushton, C. H., Batcheller, J., Schroeder, K., & Donohue, P. (2015). Burnout and resilience among nurses practicing in high-intensity settings. *American Journal of Critical Care*, 24(5), 412–421. https://doi.org/10.4037/ajcc2015291

- Sayre, G. M., Chi, N.-W., & Grandey, A. A. (2021). Investment in emotional labor: Daily resource spirals and recovery. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 2021(1), 14316. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMBPP.2021.14316abstract
- Schaubroeck, J., & Jones, J. R. (2000). Antecedents of workplace emotional labor dimensions and moderators of their effects on physical symptoms. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 21(2), 163. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1379(200003)21:2<163::AID-JOB37>3.0.CO;2-L
- Scherer, K. R. (2005). What are emotions? And how can they be measured? *Social Science Information*, 44(4), 695–729. https://doi.org/10.1177/0539018405058216
- Setia, M. (2016). Methodology series module 3: Cross-sectional studies. *Indian Journal of Dermatology*, 61(3), 261. https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5154.182410
- Severn, M. S., Searchfield, G. D., & Huggard, P. (2012). Occupational stress amongst audiologists: Compassion satisfaction, compassion fatigue, and burnout. *International Journal of Audiology*, 51(1), 3–9. https://doi.org/10.3109/14992027.2011.602366
- Smith, H., & Smith, D. (2018). Directing improvements in primary care patient experience through analysis of service quality. *Health Services Research*, 53(6), 4647–4666. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12985
- Spector, P. E. (1977). Job satisfaction: Application, assessment, cause, and consequences. Sage Publications, Inc.
- Spector, P. E. (2019). Do not cross me: Optimizing the use of cross-sectional designs. Journal of Business and Psychology, 34(2), 125–137. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-018-09613-8

- Spratt, J., Shucksmith, J., Philip, K., & Watson, C. (2006). 'Part of who we are as a school should include responsibility for well-being': Links between the school environment, mental health and behaviour. *Pastoral Care in Education*, 24(3), 14–21. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0122.2006.00374.x
- Squires, K. (2013). Addressing the shortage of speech-language pathologists in school settings. *Journal of the American Academy of Special Education*, Winter, 131– 137.
- Stamm, B. H. (1995). Secondary traumatic stress: Self-care issues for clinicians, researchers, and educators (B. H. Stamm, Ed.; 1996-97172-000). The Sidran Press.

http://lynx.lib.usm.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct= true&db=psyh&AN=1996-97172-000&site=ehost-live

- Stamm, B. H. (2010). The concise ProQOL manual (2nd ed.). ProQOL.org.
- Stanislavsky, C. (2013). An Actor Prepares. Aristophanes Press.
- Stanislavsky, K. (1989). An actor prepares. Routledge.
- Stevens, J. P. (2009). Applied multivariate statistics for the social sciences, 5th ed (2008-17691-000). Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group. http://lynx.lib.usm.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct= true&db=psyh&AN=2008-17691-000&site=ehost-live
- Sullivan, G. M., & Artino, A. R. (2013). Analyzing and Interpreting Data From Likert-Type Scales. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 5(4), 541–542. https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-5-4-18

- Sulthan, A. (2019, February 22). What is a good sample size for structural equation modeling (SEM). SAR Publisher. https://www.sarpublisher.com/what-is-a-goodsample-size-for-structural-equation-modeling-sem/
- Sutton, R. I. (1991). Maintaining norms about expressed emotions: The case of bill collectors. Administrative Science Quarterly, 36(2), 245–268. https://doi.org/10.2307/2393355
- Sutton, R. I., & Rafaeli, A. (1988). Untangling the relationships between displayed emotions and organizational sales: The case of convenience stores. Academy of Management Journal, 31(3), 461–487. https://doi.org/10.2307/256456
- Theorell, T., Hammarström, A., Aronsson, G., Träskman Bendz, L., Grape, T., Hogstedt,
  C., Marteinsdottir, I., Skoog, I., & Hall, C. (2015). A systematic review including meta-analysis of work environment and depressive symptoms. *BMC Public Health*, 15(1), 738. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-1954-4
- Thoits, P. A. (1985). Self-labeling processes in mental illness: The role of emotional deviance. *American Journal of Sociology*, *91*(2), 221–249.
- Thomas, J. T., & Otis, M. D. (2010). Intrapsychic correlates of professional quality of life: Mindfulness, empathy, and emotional separation. *Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research*, 1(2), 83–98. https://doi.org/10.5243/jsswr.2010.7
- Ting Wu, QiTaiSong Shen, Hanqing Liu, & Cong Zheng. (2019). Work stress, perceived career opportunity, and organizational loyalty in organizational change: A moderated mediation model. *Social Behavior & Personality: An International Journal*, 47(4), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.7824

- Tolich, M. B. (1993). Alienating and liberating emotions at work: Supermarket clerks' performance of customer service. *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography*, 22(3), 361–381. https://doi.org/10.1177/089124193022003004
- Urquhart, M. (1984). The employment shift to services: Where did it come from? Monthly Labor Review, 8.

US Government. (2020, September 1). *Employment by major occupational group: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics* [Government]. U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. https://www.bls.gov/emp/tables/emp-by-major-occupational-group.htm

Van Dijk, P. A., Smith, L. D. G., & Cooper, B. K. (2011). Are you for real? An evaluation of the relationship between emotional labour and visitor outcomes. *Tourism Management*, 32(1), 39–45.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2009.11.001

van Teijlingen, E. R., & Hundley, V. (2001). The importance of pilot studies. *Department* of Sociology at the University of Surrey, 35.

https://sru.soc.surrey.ac.uk/SRU35.PDF

- Wachter, T. V. (2001). Employment and productivity growth in service and manufacturing sectors in France, Germany and the US. *European Central Bank Working Paper Series*, No 50, 59.
- Walsh, G. (2019). Service employees' naturally felt emotions: Do they matter? *European Management Journal*, 37(1), 78–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2018.06.008
- Weisman, E., & Koch, J. (1989, June). Progress notes: Special patient satisfaction issue. *Quality Review Bulletin*, 15, 166–167.

- Weiss, H., & Cropanzano, R. (1996). Affective events theory: A theoretical discussion of the structure, causes and consequences of affective experiences at work. In B. M. Staw & L. L. Cummings (Eds.), *Research in organizational behavior* (pp. 1–74). JAI Press.
- Wharton, A. S. (1993). The affective consequences of service work: Managing emotions on the job. Work and Occupations, 20(2), 205–232. https://doi.org/10.1177/0730888493020002004
- Wharton, A. S. (2009). The sociology of emotional labor. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 35(1), 147–165. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-soc-070308-115944
- Williams, K. S. (2019). Compassion fatigue: The cost of caring. *Leader Live*. https://leader.pubs.asha.org/do/10.1044/compassion-fatigue-the-cost-ofcaring/full/
- Yang, C., Chen, Y., & Zhao, X. (2019). Emotional labor: Scale development and validation in the Chinese context. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02095
- Yang, L.-Q., Cropanzano, R., Daus, C. S., & Martínez-Tur, V. (2020). The Cambridge handbook of workplace affect. Cambridge University Press.
- Zapf, D. (2002). Emotion work and psychological well-being A review of the literature and some conceptual considerations. *Human Resource Management Review*, 33.
- Zapf, D., & Holz, M. (2006). On the positive and negative effects of emotion work in organizations. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 15(1), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1080/13594320500412199

- Zerbe, W., & Falkenberg, L. (1989). The expression of emotion in organizational life:
  Differences across occupations. In *Proceedings of the Annual Conference of the Administrative Sciences Association of Canada* (Vol. 10, No. 5, pp. 87-96).
- Zhang, H., Zhou, Z. E., Zhan, Y., Liu, C., & Zhang, L. (2018). Surface acting, emotional exhaustion, and employee sabotage to customers: Moderating roles of quality of social exchanges. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02197
- 黄海娟. (2014, November 30). James Gross on emotion regulation.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9n5MqKLitWo